The Drivers of Variation in Susceptibility to the Amphibian-Killing Fungus, Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis

Donal Smith

This thesis is submitted to the School of Environment and Life Sciences, University of Salford, in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2019

Supervisory team:

Dr. Robert Jehle & Professor Stephen Martin. University of Salford, Manchester Professor Trenton Garner & Dr. Xavier Harrison. Zoological Society of London

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES IV
LIST OF TABLES V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSVI
ABSTRACT VII
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION: GLOBAL AMPHIBIAN DECLINES AND DRIVERS OF A
DESTRUCTIVE DISEASE1
1.1 The biodiversity crisis of the anthropocene: a sixth mass extinction?1
1.2 Amphibians: The most threatened vertebrate group2
1.3 Chytridiomycosis: A widely-destructive disease caused by a fungal pathogen, Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis3
1.4 A virulent Global Panzootic Lineage of <i>Bd</i> emerging from possible asian ancestry of the group7
1.5 Patterns of <i>Bd</i> dispersal through the environment8
1.6 Variable patterns in host- <i>Bd</i> dynamics and their drivers11
1.6.1 Host species-level variation11
1.6.2 Host population-level variation13
1.6.3 Host immune responses15
1.6.4 Neutral genetic diversity18
1.6.5 Host Microbiome20
1.6.6 Host developmental stage21
1.6.7 Host size
1.6.8 Temperature24
1.6.9 <i>Bd</i> strain25
1.6.10 Dose
1.7 Study species: The common toad (<i>Bufo bufo</i>)27
1.8 Aims and objectives
CHAPTER 2 PATTERNS OF GENETIC VARIABILITY IN NATURALLY FRAGMENTED COMMON
TOAD POPULATIONS IN WESTERN SCOTLAND

2.1 Introduction	32
2.2 Materials and methods	35
2.2.1 Study sites and sample collection	35
2.2.2 DNA extraction and PCR protocols	35
2.2.3 Population genetic analysis	37
2.3 Results	
2.4 Discussion	42
CHAPTER 3 BODY SIZE AND POPULATION OF ORIGIN, BUT NOT HETEROZYGOS	ITY, PREDICT
SURVIVAL TO BD EXPOSURE IN THE COMMON TOAD	45
3.1 Introduction	45
3.2 Materials and methods	51
3.2.1 Ethics	51
3.2.2 Study sites and sample collection	51
3.2.3 Animal husbandry	51
3.2.4 <i>Bd</i> exposure trials	51
3.2.5 DNA extraction and PCR protocols	52
3.2.6 Genetic and statistical analyses	53
3.3 Results	54
3.4 Discussion	60
CHAPTER 4 PROBING THE POWER OF HIGH-THROUGHPUT SEQUENCING TO CH	IARACTERISE
GENETIC STRUCTURE AND IDENTIFY LOCI INFLUENTIAL IN ADAPTATION AND D	0ISEASE64
4.1 Introduction	64
4.2 Materials and methods	67
4.2.1 Study system and sample origins	67
4.2.2 DNA extraction protocol, dd-RAD library preparation, and sequencing	68
4.2.3 De novo SNP discovery and genotyping using Stacks	68
4.2.4 Genetic analyses	71
4.3 Results	72
4.3.1 De novo SNP discovery and genotyping using Stacks	72

4.3.2 Genetic analyses	74
4.4 Discussion	82
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUDING REMARKS	85
5.1 Key findings	85
5.2 General discussion	85
REFERENCES	90

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Life cycle of the fungal amphibian pathogen, <i>Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis</i> 5
Figure 1.2 Approximate distribution of the members of the <i>Bufo bufo</i> species complex27
Figure 1.3 Common toad (<i>bufo bufo</i>) pair in amplexus28
Figure 2.1 Patterns of population differentiation40
Figure 2.2 Estimated probability of data for each <i>K</i> value in STRUCTURE analysis
Figure 2.3 Genetic structuring and geographical distribution of sampled populations42
Figure 3.1 Map of source populations for <i>Bd</i> exposure experiments
Figure 3.2 Kaplan-Meier curves comparing the survival of four common toad populations
experimentally exposed to <i>Bd</i> 57
Figure 3.3 Kaplan-Meier curves comparing survival of different size classes of metamorphs.
Figure 3.4 Responses of four <i>Bufo bufo</i> populations to exposure to <i>Bd</i> 60
Figure 4.1 Number of reads retained for each population after initial demultiplexing and
quality filtering
Figure 4.2 Selection of STACKS parameters for <i>de novo</i> analysis73
Figure 4.3 Comparison of PCA plots generated from microsatellite and SNP dataset analyses.
75
Figure 4.4 Inference of the number of clusters identified in the microsatellite and SNP
datasets77
Figure 4.5 Assignment of individuals into genetic clusters inferred by <i>k</i> means algorithm77
Figure 4.6 Power of SNP loci to correctly assign individuals to populations
Figure 4.7 Comparison of DAPC plots generated from microsatellite and SNP dataset
analyses78
Figure 4.8 PCA plot generated using entire SNP dataset (a) compared with one produced
after removal of outlier loci identified through PCAdapt analysis (b)
Figure 4.0 DADC analyzes of succeptible versus resistant toadlets within each nonulation 21

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Details of <i>Bufo bufo</i> microsatellite primers used in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3	37
Table 2.2 Genetic variability parameters for 11 Bufo bufo populations characterised at 8	
microsatellite loci	39
Table 2.3 Pairwise <i>F</i> _{ST} values for 11 <i>Bufo bufo</i> populations	39
Table 3.1 Genetic variability parameters for 4 Bufo bufo populations included in experiment	t.
Characterised at 11 microsatellite loci5	55
Table 3.2 Population survival rates, median survival duration, and infection prevalence	
subsequent to exposure to <i>Bd</i> in <i>Bufo bufo</i> metamorphs5	58
Table 3.3 Cox Proportional Hazard (CPH) model for survival of Common Toad metamorphs	
exposed to <i>Bd.</i> 5	59
Table 4.1 The 10 most significant matches arising from a BLAST search of outlier loci	
identified through PCAdapt analysis7	79

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am so very grateful.

For Robert "It will work somehow" Jehle, Trent Garner, and Xav Harrison. You are friends first, pretty good scientists second. For John Ewen. We're not done yet, buddy. For David and Kate O'Brien, and Jeanette Hall, who unlocked a beautiful world and made the briefest stints of fieldwork the bestest. For Chris, Lola, Will, and the rest of the ZSL crew. What impressive graft! What lovely lunches! For the MWFers. All of you, really. But especially those who were in some way along for this part of the journey: Thali, Helen, Kat, Ed, Mhairi, Lucy, Gwen, Amy, Lachlan, and Heather. What a family. To the MEG. Especially Sam, Allan, Ilaria, and Chiara. What an unexpectedly lovely and helpful and supportive thing. To those Peel denizens, Ross, Andjin, Moo, Tasila, Charlie, Judith, Rutase, Joto, Muhammad, Marine (mother of my leafy children), Charles, Waheed, Chris, Josh, Jeanine, Lydia, Andrew, Toni, Luiza, and Naiara (my fellow traveller). And the Cockcroft ones, too! Sam Hook, David Orchard, Jess Hall, Jess Kevill, Laura, Paz, Judy, Dom, Matt, Maria. For the muscular and fragrant Robin, Rachel, and Ed. Rory, embrace me. Sam: you made some hard stuff easy. To Alex and Paddy. Right from the off, the most wonderful companions. Zoë, we're on a roll of bloody amazing times. Donal, Andrea, and Cosmo: you make my heart do things. Becky and Benji: I've found you out, I know amazing you both are. Arann, Eve, Ciarán, Leo, Michael, Matthew, Dermo, Gordon (30 years, babe), Sam....ehhh....all of yiz fancy a pint in Grogan's? Chris Pue, get in here! To the Brynden crew: Owen (total football), Tommy, Rosie, Adam, Leeloo, Archie (total football). To the Kings Road/Rising Sun crew: Felix, Emily, Dave, Marine, Mathilde, Antoine, Mirek, Anita, Kelly, Fenia. And Montmano, don't think you'll escape this: Ais, James, Telle. To Cathal: I can see your handiwork in the way my mind works. John: I miss your conservatory and cans and Bríd, Eddie, Jamie, and Aurélia. Emily: what a heck of a ride. Let's go for a swim with a seal now. Molly and Bridget: Earth is the right place for love. I don't know where it's likely to go better. Tommy: it's like seven inches. Mark we will dance and toast to nothing and smash our empty glasses down. Stuart, your friendship is a thing I'm far prouder of than anything in the pages that follow this. To Brendan, Donncha, and Brian. To Mam and Dad. You never told me to be anything, really. Which allowed me to be anything, really. But thanks for your real love the outside world and everything in it. Dad: as I type this, it is exactly 20 years since the day you died. That is one of the reasons you're not reading it, of course, but isn't that a thing to reflect on?

ABSTRACT

The fungal pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* (*Bd*) is regarded as a primary driver of the dramatic global declines experienced by amphibian populations in recent decades. The threat posed by *Bd* extends into pristine regions, decimating populations naïve to the pathogen. The patterns of genetic variation in amphibians in natural habitats, and the degree to which this influences traits such as response to novel pathogens, is therefore of particular relevance to conservation biology.

To examine the interplay between geographic context and population genetics, and the role that individual-level traits play in shaping critical components of host viability in the face of exposure to *Bd*, I focused on a set of mainland and isolated island common toad (*Bufo bufo*) populations situated on the edge of their range in northwest Scotland.

Microsatellites were used to characterise patterns of genetic variability across eleven populations. It was found that seawater serves to isolate demes, producing high levels of population differentiation, and that loss of genetic diversity parallels degree of isolation. Standardised laboratory experiments showed that *Bd*-induced mortality in amphibians with no prior history of exposure to the pathogen was predicted by population of origin and individual mass, but not by population-level allelic diversity or heterozygosity at microsatellite loci. Restriction site-associated DNA sequencing (RADseq) was then used to genotype individuals exposed to *Bd* at over 10,000 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) loci. This revealed clear genetic structure not discernible through microsatellite analysis. Outlier loci putatively related to local adaptation were identified, but it was not possible to characterise their function. No loci with a clear association to disease response were identified.

These findings underscore the importance of habitat in forming discrete populations, and how this can shape variation in fundamental phenotypic traits, including disease response. These responses are, however, rather idiosyncratic, and not predicted by factors such as level of population isolation or neutral genetic diversity. SNP datasets generated through RADseq hold great potential in further unravelling the dynamics of the amphibian-*Bd* system, but these are likely to remain complex and context-dependent.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION: GLOBAL AMPHIBIAN DECLINES AND DRIVERS OF A DESTRUCTIVE DISEASE

1.1 THE BIODIVERSITY CRISIS OF THE ANTHROPOCENE: A SIXTH MASS EXTINCTION?

The history of life on planet Earth has been punctuated by a number of pulses of rapid and severe reductions in biodiversity. Evidence from the fossil record suggests that, over the past 540 million years, the biota of Earth have experienced at least five mass extinctions, episodes during which the number of species has reduced by 75% or more in a period of 2 million years or less (Barnosky et al., 2011; Raup & Sepkoski, 1982). These declines were driven by drastic changes in the planet's environment and climate (Barnosky et al., 2011), the possible causes for which vary depending on the event in question and include changes in the eccentricity of the Earth's orbit (Sutcliffe et al., 2000), asteroid impact (Schulte et al., 2010), volcanism (Hesselbo et al., 2007), and the release of large amounts of methane gas from methane hydrates (Berner, 2002). There is growing consensus that a sixth mass extinction is probably underway, one largely attributable to human impact (Barnosky et al., 2011; Ceballos et al., 2015; Dirzo et al., 2014; McCallum, 2015).

The extinctions in the late 17th and early 18th centuries of the dodo (*Raphus cucullatus*) and its close relative the Rodrigues solitaire (Pezophaps solitaria) contributed to an acknowledgement that a species could be extinguished forever, and that these disappearances could be driven at least in part by the activities of humans (Lyell, 1853). Since then, the accounts of extinctions have multiplied, as have the extinctions themselves. Within vertebrates, of a highly conservative estimate of 338 extinctions since 1500, 198 (59%) have occurred since 1900 (Ceballos et al., 2015). The true scale of species loss is likely to be far higher, with estimates varying between 50 and 36,000 extinctions per year (Costello et al., 2013; Mora et al., 2013). Assessing the degree to which this constitutes an exceptional loss of biodiversity requires careful evaluation of the fossil record to produce a calculation of what would be considered a normal "background rate" of extinction, as well as a focus on a well understood taxonomic group to form a reasonable estimate of modern extinction rates. Barnosky et al. (2011) used the fossil record of mammals to estimate an average background extinction rate of approximately 1.8 extinctions per million speciesyears (E/MSY, which can be thought of as the number of extinctions per 10,000 species per 100 years). In calculating what they described as an underestimate of the true scale of the current extinction crisis (i.e. one in which a high estimate of the background rate from the

fossil record was compared with a low estimate of current extinction rates), Ceballos et al. (2015) rounded this rate up to 2 E/MSY as a high reference point for vertebrates as a whole, and then compared it to modern extinction rates using an optimistic interpretation of IUCN Red List data. They argued that, even under these conservative assumptions, the loss of vertebrate species over the last century is up to 100 times higher than the background rate. In an understandable emphasis on species extinction, however, there is a risk of neglecting a critical component of biodiversity loss: that of declines in both the sizes and numbers of populations. Evaluating the situation at this level paints a yet more grimly severe picture. There has been an estimated overall decline of 60% in vertebrate population sizes between 1970 and 2014 (WWF, 2018). Approximately a third of vertebrate species are experiencing decreases in population size and range (Ceballos et al., 2017). Invertebrate animals are less well understood, but show similarly stark declines, with 67% of monitored populations showing a mean decline in abundance of 45% (Dirzo et al., 2014). This points to an even deeper crisis of biodiversity loss than a superficial reading of species extinctions would convey, a crisis that is likely to have profound negative effects on ecosystem functions and services, and thus, ultimately, on human well-being (Ceballos et al., 2017; Dirzo et al., 2014; Hooper et al., 2012a).

Arresting these declines represents a major challenge. Their drivers—land use change, overexploitation, nitrogen deposition, atmospheric CO₂ concentration climate change, and the spread of exotic species (including pathogens)—arise from human activity (Sala et al., 2000) and conservation efforts, despite making an important contribution, remain insufficient to compensate for their impacts (Hoffmann et al., 2010).

1.2 AMPHIBIANS: THE MOST THREATENED VERTEBRATE GROUP

Amongst vertebrates, the loss of species incurred by amphibians has been particularly dramatic. 41% of amphibian species for which there is sufficient data to make an assessment are classed by the IUCN as threatened with extinction, as compared with 25% of mammalian species and 13% of avian species (IUCN, 2018). There is worrying evidence that the threat faced by this group is worsening: while 34 species of amphibians are estimated to have gone extinct since 1500 (as compared with 129 birds and 74 mammals), nine of these losses have occurred since 1980 (Stuart et al., 2004). More alarmingly, the number amphibian of species no longer found but not yet formally categorised as extinct (as this requires exhaustive surveys) number 126 (IUCN, 2018). The trends for those remaining look bleak. At least 43%

of assessed species are undergoing some form of population decrease, though this number is likely to be an underestimation as the trend us unknown for 29% of assessed species and 22% of described species are too poorly understood to assess (Stuart et al., 2004). The prospect, then, is for the near future to be as damaging to amphibian diversity as the recent past has been, an exceptionally destructive period itself: Ceballos et al. (2015) calculated that the species loss incurred by amphibians since 1900 would have taken up to 10,000 years to occur had normal historical background rates prevailed.

It first became apparent that amphibians were undergoing a major global crisis at the inaugural World Congress of Herpetology in 1989, at which researchers shared experiences of abrupt and unexplained population declines and extinctions from multiple disparate locations (Barinaga, 1990). Similar reports multiplied in the following years, culminating in the 2004 publication of the IUCN Global Amphibian Assessment, which provided a comprehensive view of the declines and threats faced by amphibian taxa worldwide (Stuart et al., 2004). While there have been incremental updates to the IUCN amphibian database since, there has not been a follow-up major assessment to the group (IUCN, 2018). Declines have been rapid and severe, with specific regions losing significant proportions of their amphibian species (for example, a 40% loss in a montane region of Costa Rica, Pounds et al. 1997) and populations (for example, a >90% loss of historical populations of mountain yellow-legged frogs in California in under a decade, Vredenburg et al. 2007). The reductions have a global spread, occurring in all biogeographic regions inhabited by amphibians, and exceed what would be expected from natural population fluctuations (Ceballos et al., 2015; Houlahan et al., 2000; Pounds et al., 1997; Wake & Vredenburg, 2008). While overexploitation and habitat loss have played a major role in many of these losses, almost half (47%) of the species defined as "rapidly declining" are not exposed to these pressures, with many so called "enigmatic declines" and extinctions occurring in protected and apparently pristine areas (Hero et al., 2004; Laurance et al., 1996; Pounds et al., 1997; Stuart et al., 2004). It became apparent by the late 1990s that the principal culprit for enigmatic amphibian declines was a previously-undescribed emerging infectious disease, chytridiomycosis.

1.3 CHYTRIDIOMYCOSIS: A WIDELY-DESTRUCTIVE DISEASE CAUSED BY A FUNGAL PATHOGEN, BATRACHOCHYTRIUM DENDROBATIDIS

Chytridiomycosis, an emerging infectious disease caused by the chytrid fungus Batrachochrytrium dendrobatidis (hereafter Bd), is now recognised as a primary driver of amphibian extinction and declines worldwide, particularly in less disturbed habitats (Fisher et al. 2009; Skerratt et al. 2007; Becker & Zamudio 2011). *Bd* is an aquatic member of the phylum Chytridiomycota, a widespread and diverse group of fungi normally found as primary degraders and saprobes in soil and water (Berger et al., 1998; Longcore et al., 1999). Together with the recently-described *Batrachochytrium salamandrivorans*, now known to be responsible for declines of salamanders in Europe, it forms a genus unique amongst the Chytridiomycota for its pathogenicity to a vertebrate host (Berger et al., 1998; Martel et al., 2013). The genus diverged from the remainder of the Chytridiomycota an estimated 67 million years ago, and infection by both species is restricted to the amphibian epidermis in post-metamorphic individuals and keratinised mouthparts in larvae (Berger et al., 1998; Farrer et al., 2017; Martel et al., 2013). Pathogenicity appears to be associated with significant expansions of protease and cell wall gene families when compared with close non-pathogenic relatives, but the repertoire of putative virulence factors associated with these taxa remains to be characterised (Farrer et al., 2017).

In post-metamorphic individuals, *Bd* infection is restricted to the keratinised regions of the amphibian epidermis, which the fungus encounters during its motile waterborne stage as a flagellate zoospore (Berger et al., 2005a; Longcore et al., 1999). Once a zoospore encysts within an epidermal cell, the fungus enters the stationary stage of its lifecycle, the thallus, which begins to produce new zoospores and develops a reproductive structure, the zoosporangium. The timing of the development of the zoosporangium is matched to the maturation of the host skin cell such that recently-parasitised cells with immature zoosporangia are found a number of layers deep and take the developing zoosporangium with them as they progress towards the surface and keratinise. Once on the skin surface, the zoosporangia disperse zoospores through discharge tubes which form an opening in the cell membrane. The free-swimming zoospores can then either re-infect the same individual or encounter a new host (Berger et al., 2005a; Longcore et al., 1999).

Substrate-independent



Substrate-dependent

Figure 1.1 Life cycle of the fungal amphibian pathogen, *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. In the flagellate zoospore stage, the fungus can move independently in water, transitioning to its stationary reproductive stage upon encounter of the keratinised regions of amphibian tissues. Figure reproduced from Rosenblum et al., (2008).

The exact mechanism by which *Bd* causes disease and mortality is still not fully understood. Clinical signs, if present, vary and can include lethargy, inappetance, decreased respiration rate, cutaneous erythema, irregular skin sloughing, abnormal posture, hyperpigmentation, and the loss of righting and diving reflexes (Parker et al., 2002; Voyles et al., 2007, 2009). The site of infection, the skin, is a critical component of the amphibian body, playing a crucial role in maintaining homeostasis through respiration and osmoregulation. By physically disrupting the structure of the epidermis, *Bd* can compromise osmoregulation, leading to electrolyte imbalance, and eventual cardiac arrest and death (Campbell et al., 2012; Voyles et al., 2007, 2009). Glucocorticoid hormones play a role both in ion homeostasis and regulation of appetite and skin shedding, and elevated levels of corticosterone has been found to be associated with chytridiomycosis, and may be the link between its disparate symptoms (Peterson et al., 2013). Finally, *Bd* infection may simply impose a high energetic burden on its host: In addition to displaying increased skin sloughing and decreased appetite, *Bd*-infected individuals suffer an increased risk of ion loss and higher mass-specific metabolic rate (Wu et al., 2018).

Since its description in 1999 (Longcore et al., 1999), Bd has been detected on all continents apart from Antarctica, and infects a diverse, large, and growing assemblage of amphibian species - at least 520 of 1252 surveyed (42%, http://www.bd-maps.net/ [accessed 06/03/2019]). The fungus has been implicated in mass mortality events, population declines, and extinctions globally (Berger et al., 1998; Bosch & Martínez-Solano, 2006; Cheng et al., 2011; Fisher et al., 2009b; Rachowicz et al., 2006; Skerratt et al., 2007). However, not all species and populations are equally susceptible. While Bd-driven catastrophic amphibian declines have occurred in areas such as Australia and Central America (Berger et al., 1998; Crawford et al., 2010), amphibian communities in Brazil and Southeast Asia, for example, have persisted despite the presence of *Bd* for a century or more (Bataille et al., 2013; Fong et al., 2015; Rodriguez et al., 2014). There is also heterogeneity amongst sympatric species. In the Sierra Nevada in California, for example, the Pacific chorus frog has persisted, apparently unaffected by outbreaks of chytridiomycosis that have driven precipitous declines in two species of mountain yellow-legged frogs, and tolerates levels of Bd lethal to sympatric species in laboratory tests (Reeder et al., 2012). Similarly tolerant species include European water frogs in Switzerland (Woodhams et al., 2012), and Litoria wilcoxii in Australia (Retallick et al., 2004). There is also variation in susceptibility between different populations of the same species; in the lowland leopard frog, population-level variation in susceptibility in the wild has been replicated in laboratory infection experiments and linked to MHC genotype (Savage & Zamudio, 2011). Variation in response to exposure was also observed in laboratory infection experiments using European treefrogs derived from previouslyunexposed populations with varying levels of genetic polymorphism (Luquet et al., 2012).

1.4 A VIRULENT GLOBAL PANZOOTIC LINEAGE OF BD EMERGING FROM POSSIBLE ASIAN ANCESTRY OF THE GROUP

Despite almost two decades of research, the origins and patterns of spread of this disease remain somewhat obscure. Initially, two leading hypotheses were put forward to explain how chytridiomycosis had emerged to have such a profound effect on such a diverse range of taxa and habitats in a comparatively short period of time. The novel pathogen hypothesis (NPH) proposed that Bd was a recent introduction to most of its geographic range, encountering naïve populations as it spread. Under this hypothesis, its global distribution was likely mediated by human activities such as the global trade in amphibians and other aquatic organisms (Rachowicz et al., 2005). Alternatively, the endemic pathogen hypothesis (EPH) proposed that Bd was endemic to affected habitats and populations, and that recent disruption had occurred in parasite-host dynamics so as to alter the pathogenicity of the fungus, thus leading to the recent emergence of chytridiomycosis. Such a disruption could be provoked by changing environmental conditions in an area, leading to immunosuppression in the host (for example as a consequence of the introduction of sub-lethal stressors), or more favourable conditions for pathogenesis in the parasite (for example through changed temperatures or eutrophication of water bodies, Rachowicz et al. 2005). As the epidemiology and evolutionary history of Bd continue to be characterised, however, framing the question in terms of these two competing hypotheses increasingly appears to be an overly simplistic dichotomy.

Bd has been well documented as a rapidly-spreading novel pathogen in parts of Central and South America (Cheng et al., 2011; Lips et al., 2008), California (Vredenburg et al., 2010), the Iberian Peninsula (Walker et al., 2010), and Australia (Laurance et al., 1996). Worldwide declines and epizootics have been linked to a single lineage of *Bd*, known as the Global Panzootic Lineage (*Bd*GPL), shown to have a widespread global distribution and increased virulence as compared with other strains (Farrer et al., 2011; O'Hanlon et al., 2018). However, retrospective analyses of museum amphibian specimens have confirmed that *Bd* has had a broad geographic distribution long before the supposed emergence of chytridiomycosis as a novel panzootic disease. Positive samples have been reported from 1938 in South Africa (Weldon et al., 2004b), 1933 in Cameroon (Soto-Azat et al., 2010), 1911 in North Korea (Fong et al., 2015), 1902 in Japan (unpublished, cited in Goka et al. 2009), 1894 in Brazil (Rodriguez et al., 2014), and 1863 in Bolivia (Burrowes & De la Riva, 2017), areas where *Bd* has not been conclusively linked to mass mortality events and declines (but see Carvalho, Becker and Toledo (2017), who link *Bd* prevalence in Brazilian museum tadpole samples to historical declines). The geographic origins of the pathogen have thus been the subject of much speculation, with Africa (Weldon et al., 2004b), North America (James et al., 2009; Talley et al., 2015), South America (Rodriguez et al., 2014), and East Asia (Bataille et al., 2013; Goka et al., 2009) all put forward as possible original sources.

In resolving the systematics and origins of the group, O'Hanlon et al. (2018) analysed the genomes, sequenced to a high depth, of a globally representative set of 234 isolates of Bd covering all previously proposed lineages and encompassing infections of all three extant orders of amphibians. In addition to *Bd*GPL, the major divergent lineages identified by phylogenetic analysis were BdCAPE (associated with Africa), BdASIA-1 (associated with the Korean peninsula, which includes BdCH, previously regarded as a lineage enzootic to Switzerland), and BdASIA-2/BdBRAZIL (enzootic to the Brazilian Atlantic forest and also isolated from invasive North American bullfrogs in Korea). This analysis revealed BdASIA-1 to be a hyperdiverse group, one which shares more diversity with the global population of Bd than any other lineage. This is a compelling argument for East Asia as the geographic origin of the Bd panzootic. The divergence and emergence of BdGPL was dated to the start of the 20th century, consistent with the expansion in global trade in amphibians. Hybrid genomes were also identified, providing evidence of recent genetic exchange between lineages, further underscoring the continued risk of movement of this pathogen and potential generation of novel genotypes. Indeed, a hybrid between the putatively hypovirulent BdBRAZIL and the hypervirulent BdGPL has been shown to cause higher mortality than either parent lineage in infection experiments on a native Brazilian frog species Brachycephalus ephippium (Greenspan et al., 2018).

Ultimately, it appears that, out of ancient associations between amphibians and a diverse endemic fungal pathogen in East Asia, and through largely unrestricted exploitation and transcontinental trade, a hypervirulent pathogen has emerged to infect novel hosts globally and cause catastrophic declines in global amphibian diversity.

1.5 PATTERNS OF BD DISPERSAL THROUGH THE ENVIRONMENT

In reconstructing the arrival and spread of *Bd* in South and Central America, Lips et al. (2008) proposed multiple (likely human-caused) introductions of the fungus as a novel pathogen, and documented a subsequent wave-like spread of population declines through affected areas. They proposed that *Bd* moved in this manner across northern South America within

approximately 20 years. The rate of spread was rapid, moving between 25 and 282 km per year through Central America and along the Andean cordilleras. A similar wave-like pattern of spread was reported in populations of mountain yellow-legged frogs (*Rana mucosa*) in the United States, in this instance moving approximately 700m per year (Vredenburg et al., 2010).

The exact means of dispersal of the pathogen remain unclear, and are likely to vary depending on scale. Direct physical contact between infected and susceptible individuals is thought to play a role in transmission (Briggs et al., 2005; Piotrowski et al., 2004), though there is an absence of experimental work demonstrating this. Indirect evidence was provided by Rowley & Alford (2007), who observed that Australian frog species with higher rates of conspecific physical contact were found to be more susceptible to chytridiomycosisdriven declines. The motile zoospore stage of Bd is capable of independent aquatic movement of up to 2 cm (Piotrowski et al., 2004), and transmission via infected water is well documented (Berger et al., 1998; Mitchell et al., 2008; Rachowicz & Vredenburg, 2004). In a study on multiple sites in North America, Mosher, Huyvaert and Bailey (2018) suggest that Bd can persist in the environment for up to five years after disease-driven declines, even in the absence of other amphibian populations. Disease surveys in Queensland, Australia, have demonstrated that, as a consequence of the aquatic nature of the fungus, frog species associated with permanent waterbodies were significantly more likely to be infected than more terrestrial species and those associated with ephemeral waterbodies (Kriger & Hero, 2007). Similar findings have been reported from Brazil, where Bd prevalence was positively associated with perennial waterbodies and with rainfall (Ruggeri et al., 2018). This does not preclude the existence of Bd in other habitats, however: infected amphibians have been detected in a variety of terrestrial contexts, from fossorial species (Doherty-Bone et al., 2013; McCracken et al., 2009) to canopy-dwellers (McCracken et al., 2009). Bd remains detectable on foliage that infected animals have been in contact with (Kolby et al., 2015b), can survive for up to three months in sterile moist river sand (Johnson & Speare, 2005), and remain viable in water for up to seven weeks (Johnson & Speare, 2003). Thus, movement borne by water currents through riparian corridors may contribute to a regional-scale rateof-spread of as much as 26km per year (Lips et al., 2006). qPCR has been used to detect the presence of Bd in rainwater in Honduras, raising the possibility of aerial dispersal, though its viability in this context is unknown (Kolby et al., 2015a).

The widespread and long-term persistence of Bd has prompted a search for possible non-

amphibian hosts. The nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* can suffer mortality as a result of exposure (Shapard et al., 2012), as can crayfish, which were found to harbour infection for at least 12 weeks in laboratory experiments (McMahon et al., 2013). The same study found that crayfish presence in wetlands was associated with *Bd* infections in resident amphibians. The degree to which these findings are generalisable is in some doubt, however, as a subsequent investigation found no evidence of infection or deleterious effects of exposure to Bd in either nematodes or crayfish despite using more isolates and greater inoculum loads of the pathogen (Betancourt-Román et al., 2016). Liew et al. (2017) reported dosedependent infection and associated pathology and mortality as a consequence of Bd exposure in zebrafish, demonstrating clearly for the first time the pathogen's ability to infect a non-amphibian vertebrate host. Another vertebrate-facilitated means of Bd dispersal may be via the keratin-rich toe-tissue of waterfowl. Garmyn et al. (2012) screened the toes of wild geese in Belgium and found that 15% harboured Bd DNA. Further, they showed in vitro that Bd is attracted to, and can proliferate on, goose toe tissue. Screening of museum specimens of aquatic birds from Bolivia detected the presence of Bd in samples collected as early as 1982 and congruent with periods of severe amphibian declines in the area (Burrowes & De la Riva, 2017). Bd can also attach to and grow on sterile feathers (Johnson & Speare, 2005). Dispersal of Bd across distances and landscapes beyond what would be possible through amphibian hosts and river courses alone could thus be facilitated by birds. However, the true scale of the influence of birds, and the other potential non-amphibian hosts mentioned above, in the spread and persistence of *Bd* in the environment remains unclear.

Rapid intercontinental spread of *Bd* is expected to be human-facilitated through the global trade in amphibians. The widely-farmed and traded North American bullfrog (*Rana catesbeiana*) and African clawed frog (*Xenopus laevis*) can be asymptomatic carriers of the pathogen (Schloegel et al., 2012; Weldon et al., 2004b). Genotyping of *Bd* isolates found within the *Rana catesbeiana* trade and invasive populations detected the human-influenced presence and movement of *Bd*GPL and *Bd*Brazil in Japan and Brazil, as well as a putative hybrid between these lineages in Brazil (Schloegel et al., 2012). Investigation of museum records has shown an association between invasions of *Rana catesbeiana* and the spread of *Bd* in western United States (Yap et al., 2018). Sampling of amphibians imported into the United Kingdom for the pet trade has revealed the presence of *Bd* on six genera in consignments originating from the USA and Tanzania (Wombwell et al., 2016). These

examples illustrate how the intercontinental movement of animals in trade also constitutes movement in their resident pathogens, which, if sufficiently broad in the range of hosts they can infect, can pose significant threats to wildlife.

1.6 VARIABLE PATTERNS IN HOST-BD DYNAMICS AND THEIR DRIVERS

The circumstances in which *Bd* is found are highly diverse, and its impact varies. Negative consequences, such as disease-driven mortality and extinction, are context dependent, and resolving the factors that mediate susceptibility remains challenging. In this section, the main sources and drivers of variation in host-pathogen dynamics in this system are described. Though these are sub-divided into discrete sections, they are non-mutually exclusive and interact to produce patterns of disease in natural contexts.

1.6.1 HOST SPECIES-LEVEL VARIATION

Bd is remarkable for its global reach and the breadth of species it can infect: it is present on all continents that amphibians inhabit, and has been detected on almost 700 species across 52 families (Olson & Ronnenberg, 2014). Chytridiomycosis-driven mass mortalities, population declines, and extinctions have been well-documented in species around the world: in North America (Rachowicz et al., 2006), Central America (Lips et al., 2006, 2008; Ryan et al., 2008), South America (Lips et al., 2008), Caribbean islands (Hudson et al., 2016), continental Europe (Bosch et al., 2001), and Australia (Berger et al., 1998). However, it is not universally destructive, and some species and assemblages appear to be able to persist despite exposure. American bullfrogs (Rana catesbiana) and African clawed frogs (Xenopus *laevis*), globally invasive species introduced via the amphibian trade, appear to tolerate infection with minimal clinical signs and may therefore act as vectors (Hanselmann et al., 2004; Weldon et al., 2004a). Extensive long-term survey data covering seven years and 36 species in the southeastern United States showed widespread occurrence of Bd but limited evidence of Bd-driven declines. In amphibian assemblages in Brazil and in East Asia, the possible ancestral origin of Bd (O'Hanlon et al., 2018), there is evidence of long-term coexistence with the pathogen (Bataille et al., 2013; Rodriguez et al., 2014). While some of this variation can be attributable to environmental factors or the strain of Bd involved, there is clear evidence for disease outcomes being mediated by species identity. Wilcox's frog (Litoria wilcoxii) in Queensland, Australia and the Pacific chorus frog (Pseudacris regilla) in California, United States, both show persistence despite manifesting high Bd infection prevalence in communities in which sympatric species have suffered major declines (Reeder

et al., 2012; Retallick et al., 2004). Variation in the susceptibility of species has been further demonstrated in laboratory experiments in which multiple species have been exposed to Bd under standardised conditions and shown differential infection probability, sub-lethal effects, and survival patterns (Bielby et al., 2015; Gahl et al., 2012; Searle et al., 2011). Gervasi et al. (2017) undertook a major study experimentally infecting under standardised conditions 20 North American amphibian species across three major families: the Ranidae ("true frogs"), the Hylidae ("tree frogs"), and the Bufonidae ("true toads"). They sought to examine the roles played by phylogenetic history, habitat use and life history traits in shaping species-level variation in response to Bd exposure. They found that, on the family level, true frogs, the Ranidae, showed the lowest infection intensities, with a majority of species testing negative. This was attributed to the diverse set of antimicrobial peptides produced on the skin of ranids which have been shown to be inhibitory to Bd growth in culture (Rollins-Smith et al., 2002). There is also evidence that ranids initiate a more robust immune response to Bd than do the Hylidae (Gervasi et al., 2014). The group most susceptible to Bd-driven mortality was the Bufonidae. It is unclear what mechanisms drive this difference, but the authors speculate that, given the rapid rates of mortality observed in their study, bufonid species may be less tolerant of proteolytic zoospore metabolites associated with early stages of infection. They also postulate that the different chemical, mechanical, and structural characteristics of the skin of bufonids may better facilitate growth of Bd.

The habitat with which a species was associated was also found to be predictive of infection burden. Species that occupied ephemeral habitats were found to have heavier infections when compared with those that inhabit permanent water bodies. This is perhaps surprising given *Bd*'s requirement for water and moisture for transmission, and in the light of field studies that positively associate probability of infection with species that inhabit permanent water (Kriger & Hero, 2007; Ruggeri et al., 2018). The authors speculate that this potentially unexpected relationship may be due to the more stable presence of *Bd* in permanent water bodies imposing a higher selective pressure for *Bd* resistance on species that live there, but in the absence of elaboration on the history of *Bd* presence in the populations from which their samples were drawn, it is difficult to evaluate this contention. It is worth noting that these data arise from laboratory infection experiments, and so natural ecological context and pathways of transmission are absent. A result that contrasts with field observations is therefore not necessarily unexpected, and these findings may represent variation in the

innate susceptibility of species that is unrealised in their natural habitat. Life history traits were also found to be important in influencing responses to exposure. Species with shorter lifespans, and that mature at a younger age, had lower survival. This could be as a result of a tendency for longer-lived species to invest more in adaptive immune responses, as has been observed in, for example, wild rodents (Previtali et al., 2012). Finally, while within-species comparisons corroborate the frequently-reported observation that larger individuals show greater survival and lower infection burdens (Garner et al., 2009; Garner, Rowcliffe and Fisher, 2011; Bielby et al., 2015, and see 1.6.7 and Chapter 2), between-species comparisons yielded the opposite relationship. This is consistent, though, with modelling of Bd prevalence data from the continental United States and Australia (Bancroft et al., 2011; Murray & Skerratt, 2012), which found a positive association between species body size and probability of Bd detection. The latter finding could be explained by a tendency for species that mature at a larger size to have greater longevity, and thus have a longer period of time to encounter and accumulate parasites. It is less clear how this relationship arose in the infection experiments of Gervasi et al. (2017). It may simply be a consequence of the fact that larger animals have more keratinised epidermis to infect, but is not obvious why this would not also apply on an intraspecific level. The authors propose that the negative correlation between body mass and infection burden within a species may be as a result of infection inhibiting growth, but given that in this and other studies mass is measured prior to exposure to *Bd*, this suggestion is rather puzzling.

1.6.2 HOST POPULATION-LEVEL VARIATION

Variation in response to exposure to *Bd* occurs not only between communities and individual species, but also on an intraspecific level; with some populations experiencing declines and extirpations while other populations of the same species persist. Amongst populations of the Mallorcan midwife toad (*Alytes muletensis*), for example, four have been recorded as infected with *Bd* after a hypovirulent lineage of the pathogen, *Bd*CAPE, was introduced to the island, likely in the 1990s (Doddington et al., 2013; Walker et al., 2008). Two of these populations have remained stable, but the remaining two, despite both consistently showing infection rates approaching 100%, have experienced remarkably divergent trajectories. One population has declined almost to extirpation since the early 1990s, whereas the other, established in 1995, has increased in size considerably. Using mathematical models and field data, Doddington et al. (2013) attribute this divergent response to local differences in

temperature, and not epidemiological dynamics or variation in host or pathogen genotype. *Bd* was first definitively detected in the Sierra Nevada of California in 1998 (Fellers et al., 2001). Its invasion led to rapid declines and extirpations of resident frog populations (*Rana muscosa*, *R. sierrae*). In some areas, however, populations persisted, albeit at low densities after declines (Briggs et al., 2010, 2005; Lam et al., 2010). Persistence in this case may in part be due to differences in microbiome communities: populations that have been able to coexist with *Bd* have higher proportions of symbiotic skin bacteria that are inhibitory to *Bd* growth *in vitro* (Lam et al., 2010). Briggs, Knapp and Vredenburg (2010), however, argue that different disease outcomes in this system may be driven entirely by density-dependent hostpathogen dynamics, in which infection reaches higher intensities in dense frog populations. Thus, they suggest that intraspecific variation in the response of populations to *Bd* exposure can be explained without the need to invoke differences in environmental variables, host susceptibility, or pathogen phenotype.

Host population-level variation in response to the same strain of Bd has, however, been demonstrated on multiple occasions in controlled experiments on animals raised from eggs in standardised laboratory conditions, a phenomenon not readily explicable by abiotic factors or density-dependent host pathogen dynamics. Bradley et al. (2015) investigated intraspecific variation in sensitivity of wood frogs (Lithobates sylvaticus) to Bd through exposure experiments on animals originating from 10 different populations and raised from eggs to metamorphosis in standardised conditions. They identified a significant association between population of origin and mortality rates, and speculated that this is driven by intrinsic genetic differences between populations, though they did not investigate potential mechanisms. In their infection experiments on population-level variation in disease outcomes in Australian alpine tree frogs (Litoria verreauxii alpina), Bataille et al. (2015) investigated immunogenetic mechanisms, and found that this variation was partly mediated by characteristics of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), a family of genes involved in initiating and regulating the adaptive immune response (Hughes & Yeager, 1998). Luquet et al. (2012) demonstrated the subtle influence of population genetic effects on response to exposure to Bd by showing that tadpoles descended from isolated European treefrog populations with comparatively lower genetic variability, while showing no detectable infection, took longer to metamorphose and died more quickly when exposed to high doses. This was potentially as a result of a trade-off between investing in resistance to a pathogen

and in growth and development. They concluded that genetic erosion reduced the capacity to invest in resistance, growth, and metamorphosis simultaneously.

1.6.3 HOST IMMUNE RESPONSES

An increasing body of evidence is highlighting the role of host immune defences in influencing susceptibility to Bd (Bataille et al., 2015; Richmond et al., 2009). Like all jawed vertebrates, the mechanisms by which amphibians defend themselves from pathogens can be divided into innate and adaptive immune systems (although it should be recognised that this dichotomy understates the degree to which the two systems are integrated, Flajnik & Du Pasquier 2004). The innate system can be regarded as the first line of defence that responds rapidly in a non-specific way to the invasion of pathogens. These generic responses do not depend on previous exposure (i.e., there is no memory component) and include chemical and physical barriers to foreign substances, inflammation, destruction of infected cells, removal of foreign material, and activation of the adaptive system. Amphibian skin can produce a suite of bioactive substances that defend against predators and pathogens. Amongst these are antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), which may constitute a critical component of amphibian innate immunity (Conlon, 2011; Nicolas & Mor, 1995). Amphibian AMPs are small (10-48 amino acid residues), basic peptides that can target microorganisms and disrupt their cellular membranes (Conlon, 2011; Nicolas & Mor, 1995). A growing number of AMPs produced by multiple species have been shown to be inhibitory to Bd growth *in vitro* (Rollins-Smith, 2009), and the capacity to produce anti-*Bd* AMPs has been associated with patterns of susceptibility in some wild populations (Woodhams et al., 2006), and in controlled laboratory experiments (Woodhams et al., 2007). However, these form a restricted set of examples, and the importance of AMPs in defending against this pathogen remains unclear; species that produce AMPs inhibitory to Bd growth in vitro can still be susceptible in the wild (Rollins-Smith et al., 2006). Many amphibian species do not produce these peptides at all, and a clear correlation between *Bd* resistance and AMP production on a broader scale has not been demonstrated (Conlon, 2011). Host factors such as AMPs do not exist in isolation, and the contribution of the diverse microbial communities that inhabit the amphibian skin may be significant in defence against pathogens. When the anti-Bd activity of the ecosystem of the skin mucus (i.e. including both host and microbial factors) was assayed for multiple amphibian species, it was found to be predictive of infection risk in wild populations and survival in laboratory experiments (Woodhams et al., 2014).

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) form a family of membrane-bound proteins expressed on a number of important immune cells, including monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and B- and Tcells. They confer the capacity to recognise pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), molecular signatures conserved across a broad range of microbial pathogens including fungi (Kawai & Akira, 2007; Roeder et al., 2004). TLR-enabled recognition of PAMPs by immune cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells initiates an intracellular signalling cascade that leads to the production of cytokines and other mediators of inflammation, stimulating migration of these antigen-presenting cells to immunostimulatory centers (the spleen in amphibians) where they interact with and activate B- and T-cells (Kawai & Akira, 2007; Richmond et al., 2009). TLRs therefore play an important role in initiating and linking innate and adaptive immune responses, and, given their known importance in recognition of fungi in other vertebrates (Luther & Ebel, 2006; Roeder et al., 2004), may be of particular importance in amphibian defences against *Bd*.

Sequencing of transcriptomes of the Panama Golden Frog, a species highly susceptible to Bd, revealed increased expression of seven TLR genes in experimentally-infected individuals, alongside increased expression of multiple immunogenetic markers associated with both innate and adaptive pathways (Ellison et al., 2014). However, this was in the context of an ineffective immune response, suggesting that susceptibility to chytridiomycosis exists despite a robust response of elements of both innate and adaptive immunity. Because of reduced expression of B- and T-cell genes in the spleen of infected individuals, immunosuppression by the pathogen has been put forward as a possible mechanism for susceptibility in this example (Ellison et al., 2014). These results appear to contradict previous transcriptome studies that found no activation and even decreased expression of immune genes in susceptible species, although each study only provides data for one TLR gene (Rosenblum et al., 2012, 2009). While these contrasting findings may reflect genuine variation between species in the initiation of a robust immune response, they may also be a result of different methodological approaches and the greater sensitivity of RNA-Seq analysis used in the more recent work over the microarray-based approach pursued by previous studies (Ellison et al., 2014).

The adaptive—or "acquired"—immune system consists of a more specialised set of responses tailored towards specific non-self antigens. Initial pathogen exposure leads to the generation of immunological memory, optimising the system for rapid clearance of infection upon subsequent encounters of these particular antigens. The genes of the major

histocompatibility complex (MHC) encode a family of cell-surface receptors central to the adaptive immune response. Their role is to bind non-self-derived protein fragments with a high degree of specificity and transport them to the cell surface for recognition by T-cells (Hughes & Yeager, 1998). The antigen recognition components of the MHC are divided into two classes. Class I molecules are expressed on all nucleated somatic cells, and bind foreign peptides within the cytoplasm (e.g. from viruses) for presentation to killer T-cells. Class II molecules are primarily expressed on antigen-presenting cells (such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and B-cells) and bind extracellular peptides derived from bacteria, parasites, and fungi for presentation to helper T-cells (Hughes & Yeager, 1998; Richmond et al., 2009). MHC molecules govern key interactions in the adaptive immune response, with the range of foreign peptides recognised by the system defined by the repertoire of MHC genes. Thus, the characteristics and variability of MHC genes are important components of immunocompetence (Hughes & Yeager, 1998). Patterns of MHC polymorphism in a population can be governed by pathogen-driven selection in a number of ways. Heterozygotes can have a selective advantage simply by possessing a broader repertoire of receptors, which can lead to higher levels of polymorphism at MHC loci than observed for selectively neutral loci (Doherty & Zinkernagel, 1975). Alternatively, if a particular allele confers resistance to a common pathogen, directional selection can increase the frequency of that allele (Teacher et al., 2009). However, increasing frequency of a single allele or genotype can drive frequency-dependent selection, in which adaptation of the pathogen to common host genotypes gives rarer host genotypes a selective advantage, leading to an increase in their frequency until they too become common and come under the same selection (Takahata & Nei, 1990). Finally, balanced polymorphism can occur when pathogen characteristics vary in time and space (Garrigan & Hedrick, 2003). Any of the above mechanisms are likely to have played a role in defining patterns of MHC diversity in wild populations (Bernatchez & Landry, 2003). An increasing body of evidence suggests an association between MHC characteristics and susceptibility to Bd. Heterozygosity of MHC class I loci has been linked to resistance to Bd in the lowland leopard frog both in laboratory experiments and resilient wild populations (Savage & Zamudio, 2011), but was not found to be protective in experimental infection of wild alpine treefrogs (Bataille et al., 2015). Evidence both from global sampling of amphibian populations of differing resistance and exposure histories and laboratory infection

experiments has indicated that *Bd*-resistant populations and individuals share particular MHC class II alleles (May et al., 2011; Savage & Zamudio, 2011), or characteristics of MHC class II peptide-binding pockets (Bataille et al., 2015). In wild populations of the lowland leopard frog, MHC alleles and supertypes that are associated with resistance to *Bd* show signs of positive selection (high non-synonymous relative to synonymous substitution rates) whereas those that are not associated with resistance do not, while a comparison of MHC variability with neutral markers (microsatellites) shows evidence of directional selection for an allele associated with survival in a laboratory infection experiment (Savage & Zamudio, 2016).

Transcriptome sequencing to identify a change in expression of MHC genes in response to *Bd* exposure has yielded varying results: up-regulation of MHC genes in infected individuals has been observed in the highly susceptible panama golden frog (Ellison et al., 2014) and in the context of a lack of response, or even decreased expression, of other aspects of immune function in the susceptible yellow legged mountain frog (Rosenblum et al., 2012). However, transcriptomes of infected common frogs and *Xenopus tropicalis* showed no activation of MHC genes (Price et al., 2015; Rosenblum et al., 2009). The nature of these studies restricts interpretation of transcription to single points in time, both in terms of infection stage and life history stage, and are not guaranteed to detect substantial changes in expression of all genes that shape host and population response to a pathogen. Nevertheless, these data suggest that the MHC—and thus adaptive immunity—can play a role in some host species' defences against *Bd*, that *Bd*-driven selection can shape patterns of MHC variability, and that some populations are adapting to this pathogen through positive selection for MHC characteristics that confer resistance.

1.6.4 NEUTRAL GENETIC DIVERSITY

Genetic diversity is a measure of fundamental importance to the viability of wild populations of animals: low levels of variability can increase the risk of inbreeding depression through the increased occurrence of deleterious recessive alleles in a homozygous state, and the decreased instance of beneficial heterozygote overdominant states. Low levels of genetic variability within a population also render it more vulnerable to novel threats such as environmental change or emergent pathogens, as a smaller repertoire of alleles leads to a decreased probability of the existence of alleles adaptive to new pressures. The degree to which heterozygosity at neutral markers is reflective of genome-wide diversity in general,

and at loci that have a bearing on fitness specifically, is context-dependent. For heterozygosity at a neutral locus to be in any way informative of the state of a locus affecting fitness, the loci in question must be in either linkage or identity disequilibrium. Linkage disequilibrium refers to the non-random association of alleles at two loci in gametes (Szulkin et al., 2010). This can arise through genetic drift, immigration, or selection, and does not require that the loci are in close physical proximity (Bodmer & Felsenstein, 1967; Briscoe et al., 1994; Ohta, 1982). Identity disequilibrium occurs when there is a non-random association between diploid genotypes across loci in zygotes, and heterozygosity at neutral loci is therefore reflective of general heterozygosity across the genome (Bennett & Binet, 1956; Szulkin et al., 2010). This can arise through variation in inbreeding rates within a population such that relatively inbred individuals are more homozygous both at loci under selection and neutral markers (Chapman et al., 2009). In small or admixed populations, identity disequilibrium can arise as a consequence of linkage disequilibrium, as alleles linked at two loci in the gamete phase will, under random mating, lead to a disproportionate number of double-heterozygotes or double-homozygotes (Szulkin et al., 2010; Yang, 2000). Heterozygosity fitness correlations (HFCs) have been studied for decades, and while associations are often weak, they have been identified across multiple taxa and systems (Chapman et al., 2009; Reed & Frankham, 2003; Szulkin et al., 2010). Clear HFCs have been documented in amphibians, who may be especially vulnerable to a loss of genetic diversity as a result of their low dispersal capability, philopatry to discrete breeding sites in increasingly fragmented habitats, and tendency towards low effective population sizes (reviewed in Cushman, 2006, and Allentoft and O'Brien, 2010).

A small number of studies have examined the role of neutral genetic diversity in predicting susceptibility to *Bd*. In laboratory experiments, Luquet et al. (2012) found that individuals derived from genetically eroded populations were more likely to suffer sub-lethal deleterious effects in response to exposure (see section 1.6.2). Field surveys linking *Bd* prevalence with host genetic variability have yielded mixed findings, with positive (Addis et al., 2015; Horner et al., 2017), negative (Savage et al., 2015), and neutral (Wagner et al., 2017) associations all reported (see Chapter 2). Ultimately, however, the uncharacterised demographic, coevolutionary and epidemiological history of each unique system make the role played by host heterozygosity *per se* in mediating response to a pathogen difficult to discern from contemporary field-based data. To disentangle these issues, there is a clear

need for laboratory-based experimental work examining the responses to *Bd* exposure in individuals derived from populations with no history of exposure to the pathogen.

1.6.5 HOST MICROBIOME

It is increasingly recognised that microbial life plays a crucial role in shaping the phenotype of multicellular organisms. The development, nutrition, behaviour, and health of a host is dependent on various complex interactions with its resident microbiome (Hooper et al., 2012b; McFall-Ngai et al., 2013; Ottman et al., 2012). The amphibian skin, the site of Bd infection, harbours a diverse assemblage of bacterial and fungal taxa (Kueneman et al., 2016; Woodhams et al., 2014). Some of these produce antifungal metabolites and volatile compounds that have been shown to be inhibitory to Bd growth in vitro (Woodhams et al., 2018). For example, the bacterium Janthinobacterium lividum isolated from the skin of the red-backed salamander Plethodon cinereus produces the metabolite violacein at concentrations lethal to Bd (Brucker et al., 2008). Artificial application of J. lividum to redbacked salamanders resulted in increased levels of violacein on the skin of individuals, which was associated with increased survival subsequent to Bd exposure (Becker et al., 2009). The composition of the bacterial skin community has been shown to be predictive of Bd infection outcomes in laboratory studies (Becker et al., 2015; Walke et al., 2015) and population persistence in the wild (Lam et al., 2010). In field studies, bacterial community structure has been associated with *Bd* presence and dynamics (Bates et al., 2018; Bell et al., 2018), though the effect of *Bd* on the microbiome can be greater than the effect of the microbiome on *Bd* (Jani & Briggs, 2014, 2018).

In addition to the microbial community, the environment of the skin of the amphibian consists of host factors such as mucosal antibodies and antimicrobial peptides, and these can act in concert to influence the activity of pathogens. When the anti-*Bd* activity of the ecosystem of the skin mucus (i.e. including both host and microbial factors) was assayed for multiple amphibian species, it was found to be predictive of infection risk in wild populations and survival in laboratory experiments (Woodhams et al., 2014).

Taken together, these findings suggest that the utilisation of probiotics may represent a promising strategy to mitigate the effects of *Bd* in wild populations. Such bioaugmentation is used extensively to control disease in agricultural contexts, for example poultry rearing and aquaculture (Newaj-Fyzul et al., 2014; Smith, 2014). A preliminary field trial applying an anti-fungal bacteria, *J. lividum*, to individuals in a wild yellow legged mountain frog population in

the Sierra Nevada showed an association between inoculation with the bacteria and reduced infection rate (Vredenburg et al., 2011). The degree to which any bioaugmentation strategy can be generalised remains doubtful, however. The interactions between hosts, microbial communities, and pathogens are complex and context dependent; and the viability of any putative probiotic is likely to vary according to host-specific factors, temperature, pH, as well as existing microbial community structure (Belden & Harris, 2007; Daskin & Alford, 2012).

1.6.6 HOST DEVELOPMENTAL STAGE

The extent and consequences of disease responses to pathogens can vary depending on the developmental stage of the host. Such ontogenic variation has been characterised across a variety of taxa, including plants (Ficke et al., 2002), insects (Bull et al., 2012), fish (Kelly et al., 2010), birds (Killpack & Karasov, 2012), and mammals (Burns-Guydish et al., 2005). The capacity for *Bd* to infect and cause pathologies in the larval stage of amphibians is limited by the fact that the keratinised cells which it infects are restricted to mouthparts (Berger et al., 1998). Tadpoles often therefore show low susceptibility in species for which the effects of infection in post-metamorphic animals can be severe (Berger et al., 1998; Fellers et al., 2001; Rachowicz & Vredenburg, 2004). Nevertheless, sub-lethal deleterious effects such as reduced foraging activity, delayed metamorphosis, and reduced mass at metamorphosis have been documented in tadpoles exposed to *Bd* (Garner et al., 2009; Parris & Cornelius, 2004; Venesky et al., 2009). This serves to underscore that Bd can have an important effect on the viability of amphibians even in the absence of mortality and detectable infection (Garner et al., 2009; Luquet et al., 2012). The existence of a life stage that can become infected but remain healthy may pose a threat to populations if aggregating groups of tadpoles become a source of infectious zoospores for more vulnerable post-metamorphic life stages (Bosch et al., 2001; Rachowicz & Vredenburg, 2004).

Multiple laboratory studies have documented the elevated vulnerability of newlymetamorphosed individuals, or in the case of a direct-developing frog, juvenile froglets (Abu Bakar et al., 2016; Langhammer et al., 2014; Ortiz-Santaliestra et al., 2013; Rachowicz & Vredenburg, 2004). In the species studied, susceptibility then declined with development into adulthood. Ortiz-Santaliestra et al. (2013) speculated that as the keratinised outer layer of skin became thicker with development, the germ tube of the *Bd* zoospore had greater difficulty penetrating through it to the layer of living cells beneath. A greater capacity to resist or tolerate infection with increasing age could also be associated with maturation of

immunocompetence. Abu Bakar et al. (2016) demonstrated that the capacity to mount an immune response as detected using a phytohaemagglutinin assay increased with developmental stage as susceptibility to chytridiomycosis decreased in post-metamorphic green and golden bell frogs (*Litoria aurea*). Finally, decreased susceptibility with development could simply be a consequence of the benefits of increased size. Within a species, increased size tends to be associated with decreased susceptibility to chytridiomycosis (Garner et al., 2009; Garner, Rowcliffe and Fisher, 2011; Bielby et al., 2015, and see section 1.6.7 and Chapter 3), potentially attributable to allometric scaling of ion loss and mass-specific metabolic rate in infected individuals (Wu et al., 2018). Thus, though the effects likely vary depending on context, a generalised picture can be built of the importance of developmental stage-related differences in amphibian responses to exposure to Bd. The larval stage can serve as a tolerant reservoir of Bd while suffering sub-lethal deleterious effects. Susceptibility to chytridiomycosis then peaks in newly-metamorphosed individuals as keratinisation of the skin is completed. As individuals further develop, increased skin thickness, the maturation of immunocompetence, and increased size may all contribute in reducing the negative consequences of exposure to the pathogen.

1.6.7 HOST SIZE

For animals with complex life histories such as amphibians, body size has an important bearing on fitness and survival, especially at crucial life history stages such as soon after metamorphosis. In anurans, being larger at this stage tends to confer an advantage in fitness-related traits such as jumping capacity (Richter-Boix et al., 2006), foraging ability (Newman, 1999), ability to escape from predators (Ward-Fear et al., 2010), and overall survival (Altwegg & Reyer, 2003; Cabrera-Guzmán et al., 2013).

Given that exposure to a pathogen will generally incur a cost to the host, whether through the mounting of an immune response, the nutrient demands and direct damage associated with infection, or the impacts of disease itself (Viney et al., 2005), it might also be expected that hosts with better body condition, or greater mass, would be better equipped to incur these costs. There is indeed evidence that greater mass can be associated with a greater capacity to defend against pathogens and reallocate physiological resources into an immune response in, for example, mammals (Wagland et al., 1984) and fish (Overturf et al., 2010), and that superior body condition can facilitate investment in immune resources in birds (Møller et al., 1998). In mammals that have evolved sexual size dimorphism, sex-biased parasitism has also been observed, with the larger sex showing heavier parasite burdens (Harrison et al., 2010; Moore & Wilson, 2002). This may arise through a trade-off between investing in growth and investing in immunological resources or the simple fact that larger animals constitute larger targets for parasites.

In the amphibian-*Bd* system, laboratory experiments consistently show that larger individuals experience greater survival when exposed to the pathogen (Bielby et al., 2015; Burrow et al., 2017; Carey et al., 2006; Garner et al., 2011, 2009; Searle et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2018). In addition to the general increase in vigour that greater size can confer, this relationship may arise through smaller individuals being especially more vulnerable to the deleterious effects of a skin disease. In post-metamorphic individuals, *Bd* infects the superficial layers of the epidermis, compromising the osmoregulatory function of the skin leading to electrolyte imbalance and associated pathologies (Berger et al., 2005a; Voyles et al., 2009). Given that skin surface area and metabolic rate scale allometrically with mass in amphibians (Klein et al., 2016; White et al., 2006), smaller animals may be especially vulnerable to the costs associated with disruption caused by cutaneous *Bd* infection. This phenomenon has been demonstrated in experimental *Bd* exposures of green tree frogs (*Litoria caerulea*), in which smaller infected animals exhibited higher rates of energetically costly skin sloughing, and suffered greater rates of ion loss than larger counterparts (Wu et al., 2018).

Gervasi et al. (2017) conducted a large standardised infection experiment across 20 North American anuran species and, while their findings supported a positive relationship between body mass and survival on an intraspecific level, they interestingly report the opposite relationship on an interspecific level. In this, there may be some alignment with the findings of Bancroft et al. (2011) and Murray and Skerratt (2012) who report a positive association between species-level measures of body size and the probability of having a positive *Bd* record in the United States and Australia, respectively. However, these data refer simply to positive detections of infection in the field, and could be explained by larger species being more conspicuous for sampling for *Bd* or being longer lived, and thus having a longer period of time over which to accumulate parasites. In any case, as they do not reflect mortality or population declines, these findings are not necessarily incongruent with laboratory experiments showing a positive relationship between mass and survival. Though Lips, Reeve and Witters (2003) do find an association between species body size and increased risk of population decline in Central America, this is not explicitly linked with *Bd* in their study.

There is thus a tendency for higher mass to be protective against *Bd* mortality within a species. It does not appear to be the case, however, that larger species are less vulnerable and there are indeed indications that the opposite may be true. Studies that explicitly focus on size variation both within and across species, and the role this plays in mediating response to *Bd* exposure, are needed to further clarify this fundamental component of amphibian-*Bd* dynamics.

1.6.8 TEMPERATURE

The importance of temperature in mediating the effect of a pathogen on its host depends on the interplay between the optimal temperature ranges for pathogen growth and host immune function, as well as host ecology, behaviour, and life history. Research on the physiology of Bd in vitro has identified an optimum temperature range for growth at 17-25°C (Piotrowski et al., 2004; Woodhams et al., 2008). Amphibian immune systems also have thermal optima, and tend to be suppressed at lower temperatures (Maniero & Carey, 1997). Thus, in in vivo infection experiments across multiple amphibian taxa, Bd causes higher mortality in colder temperatures (11-17°C) outside its optimal growth range in vitro than at warmer temperatures (18-27°C) mostly within its optimal growth range (Andre et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2004; Bustamante et al., 2010; Murphy et al., 2011; Sonn et al., 2017). Even mild pulses of heat above the thermal optimum for *Bd* limit its growth both *in vitro* and *in* vivo (Greenspan et al., 2017). These experimental observations broadly corroborate field observations. The effects and prevalence of *Bd* tend to higher at winter and cooler high elevation sites (Gründler et al., 2012; Lips, 2016; Sapsford et al., 2013; Skerratt et al., 2007; Whitfield et al., 2016). Even short-term exposure to warm microhabitats, such as sunwarmed rocks, can aid host persistence (Daskin et al., 2011). Field studies from some temperate northern hemisphere regions are, however, less clear cut, with a lack of association between temperature and Bd infection intensity reported (Knapp et al., 2011), and indeed a positive association shown between temperature and Bd prevalence in at least two systems (Muths et al., 2008; Spitzen-van der Sluijs et al., 2017). A more nuanced interpretation is presented by the thermal mismatch hypothesis (Cohen et al., 2017). This hypothesis posits that, given that parasites tend to have broader thermal performance breadths than their hosts, temperature shifts away from a host's thermal optimum could result in disease outbreaks, with parasite growth greatest at the point it most outperforms its host, not necessarily when it grows best in isolation. Thus, warm-adapted hosts are most

at risk at relatively cool temperatures, while cool-adapted hosts are most at risk at relatively warm temperatures. Laboratory experiments and field data of declines in Latin American amphibian species are consistent with the thermal mismatch hypothesis, with the greatest susceptibility to *Bd* in warm- and cool-adapted hosts occurring at relatively cool and warm temperatures, respectively (Cohen et al., 2019, 2017). Hosts adapted to cold environments may therefore become increasingly under threat from chytridiomycosis in a warming climate.

1.6.9 BD STRAIN

Early research exploring the potential sources of variation in disease outcomes in the amphibian-Bd system focussed on parameters such as temperature, pathogen dose, host ontogeny, and host species (Berger et al., 2004; Carey et al., 2006; Rachowicz & Vredenburg, 2004; Woodhams et al., 2006). The potential importance of variation in pathogen genotype was largely overlooked, possibly as a result of its low global genetic diversity (Morehouse et al., 2003; Morgan et al., 2007). However, Berger et al. (2005) and Retallick and Miera (2007) showed that different *Bd* strains collected within the same region would produce different patterns of mortality in standardised laboratory infection experiments, indicating potential phenotypic variation within Bd. Fisher et al. (2009) examined a broader set of isolates from Europe, Australia and the USA and showed that genotypic differentiation amongst isolates was associated with phenotypic and proteomic variation, and ultimately with differential host survival in infection experiments. The importance of lineage variation within Bd was further underscored with the discovery that one clade of *Bd*, dubbed the global panzootic lineage (BdGPL), was the primary driver of amphibian population declines globally, and was characterised by hypervirulence in comparison to divergent lineages (Farrer et al., 2011). This variation may have important implications for the arrival in habitats of Bd as a novel pathogen. For example, the IUCN red-listed Mallorcan midwife toad (Alytes muletensis) was threatened by the introduction, probably in the early 1990s, of Bd to Mallorca (Walker et al., 2008). While declines were recorded in one of four Mallorcan A. muletensis populations infected with *Bd*, the remainder persisted apparently unaffected. This is probably attributable to the fact that the lineage of *Bd* introduced, *Bd*CAPE, is hypovirulent in infection experiments on A. muletensis, whereas BdGPL causes significant mortalities (Doddington et al., 2013). There is variation in disease outcomes even between strains of BdGPL. An isolate collected from a declining population of Cascades frogs (Rana cascadae) in California caused higher mortalities in an infection experiment, and showed higher immmunotoxicity and optical density *in vitro*, compared with one isolated from a more stable population of the same species (Piovia-Scott et al., 2015). It remains unclear precisely what aspects of variation in *Bd* genotype are responsible for variation in virulence and disease outcomes, or indeed the traits that enable the unusual pathogenicity of this chytrid genus as a whole. The majority of *Bd* isolates show chromosomal copy number variation, a feature associated with pathogenic fungi and a potentially important source of genomic variation and adaptive potential (Farrer et al., 2013). In comparison to non-pathogenic chytrids, both *Bd* and *Bsal* show an expansion of protease and chitin-binding gene families, likely linked to pathogenicity, some of which are highly expressed in *in vivo* infection (Farrer et al., 2013, 2017). There is also evidence that these families are under directional selection, especially within *Bd*GPL (Farrer et al., 2013). The significance of many features of the unusually dynamic genome of *Bd* is as yet unknown, and further work is needed in characterising the diversity of such features amongst lineages and in linking them to variation in virulence and pathogenicity.

1.6.10 DOSE

Beginning with the exposure trials carried out by Berger et al. (1998) that helped firmly establish chytridiomycosis as a cause of mortality and population declines in anurans, laboratory experiments have been a crucial asset in understanding host-pathogen dynamics in the amphibian-*Bd* system. Carey et al. (2006) showed that increased dosage of active *Bd* zoospores, and duration of exposure, were associated with decreased survival times. While what constitutes a "high" or "low" has varied between experiments, multiple studies have supported the claim that amphibians respond to *Bd* exposure in a dose-dependent manner, showing increased infection probability, infection burden, and mortality with increased levels of exposure (Bielby et al., 2015; Fisher et al., 2009a; Garner et al., 2011, 2009), though this can vary between species and does not seem to prevail in all contexts (Gervasi et al., 2013).

1.7 STUDY SPECIES: THE COMMON TOAD (BUFO BUFO)



Figure 1.2 Approximate distribution of the members of the *Bufo bufo species complex.* Data modified from Agasyan et al. (2009) using information on *Bufo spinosus* distribution detailed in Arntzen et al. (2017).

The European common toad, Bufo bufo, comprises a four-species complex distributed across much of the western Palearctic (Arntzen et al., 2013b). The systematics of the group continue to be resolved: *Bufo spinosis* forms a genetically distinct unit ranging from northern Africa northwards into the Iberian Peninsula to France. There, a boundary running diagonally from north western France to north western Italy exists between B. spinosus and Bufo bufo (sensu stricto), with molecular and morphological evidence in some areas of a narrow hybrid zone between the ranges of the two species (Arntzen et al., 2017, 2016; Trujillo & Arntzen, 2017). The range of B. bufo (sensu stricto) extends from this contact zone in France to western Scotland in the west, the Arctic Circle in the north, and Lake Baikal in southern Siberia in the east (Arntzen et al., 2013b; Garcia-Porta et al., 2012; Recuero et al., 2012). Bufo verrucosissimus, a species more recently diverged from B. bufo, is found in the western Caucasus and Anatolia. There is sympatry between the two lineages at Lake Abant in northwest Anatolia, but no evidence as yet of hybridisation in the wild (Arntzen et al., 2013b). Finally, the geographically isolated Talysh and Elburz mountains in south eastern Azerbaijan and northern Iran host the most divergent lineage in the group, Bufo eichwaldi (Arntzen et al., 2013b; Litvinchuk et al., 2008, 2012).



Figure 1.3 Common toad (*bufo bufo***) pair in amplexus.** Image: Bernie Kohl, Creative Commons CC0 1.0 Universal Public Domain Dedication

The common toad (*sensu lato*) constitutes the largest European toad species, growing up to 15cm in length (Arnold, 2002). It has warty skin, with colour varying considerably between many different shades of brown, and has prominent paratoids, the gland responsible for production of anti-predatory skin secretions, positioned on the dorsal side of the head (Arnold, 2002; Arntzen et al., 2013a). Morphological characteristics vary geographically: *B. spinosus*, distributed from North Africa to France, tend towards a larger body size, more warty skin, and paratoids positioned at a more divergent angle than more northern European forms of *B. bufo*, though there is some overlap in these traits between species (Arntzen et al., 2017, 2013a, 2016; Trujillo & Arntzen, 2017).

Though often low in density, *B. bufo* is a widespread species, covering a variety of habitats in both urban and rural contexts (Arnold, 2002; Hitchings & Beebee, 1998). Breeding takes place in permanent ponds and lakes (Sinsch, 1990), and there is strong breeding site fidelity: Reading et al. (1991) found that between 79% and 96% of adults in English and Swedish populations that survive from one breeding season to the next return to the same breeding site. Typically for anurans, *B. bufo* have low vagility and very small home ranges, most remaining within between 400 m and 1.5 km of their breeding sites during summer (Glandt, 1986; Sinsch, 1990), though some have been recorded beyond this, as far as 3 km (Heusser,
1969). Reproductive maturity can be reached as early as three years for males and four years for females, though this varies geographically (Cvetković et al., 2009; Hemelaar, 1988; Reading, 1991), and these toads can survive for as long as 15 years in the wild (Cvetković et al., 2009). Reproductive individuals begin to migrate towards their breeding pond in early autumn before hibernating 50-500 m away from the site (Sinsch, 1990). Migration is completed in early spring, often involving large numbers of toads over a short period of time, an especially conspicuous phenomenon when migration routes intersect with roads (Arnold, 2002; Petrovan & Schmidt, 2016). Males, who can mate multiple times, arrive at the pond earliest and remain there for an explosive breeding period that lasts just a few weeks, while females, who only spawn once, spend a shorter period of time at the pond (Davies & Halliday, 1977). Female B. bufo are larger than males, larger females tend to lay more eggs, and a larger male-to-female size ratio is associated with higher fertilisation success (Davies & Halliday, 1977). Females lay eggs in dual jelly-encased strings, which are wound around pond vegetation and can be up to 5 m in length, containing up to 8,000 eggs (Arnold, 2002). The eggs are fertilised as they emerge by a male tightly gripping the female in amplexus (Davies & Halliday, 1979). At any single point in time there is a heavily male-biased sex ratio at a breeding pond, and the resulting competition for breeding opportunities often results in mating balls consisting of several males in amplexus with a single female, a situation which can be fatal for the female (Davies & Halliday, 1977, 1979). Within 2-3 weeks, eggs hatch into free-swimming tadpoles, which congregate in large feeding groups before metamorphosing into toadlets within about 4-5 weeks (Arnold, 2002; Goater, 1994; Hemelaar, 1988).

The conservation status of this widespread species is currently classified as "least concern" by the IUCN (Agasyan et al., 2009). However, long term citizen science datasets collected by volunteers moving toads across roads adjacent to hundreds of breeding sites in Great Britain and Switzerland indicate a continuous decline in *B. bufo* population sizes in both countries since the 1980s (Petrovan & Schmidt, 2016), and a similar approach has documented significant declines in Italy (Bonardi et al., 2011). These declines may be partly attributable to an increased threat posed by road traffic: mortality on roads of migrating adult toads has been linked with reductions in population size in the species (Cooke & Sparks, 2004), and the period between 1985 and 2016 has seen a 68% rise in vehicle miles on the roads of Great Britain (Transport Statistics Great Britain: 2017,

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-statistics-great-britain-2017 [accessed

06/03/2019]). Additionally, amphibians are sensitive to habitat destruction, degradation (for example through agrochemical pollution), and fragmentation (Beebee & Griffiths, 2005; Ficetola & De Bernardi, 2004; Hitchings & Beebee, 1998). There is also evidence that a warmer climate is associated with a reduction in body condition of breeding females in *B. bufo*, resulting in decreased fecundity and survival (Reading, 2007). The role played by disease is unclear: while *Bd* has been detected on the skin of *B. Bufo* in a number of localities across Europe including Great Britain (http://www.bd-maps.net/ [Accessed 06/03/2019]), and the pathogen has been found to be associated with unusual mortalities in Spanish *B. spinosus* populations (Bosch & Martínez-Solano, 2006), it has not been conclusively linked with any population declines in *B. bufo*.

Partly as a result of its intermediate susceptibility to the pathogen, B. bufo has been used as a model species in laboratory infection experiments examining key questions surrounding the disease and its dynamics. For example, B. bufo tadpoles and metamorphs have been used to demonstrate phenotypic variation between different lineages of *Bd* and highlight the hypervirulence of the Global Panzootic Lineage (GPL) (Farrer et al., 2011; Fisher et al., 2009b; O'Hanlon et al., 2018). In investigating the possible influence of climate change on host and pathogen responses, Garner et al. (2011) used B. bufo to show that, while a warmer overwintering temperature was associated with an increased infection probability, it was also associated with a decreased infection burden, and overwintering temperature regime did not have a significant effect on eventual mortality. *B. bufo* has also been used to demonstrate that the consequences of exposure to Bd are not merely restricted to infection and direct mortality, but can manifest in lower mass at metamorphosis even in the absence of detectable infection, a possible result of the reallocation of energetic resources necessary in mounting a successful immune response against the pathogen (Garner et al., 2009). A consistent finding, however, in research on Bd and its effects on B. bufo has been the importance of body size in determining the consequences to the host of exposure. Lower post-metamorphic mass is associated with decreased survival probability as a result of Bd exposure, more so than dose of *Bd* administered and even infection status itself (Bielby et al., 2015; Farrer et al., 2011; Garner et al., 2011, 2009).

1.8 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

The host-pathogen dynamics of chytridiomycosis, an emerging infectious disease causing dramatic declines and extinctions of amphibian species and populations worldwide, are poorly understood. There is a notable variation in responses to *Bd*, both among species and between

populations of a single species, and a knowledge gap in understanding predictors of risk in previously unexposed populations. This aim of this thesis is to examine how natural amphibian populations vary in their genetic characteristics and responses to disease and to identify predictors, both genetic and phenotypic, of *Bd*-driven mortality. To investigate these, the following objectives were set:

- Document patterns of genetic variability in a natural system of amphibian populations and investigate the role of seawater in population differentiation and reduction of genetic variability through isolation (Chapter 2).
- Examine how population of origin influences survival time in response to *Bd* exposure, and whether these responses are associated with population-level allelic diversity (Chapter 3).
- 3. Test the hypotheses that individual heterozygosity and body size would be positively associated with survival time in response to *Bd* exposure (Chapter 3).
- 4. Examine the increased power of a dataset of SNP markers to discern genetic structure in individuals sampled from different populations (Chapter 4).
- 5. Assess the potential of a SNP dataset to identify loci influential in local adaptation and disease response (Chapter 4)

CHAPTER 2 PATTERNS OF GENETIC VARIABILITY IN NATURALLY FRAGMENTED COMMON TOAD POPULATIONS IN WESTERN SCOTLAND

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Population fragmentation and isolation are important processes influencing the structure and viability of wild populations. Features of habitat and geography can mediate and prevent dispersal, creating populations largely or entirely isolated from migration. The resultant lack of gene flow can contribute to population differentiation, and the loss of allelic diversity in isolated populations due to genetic drift (Keyghobadi, 2007; Manel & Holderegger, 2013). Spatial genetic structure attributable to population fragmentation has been investigated on a number of scales across a variety of taxa. For example, Hartl et al. (2005) documented significant differentiation among populations of red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) attributable to geographic barriers to dispersal even at a small geographic scale. Similarly, Wang, Glor and Losos (2013) demonstrated that geographical isolation was the dominant force in creating genetic divergence in 17 species of *Anolis* lizards in the Greater Antilles.

Genetic erosion associated with isolation of populations can have negative impacts on the fitness of individuals as well as the long-term viability of populations (Reed & Frankham, 2003; Willi et al., 2006). In the absence of incoming gene flow and novel mutations in a finite population, alleles disappear through random mating, differential breeding success and mortality. This loss of allelic diversity means that individuals are more likely to be autozygous at any given locus. Decreased heterozygosity can have negative impacts on phenotypic traits linked to fitness, as recessive deleterious alleles are more likely to occur in a homozygous state. Heterozygosity itself can also be beneficial at particular loci at which, for a given two alleles, the heterozygote state confers an advantage over either homozygote state, a phenomenon known as overdominance. Heterozygosity fitness correlations (HFCs) have been studied for decades, and while associations are often weak, they have been identified across multiple taxa and systems (Chapman et al., 2009; Reed & Frankham, 2003; Szulkin et al., 2010).

Due to several distinctive aspects of their biology, amphibians have received particular attention in investigations of these processes (Allentoft & O'Brien, 2010; Cushman, 2006). For example, philopatry to breeding sites like ponds that have patchy, non-continuous distributions can produce a strong spatial genetic structure. Low dispersal capacity limits

migration and further promotes the development of demes (Ficetola et al., 2007; Kraaijeveld-Smit et al., 2005). Amphibians can also often have small effective population sizes, leading to an increased risk of genetic drift (Beebee & Griffiths, 2005; Rowe & Beebee, 2004), which can be compounded by differential mortality on the clutch level (Dubois, 2004). These traits may act to make amphibians especially vulnerable to loss of genetic diversity, and amplify the threats currently posed to wild populations (Allentoft & O'Brien, 2010). Amphibians constitute the most vulnerable group of vertebrates on the planet with 41% of species now classified as threatened under IUCN Red List criteria (IUCN, 2018). Declines have been driven by a suite of threats, including habitat destruction, pollution, climate change and infectious diseases such as chytridiomycosis, caused by the fungal pathogen Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis (Bd) (Beebee & Griffiths, 2005; Fisher et al., 2009b). The threat posed by Bd is of particular concern as it extends beyond the reach of areas directly impacted by humans, spreading as an emerging infectious disease into otherwise pristine habitat, decimating populations naïve to the pathogen (Farrer et al., 2011; Fisher et al., 2009b; Lips et al., 2008). The patterns of genetic variation in amphibians in fragmented natural habitats, and the degree to which this influences phenotypic traits such as response to exposure to novel pathogens, is therefore of particular relevance to conservation biology. This chapter uses microsatellite genetic markers to characterise patterns of genetic variability in a set of strongly spatially structured common toad (Bufo bufo) populations. B. *bufo* is the central member of a four-species complex distributed across much of the western Palearctic (Arntzen et al., 2013b). It displays a high level of philopatry to the permanent ponds and lakes used as breeding sites, with at least 79% of breeding adults returning to the same location from one breeding season to the next (Reading et al., 1991). The species exhibits a low dispersal capacity, generally remaining within between 400 m and 1.5 km of their breeding sites during summer (Glandt, 1986; Sinsch, 1990). Effective population sizes are often low, with strong population differentiation (Brede & Beebee, 2004; Flavenot et al., 2014; Roth & Jehle, 2016; Scribner et al., 1997). B. bufo can be found on islands isolated by sea, and given that the species is regarded as having a low salinity tolerance (Ferreira & Jesus, 1973), it might be expected that populations situated on such islands would show greater differentiation and a loss of genetic variability as a result of reduced gene flow.

Seas and oceans can play an important role in shaping the distribution and diversification of amphibians, and populations inhabiting oceanic islands provide compelling contexts in which

to examine the genetic consequences of population isolation. For example, an extensive study sampling 24 island populations of black spotted frogs in the Zhoushan Archipelago, situated in the East China Sea, and three neighbouring populations on mainland China, showed that mainland populations harboured higher levels of genetic diversity, and that, subsequent to Holocene sea level rises, seawater has effectively isolated island populations from gene flow (Wang et al., 2014). Similarly, populations of Natterjack toad (*Bufo calamita*) inhabiting seven islands of the Bohuslän archipelago on the western coast of Sweden show limited dispersal ability over sea. Rogell et al. (2010) reported a well-defined genetic structure and considerable variation in levels of genetic diversity between populations. Thus far, however, studies on such systems have failed to demonstrate this expected pattern for *B. bufo* (Roth & Jehle, 2016; Seppä & Laurila, 1999).

The area investigated in this chapter is situated in the Inner Hebrides, an archipelago off the western coast of Scotland. This chain consists of over 150 named islands adjacent to a complex mountainous coastline characterised by a series of sounds and inlets (Boyd, 1983). The geological history of the area is heavily influenced by the recessions and readvances of glaciers during the quaternary Ice Age (Boyd, 1983). For this reason, the area has attracted much scientific interest, especially in describing the patterns of migration and differentiation of the resident flora and fauna. Some islands host animal and plant populations that are profoundly genetically distinct from their mainland counterparts, and may have experienced limited gene-flow since post-glacial colonisation (Berry, 1983). For example, the common shrew (Sorex araneus) is found on many of the islands, having probably colonised them at the end of the last period of glaciation with minimal subsequent migration (White & Searle, 2007). Microsatellite genotyping of shrews sampled on 13 islands of the Inner Hebrides and neighbouring Clyde Islands and six regions on the adjacent mainland showed that island populations were significantly genetically divergent from each other, and exhibited lower levels of genetic diversity than those on the mainland (White & Searle, 2007). Sea has inhibited dispersal in the region even for flying insects. Bombus muscorum, a bumblebee, shows differentiation and reduction in genetic diversity associated with isolation by sea in the Inner and Outer Hebrides (Darvill et al., 2006). In a reintroduced population of Red Deer (Cervus elaphus) on the island of Rum loss of genetic variation associated with isolation may be mitigated through selection in favour of heterozygotes, or temporally fluctuating directional selection (Pemberton et al., 1996).

This chapter focusses on a set of *B. bufo* populations situated around Skye, the largest island

of the Inner Hebrides. The breeding ponds sampled are situated on both mainland western Scotland and neighbouring isolated island populations, separated by seawater since approximately 9500 years BP (Lambeck, 1993). My aim is to document patterns of genetic variability in this system, and investigate the role of seawater in population differentiation and reduction of genetic variability through isolation. This characterisation will serve as a basis for further studies on the role of population identity and genetic architecture in mediating response to exposure to *Bd*.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2.1 STUDY SITES AND SAMPLE COLLECTION

Samples were taken from 11 toad breeding populations over an area of approximately 60 x 73 km around the Isle of Skye, western Scotland (Figure 2.3). Two sites (MAK, MAT) were situated on the mainland, and two sites (SKB, SKP) considered to be in effect mainland sites, were situated on Skye, which is connected to the mainland by the Skye Bridge, approximately 500 m long and constructed between 1992 and 1995. The remaining seven sites (CRO, PAB, RAB, RAO, ROI, ROT, and SCD) were located across four islands completely isolated by sea situated between Skye and the Applecross peninsula. Two widely separated sites were sampled on each of the larger islands, Raasay and Rona. The isolated islands range in size from 1.3 km² (Pabay) to 53.4 km² (Raasay) and have been separated by sea since the last period of glacial activity in the area ended approximately 9500 years BP (Lambeck, 1993). Tadpoles were collected between 2013 and 2015 at ten populations by Scottish Natural Heritage staff and stored in 1.5 ml 100% ethanol-filled Eppendorf tubes. Shorelines were evenly sampled with sample points separated by a minimum of 10m to reduce the risk of multiple collections from a single clutch. Genetic samples for one island population, Crowlin, came from metamorphs raised in captivity from spawn collected in 2016 (see Chapter 3).

2.2.2 DNA EXTRACTION AND PCR PROTOCOLS

Individuals were genotyped at eight previously-characterised *B. bufo* microsatellite loci (*Bbuf*µ11, *Bbuf*µ15, *Bbuf*µ24, *Bbuf*µ39, *Bbuf*µ46, *Bbuf*µ54, *Bbuf*µ62, and *Bbuf*µ65, Brede et al. (2001)). DNA was extracted from the tails of ethanol preserved tadpoles using a Qiagen DNEasy extraction kit following the manufacturers protocol (Qiagen, UK). Concentration of extracted DNA was quantified using a NanoDrop Lite spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) and then standardised to approximately 10 ng/µl. Microsatellite loci were

amplified by PCR using the protocols described in Brede et al. (2001), with the exception of Bbuf11, which was found to yield more product at an annealing temperature of 56°C as compared with the recommended temperature of 44°C (see Table 2.1 for details on the primers used in this study). All PCR reactions were carried out in a Veriti[™] 96-well thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems[™], UK). The total reaction volume was 10 μl, and contained 10 ng of genomic DNA, 5 pmol of each primer, 0.5 U Tag polymerase (BIOTAQ[™], Bioline Reagents Ltd, UK), 0.15 mM of each dNTP, 2 mM MgCl2, and 1 μ l of 10x NH4 reaction buffer. A "touchdown" PCR reaction, which maximises yield of the target sequence, was performed on all loci. Nonspecific priming by one or both of the primers can lead to amplification of small non-target sequences, resulting in the appearance of multiple spurious bands when the PCR products are viewed on an agarose gel. Increasing the annealing temperature towards the melting point of the primer-template complex decreases spurious binding, thus increasing the specificity of the reaction. However, this comes at the cost of a decreased yield of PCR product. A trade-off therefore exists between increased yield at lower temperatures and increased specificity at higher temperatures (Hecker & Roux, 1996). A touchdown PCR technique circumvents this trade-off by setting the annealing temperature of the initial cycles of the reaction at or above the melting point of the primer-template complex, and then decreasing the annealing temperature incrementally for each subsequent cycle (Don et al., 1991). Initial priming is thus highly specific in early cycles, allowing the target product to outcompete any nonspecific product once the annealing temperature is dropped to a point at which nonspecific priming would normally occur. The reaction then continues for multiple cycles at the touchdown annealing temperature, yielding a high quantity of the target product (Don et al., 1991; Hecker & Roux, 1996). PCRs commenced with a 4 minute denaturation period at 94 °C, followed by a series of annealing steps, each of which consisted of two cycles of 1 minute at a primer-specific annealing temperature, and extension for a primer-specific time period (1 or two minutes) and temperature (see Table 2.1). The annealing temperature in each step decreased in 2 °C increments, until a fifth and final primer-specific annealing temperature, which proceeded for 22 cycles. Each reaction ended with a 10-minute elongation period at the primer-specific extension temperature. Primers were labelled with fluorochromes and amplified DNA fragments were separated by capillary electrophoresis using an ABI 3130 Genetic Analyser (Applied Biosystems). Fragments were sized using Peak Scanner Software v1.0 (Applied Biosystems).

Table 2.1 Details of Bufo bufo microsatellite primers used in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3.Entries in bold face denote the loci used in this chapter. The remainder were added foranalysis in Chapter 3. Primers and protocols originally described by Brede et al. (2001)

Locus	Primer sequence (5′–3′)	Final annealing temperature (°C)	Extension temperature (°C)/time (mins)	Allele size range	Fluorescent dye used
Bbufµ11	F: GTCACATGGATAATAAATGAGACC	56	60 (2)	116-144	ATTO550
	R: TCTAATATTGATGACCAGACAACC				
Bbufµ13	F: AGCCTACATTGCTCAATCCGATAC	52	70 (1)	163-197	HEX
	R: GTGGCGTGGAGGGTCATAAAATC				
Bbufµ15	F: TCAATATAGGAGTCCCAGAATGTC	50	70 (1)	160-170	HEX
	R: AATCCCCTAGCGTACACAAGATAC				
Bbufµ24	F: TTTGGAGAGGGGAAAACTTCACAC	56	60 (2)	138-150	FAM
	R: CGGATTCTGTTGGGGGGTGCTC				
Bbufµ39	F: GATCCCCATCCACTGGTCA	45	70 (1)	192-198	HEX
	R: AAAAATGTCTCTTTCTCCCCTCTC				
Bbufµ46	F: GATTTCCTGCCGTGAGCCCAGTG	63	70 (2)	134-162	ATTO550
	R: CGCCCGCCAAACCTTCCTGAAC				
Bbufµ49	F: GATCTGGGCAGTGTTGGATTG	52	70 (1)	175-213	ATTO550
	R: ATTCCGTCTGCTAAATGTCTCTTG				
Bbufµ54	F: CATTGCGCTGCTGTCAGATTACAC	53	70 (2)	159-187	FAM
	R: TTAGGGATTGCCGTCCAGTTGTC				
Bbufµ62	F: GCACATTCCTGTGTCCGTGTATAG	50	70 (1)	184-204	HEX
	R: ATTCCGAAAACGAAAAGAAAAGAG				
Bbufµ63	F: TCGGGGCACCATCAAGTGTCAC	56	70 (2)	93-109	HEX
	R: ATCATCATGGTTAGCGGCTCTTG				
Bbufµ65	F: GGATCTAAGCGCTGTGAGAGTGA	52	70 (1)	160-212	FAM
	R: CGGTCCGTGTTACCACTGATGC				

2.2.3 POPULATION GENETIC ANALYSIS

Tests for linkage disequilibrium between pairs of loci, observed (H_o) and expected (H_e) heterozygosities, and pairwise F_{ST} values between populations were calculated using the software GENEPOP 4.4 (Rousset, 2008). Allelic richness values for each population were calculated using FSTAT (Goudet, 1995). Following Rousset (1997), isolation by distance was tested for using Mantel tests (10000 permutations) comparing linearised F_{ST} values ($F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST})$) with log-transformed pairwise geographic distances. These calculations were carried out using the *R* package VEGAN (Oksanen et al., 2018). A Kruskal-Wallis test was carried out in *R* version 3.5.0 (*R* Core Team, 2018) to compare F_{ST} values calculated for populations separated by sea and those separated by land. Spearman rank correlations between the mean of a population's F_{ST} values and both its allelic richness and expected heterozygosity were also calculated using *R*. STRUCTURE 2.3.4 (Pritchard et al., 2000) was used to identify the most likely number of genetic clusters (*K*) within the dataset. STRUCTURE uses a Bayesian iterative algorithm to assign to each sample probabilities of membership to a pre-defined number of clusters, each of which is characterised by patterns of allele frequencies at each

locus. Largely following Porras-Hurtado et al. (2013), 20 independent runs were performed for each value of *K* from 1 to 13, with 200 000 Markov chain Monte Carlo iterations after a burn-in of 200 000 iterations. The best-supported value of *K* was determined using ΔK , related to the rate of change in log probability between successive *K* values (Evanno et al., 2005), this analysis was carried out using STRUCTURE HARVESTER (Earl & vonHoldt, 2012). Replicates for each level of *K* were aligned using CLUMPP 1.1.2 (Jakobsson & Rosenberg, 2007) and graphical output was produced using DISTRUCT 1.1 (Rosenberg, 2004).

2.3 RESULTS

154 individuals across 11 populations were genotyped (range 9-31 individuals per population) with a PCR success rate of 91%. No loci pairs were found to be in linkage disequilibrium. For each population, the mean number of alleles per locus ranged from 5.38 for MAK, situated on the mainland, to 1.63 for PAB, situated on a small, isolated island (Table 2.2). Both mainland populations and one Skye population (SKB) showed higher levels of allelic richness (3.14-3.73) than all but one of the island populations (SCD). All loci were polymorphic on mainland and Skye populations, whereas four of the seven remaining island populations had at least one monomorphic locus, with four out of eight loci monomorphic on Pabay (Table 2.2). On Crowlin, four of eight loci deviated significantly from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, likely due to the sampling of siblings. Isolation by seawater was associated with marked population differentiation. F_{ST} values for populations separated by land (including the Skye Bridge) ranged from -0.1 to 0.13, whereas those between populations separated by sea ranged from 0.07 to 0.5 (Table 2.3), and these two groups of comparisons differed significantly (Kruskal-Wallis, p < 0.001). The allelic richness of a population was strongly negatively associated with its degree of isolation, as defined by the mean of the pairwise F_{ST} values calculated between it and all other populations (Spearman rank correlation coefficient -0.84, p = 0.001, Figure 2.1). Similarly, the expected mean heterozygosity of a population showed a non-significant tendency towards a negative correlation with mean F_{ST} (Spearman rank correlation coefficient -0.58, p = 0.062, Figure 2.1). A weak, but significant, isolation-by-distance effect was found (Mantel test, r = 0.23, p = 0.04).

Population type	Location	Site	n	A/L	AR	H	H	HW Disequilibria	ML	РА
Mainland		MAK	10	E 20	2 72	0.54	0.65	PhyfuE4	0	- 7
Mainianu	LOCITIAIN OIG, KYIE OI LOCITAISII	IVIAN	10	5.56	5.75	0.54	0.05	σσυμο4	0	/
Mainland	Toscaig, nr Applecross	MAT	10	4.50	3.14	0.51	0.51		0	2
Mainland (Skye)	Lochan Dubh, Broadford, Skye	SKB	11	3.88	3.33	0.36	0.41	Bbufµ39, 54, 65	0	2
Mainland (Skye)	Loch a Mhuilinn, Portree	SKP	20	4.25	2.73	0.49	0.51	<i>Bbufµ</i> 11, 65	0	2
Island	Pabay	PAB	19	1.63	1.57	0.26	0.20		4	0
Island	Loch Beag, Raasay	RAB	9	3.38	2.72	0.49	0.50		1	1
Island	Oskaig, Raasay	RAO	10	4.00	2.86	0.45	0.47	Bbufµ54	1	2
Island	Loch na h Iolaire, Rona	ROI	11	3.25	2.49	0.34	0.39		0	1
Island	Township reservoir, Rona	ROT	13	2.88	2.33	0.37	0.36	<i>Bbufµ</i> 46, 65	3	1
Island	East of Loch Dubh, Scalpay	SCD	10	4.50	3.30	0.56	0.58	Bbufµ11	0	3
Island	Crowlin	CRO	31	4.73	2.90	0.56	0.61	Bbufu11. 65. 15. 46	0	6

Table 2.2 Genetic variability parameters for 11 *Bufo bufo* populations characterised at 8 microsatellite loci.

n, number of individuals sampled; A/L, mean number of alleles per locus; AR, allelic richness; *H*_o, observed heterozygosity; *H*_e, expected hetrozygosity; ML, number of monomorphic loci; PA, number of private alleles.

Table 2.3 Pairwise *F*_{ST} **values for 11** *Bufo bufo* **populations.** Continuous box borders denote populations separated by land, the broken border denotes populations separated by land and the Skye Bridge, the remaining values show populations separated entirely by sea.

	MAK	MAT	SKB	SKP	PAB	RAB	RAO	ROI	ROT	SCD
MAT	0.04									
SKB	-0.01	0.05								
SKP	0.10	0.13	0.06							
PAB	0.32	0.38	0.34	0.32						
RAB	0.11	0.20	0.09	0.17	0.35		_			
RAO	0.15	0.30	0.18	0.23	0.37	0.07				
ROI	0.24	0.27	0.21	0.28	0.49	0.29	0.32		_	
ROT	0.30	0.36	0.30	0.37	0.50	0.33	0.32	0.05		
SCD	0.07	0.13	0.09	0.18	0.21	0.13	0.15	0.25	0.27	
CRO	0.13	0.22	0.11	0.20	0.40	0.17	0.24	0.28	0.32	0.20



Figure 2.1 Patterns of population differentiation (A) Boxplots comparing pairwise F_{ST} values between populations separated by sea and those separated by land. (**B**) Association between log-transformed geographic distance separating populations and their respective linearised F_{ST} values ($F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST})$). Spearman rank correlation between F_{ST} values averaged for each population and (**C**) allelic richness and (**D**) expected mean heterozygosity at each population

The log probability of numbers of clusters according to the STRUCTURE analysis increased from K = 1 through K = 7, with a modal value of ΔK at K = 4 (Figure 2.2). The four genetic clusters identified reflected their geographic context (Figure 2.3). Individuals sampled at all mainland

and Skye locations and the islands of Raasay and Scalpay were predominantly assigned to a single cluster, whereas each of the remaining three islands represented a distinct genetic unit (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.2 Estimated probability of data for each *K* **value in STRUCTURE analysis.** (A) Plot of mean likelihood, L(K), and variance across 20 replicates of each *K* value. (B) ΔK calculated using the Evanno, Regnaut and Goudet (2005) method. The modal value (*K*=4) is taken as the most probable number of clusters.



Figure 2.3 Genetic structuring and geographical distribution of sampled populations (A) Bar plot showing assignment of all sampled individuals to the 4 genetic clusters determined by STRUCTURE analysis. Each horizontal line denotes an individual, with the size of each colour bar corresponding to the probability of membership of each of four clusters. (B) The locations of *Bufo bufo* breeding populations sampled in this study. A three-letter site code and allelic richness value is shown for each pond. Each circle is coloured according to the proportion of assignments into each of the four clusters for each population. Inset shows the location of the study area in Scotland.

2.4 DISCUSSION

This study characterised patterns of genetic variability in a strongly spatially structured set of *B. bufo* populations on the north-western fringe of the species distribution. The principal findings are that seawater serves to isolate demes, producing high levels of population differentiation, and that loss of genetic diversity parallels degree of isolation. Given the low vagility of the species, the overall tendency for isolation by geographic distance found here is unsurprising. *F*_{ST} values were significantly higher for populations separated from each other by sea, with eight such estimates exceeding all previously reported values for this species (Brede & Beebee, 2004; Luquet et al., 2015a; Martinez-Solano & Gonzalez, 2008; Roth & Jehle, 2016; Seppä & Laurila, 1999; Wilkinson et al., 2007). The presence of monomorphic loci on the majority of island populations, coupled with their absence from mainland populations, also suggests that isolation by seawater has promoted

genetic drift. Generally, isolation was associated with decreased genetic diversity, as the mean of a population's pairwise F_{ST} estimations was significantly negatively correlated with its level of allelic richness. STRUCTURE analysis further emphasised the profound geographic influence on the partitioning of the four genetic units characterised in this system. Individuals sampled at all mainland sites and sites on the two islands closest to the mainland were predominantly assigned to a single cluster. Each of the remaining three genetic clusters was distinctly associated with each of the remaining three islands furthest from the mainland.

The *B. bufo* populations inhabiting the mainland and islands of this pocket of the Inner Hebrides thus follow the pattern shown by multiple plants and animals of the area; one shaped by a complex history of colonisation and eventual isolation by seawater. While humans have probably been influential in shaping the distribution of mammalian fauna in these islands (Berry, 1983), their role in mediating dispersal of the common toad is less clear. Similar to that of the common shrew (Sorex araneus) (White & Searle, 2008), the colonisation of islands in this area by common toads bears the hallmarks of natural dispersal from the mainland, possibly over land or ice bridges present following the last period of glaciation in the area. As shown here, distance from the mainland is associated with membership of distinct genetic clusters. Proximity to the mainland also dictates presence: despite human habitation, the common toad is absent from the more distant isles of the Inner Hebrides (e.g. Coll, Tiree, and Rùm), and entirely from the Outer Hebrides. The power of seawater in promoting population divergence does however contrast somewhat with previous examinations of B. bufo inhabiting sea islands. In characterising a set of mainland and island populations on the Norwegian coast, Roth and Jehle (2016) found little difference between F_{ST} values comparing populations separated by land and those separated by sea. This observation was in the context of substantial differentiation overall, however, and may be attributable to limited dispersal through a terrestrial habitat characterised by mountains and fjords. Seppä and Laurila (1999) reported extremely low F_{st} values between *B. bufo* populations situated across various islands in an archipelago of the northern Baltic Sea. They attributed this apparently unrestricted gene flow between islands to a tolerance in migrating juveniles of the low-salinity brackish water that characterised their study area. By contrast, the populations investigated in this study were separated by comparatively high-salinity seawater (Manders et al., 2010), likely exceeding the low salinity tolerance of *B. bufo* (Bernabò et al., 2013; Ferreira & Jesus, 1973), and therefore providing a

43

far more effective barrier to dispersal in this system.

Overall, *B. bufo* populations situated in the area of Skye, north-western Scotland, are characterised by variation in genetic diversity and marked differentiation facilitated by isolation by seawater. The genetic consequences of a fragmented habitat can impact phenotypic traits associated with fitness, and the patterns reported here serve as an opportunity to explore these impacts in the context of the emerging infectious disease, chytridiomycosis.

CHAPTER 3 BODY SIZE AND POPULATION OF ORIGIN, BUT NOT HETEROZYGOSITY, PREDICT SURVIVAL TO BD EXPOSURE IN THE COMMON TOAD

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Amphibians represent a particularly prominent illustration of the rapid and severe loss of biodiversity—regarded by some as this planet's sixth mass extinction—currently underway (Barnosky et al., 2011; Ceballos et al., 2015; Dirzo & Raven, 2003; Stuart et al., 2004). They constitute the most vulnerable major grouping amongst vertebrates: 40% of amphibian species for which there is sufficient data to make an assessment are classed as threatened, as compared with 25% of mammalian species and 13% of avian species (IUCN, 2018). Since the 1980s, declines in amphibian populations have been rapid and severe (Stuart et al., 2004) and have occurred in all biogeographic regions inhabited by amphibians, exceeding what would be expected from natural population fluctuations (Ceballos et al., 2015; Houlahan et al., 2000; Pounds et al., 1997; Wake & Vredenburg, 2008). While overexploitation and habitat loss have played a major role in many of these losses, almost half (47%) of the species defined as "rapidly declining" do not have these pressures, with many declines and extinctions occurring in protected and apparently pristine areas (Hero et al., 2004; Laurance et al., 1996; Pounds et al., 1997; Stuart et al., 2004). Chytridiomycosis, an emerging infectious disease caused by the fungal pathogen Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis (hereafter "Bd"), is increasingly recognised as a primary driver of these "enigmatic declines", as well as being the most devastating vertebrate disease ever recorded (Fisher et al. 2009; Skerratt et al. 2007; Becker & Zamudio 2011). Bd is an aquatic member of the phylum Chytridiomycota, a widespread and diverse group of fungi normally found as primary degraders and saprobes in soil and water (Berger et al., 1998; Longcore et al., 1999). Together with the recently-described Batrachochytrium salamandrivorans, now known to be responsible for declines of salamanders in Europe, it forms a genus unique amongst the Chytridiomycota for its pathogenicity to a vertebrate host (Berger et al., 1998; Martel et al., 2013). Pathogenesis remains somewhat obscure (Kilpatrick et al., 2010), but in metamorphosed individuals arises from infection and disruption of the epidermis, compromising the critical role the amphibian skin plays in maintaining electrolyte balance (Baitchman & Pessier, 2013; Voyles et al., 2007, 2009; Wu et al., 2018). The chytridiomycosis panzootic has been associated with a particular hypervirulent lineage

of Bd, known as the Global Panzootic Lineage (hereafter "BdGPL", Farrer et al., 2011). Bd has been detected on over 500 species across all continents barring Antarctica (Olson & Ronnenberg, 2014). The geographic origin of the pathogen has been the subject of much speculation, with Africa (Weldon et al., 2004b), North America (James et al., 2009; Talley et al., 2015), South America (Rodriguez et al., 2014), and East Asia (Bataille et al., 2013; Goka et al., 2009) all put forward as possible original sources. O'Hanlon et al. (2018), however, recently analysed the genomes, sequenced to a high depth, of a globally representative set of 234 isolates of *Bd*. They identified East Asia as a centre of high *Bd* diversity and probable geographic origin of the pathogen. Its geographic spread has likely been facilitated by the global trade in amphibians (O'Hanlon et al., 2018; Schloegel et al., 2012; Wombwell et al., 2016) and it has been implicated in the declines of over 200 species (Skerratt et al., 2007). There is variation, however, in how species respond to exposure to the pathogen, with some persisting despite its presence. For example, the Pacific chorus frog (*Pseudacris regilla*) in California, European water frogs (Pelophylax esculentus and Pelophylax lessonae) in Switzerland, and Litoria wilcoxii in Australia have remained unaffected in areas where sympatric species have suffered Bd-driven declines (Reeder et al., 2012; Retallick et al., 2004; Woodhams et al., 2012).

There can also be variation in response between populations of the same species. For example, in the Sierra Nevada of California, *Bd* has driven the rapid extinction of many populations of the mountain yellow-legged frog, *Rana muscosa*. However, some populations have persisted despite presence of the pathogen, suggesting survival and reproduction of infected individuals (Briggs et al., 2005). A hypovirulent lineage of *Bd*, *Bd*CAPE, is believed to have arrived on the island of Mallorca in the 1980s, infecting four populations of the endangered Mallorcan Midwife Toad (*Alytes muletensis*). The responses of these populations to the pathogen has varied: two sites at which infection prevalence was consistently close to 100% showed divergent population trends, with one declining almost to extirpation while the other increased in size. These contrasting outcomes were attributed to local environment effects and not host-pathogen dynamics or variation in host or pathogen genetics (Doddington et al., 2013).

Population-level variation in response to *Bd* has, however, been demonstrated on multiple occasions in controlled experiments on animals raised from eggs in standardised laboratory conditions, a phenomenon not readily explicable by abiotic factors. Bradley et al. (2015) investigated intraspecific variation in sensitivity of wood frogs (*Lithobates sylvaticus*) to *Bd*

through exposure experiments on animals originating from 10 different populations and raised from eggs to metamorphosis. They identified a significant association between population of origin and mortality rates, and speculate that this is driven by genetic differences between populations. Bataille et al. (2015) characterised population-level variation in *Bd*-driven mortality in laboratory experiments for Australian Alpine Tree Frogs (*Litoria verreauxii alpina*), and linked this to host major histocompatibility complex (MHC) characteristics. Luquet et al. (2012) demonstrated the subtle influence of population genetic effects on response to exposure to *Bd* by showing that tadpoles descended from isolated European treefrog populations with comparatively lower genetic variability, while showing no detectable infection, took longer to metamorphose and died more quickly when exposed to high doses. They concluded that genetic erosion reduced the capacity to invest in resistance, growth, and metamorphosis simultaneously.

Genetic erosion can come about in isolated populations through increased inbreeding and the fixation of deleterious alleles, and can have negative consequences for the fitness of individuals as well as the viability of populations (Couvet, 2002; Hale & Briskie, 2007; Whiteman et al., 2006). Genetic markers offer the opportunity to examine the role that genetic variability (e.g. heterozygosity) plays in determining fitness-related traits (Chapman et al., 2009; Reed & Frankham, 2003; Szulkin et al., 2010). However, the degree to which heterozygosity at typical genetic markers is reflective of genome-wide diversity in general, and at loci that have a bearing on fitness specifically, is context-dependent. Therefore, heterozygosity-fitness correlations as measured with microsatellites are overall weakly positive, at varying magnitudes across a wide variety of natural populations (Chapman et al., 2009; Coltman & Slate, 2003; Szulkin et al., 2010). While a quantitative review of studies in this field has identified a publication bias towards the reporting of significant results, the effect of this was not thought to change the general finding of weakly positive results (Chapman et al., 2009). A reduction in genetic diversity, and consequent impact on traits related to fitness, in fragmented and island populations has been demonstrated in multiple taxa (Eldridge et al., 1999; Keyghobadi, 2007; Westemeier et al., 1998).

Traits underpinning the capacity to mount defences against pathogens, or otherwise minimise the deleterious consequences of exposure, are of critical importance to fitness. These too can be influenced by genetic diversity. In laboratory experiments on leaf-cutting ants (*Acromyrmex echinatior*), more genetically diverse populations showed greater resistance to a fungal parasite (Hughes & Boomsma, 2004). In *Drosphila melanogaster*, inbreeding and loss of genetic diversity led to decreased resistance to a bacterial pathogen (Spielman et al., 2004). And in fish, inbred guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*) had higher parasite loads and lower capacity to clear infection. Such relationships have been shown in wild populations. In birds, New Zealand robins (*Petroica australis*) originating from a less genetically diverse reintroduced island population were found to have lower immunocompetence when compared with the larger source population (Hale & Briskie, 2007), and host population diversity correlated negatively with parasite burdens and positively with average immune responses in the Galápagos hawk (Whiteman et al., 2006). In mammals, microsatellite heterozygosity is associated with lower susceptibility to parasitism in Soay sheep (*Ovis aries,* Coltman et al., 1999), harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*, Rijks et al., 2008), and California sea lions (Acevedo-Whitehouse et al., 2003).

In the amphibian-Bd system, the role played by host genetic variability in influencing response to the pathogen remains unclear. Significant associations between heterozygosity and infection or survival have been recorded, although not always in the expected direction. In the case of immune genes, Savage and Zamudio (2011) found that MHC heterozygosity was predictive of survival in experimental infections of lowland leopard frogs (Lithobates yavapaiensis). However, Bataille et al. (2015) did not find MHC heterozygosity to be predictive of survival in their infection experiment on alpine tree frogs (Litoria verreauxii alpina), instead demonstrating an association between survival and specific MHC alleles. Using putatively neutral microsatellite loci, Savage, Becker and Zamudio (2015) found a negative association between heterozygosity and Bd prevalence in field-sampled Lithobates yavapaiensis. However, Wagner et al. (2017) found no such association in a survey of 19 populations of yellow-bellied toad (Bombina variegata). Furthermore, Addis et al. (2015) and Horner et al. (2017) find that probability of infection is increased in more heterozygous fieldsampled individuals of boreal toads (Bufo boreas) and ornate chorus frogs (Pseudacris ornata), respectively. Contrasting findings from separate field systems is not unexpected, and the potentially surprising finding of a positive association between Bd prevalence and heterozygosity could come about through multiple processes. Addis et al. (2015) speculate that, in their study, increased Bd prevalence and increased heterozygosity share the same cause: dispersal. Populations with greater levels of immigration are expected to have higher levels of heterozygosity but also higher probability of the arrival of infected individuals. Horner et al. (2017) offer two possible explanations for the same observed pattern. First, increased heterozygosity may be associated with greater effective population size, and

larger populations may better facilitate pathogen spread through density-dependant outbreak dynamics. Second, unrecorded previous outbreaks may have occurred in some populations, leading to selection for more resistant or tolerant genotypes, resulting in both lower heterozygosity and decreased incidence of *Bd*. Ultimately, however, the uncharacterised demographic, coevolutionary and epidemiological history of each unique system make the role played by host heterozygosity *per se* in mediating response to a pathogen difficult to discern from contemporary field-based data. To disentangle these issues, there is a clear need for laboratory-based experimental work examining the responses to *Bd* exposure in individuals derived from populations with no history of exposure to the pathogen.

Furthermore, aside from genetic variation, phenotypic properties such as body size may play an important role in indirectly mediating response to pathogen exposure. Given that such exposure will generally incur a cost to the host (Viney et al., 2005), it might be expected that hosts with better body condition, or greater mass, would be better equipped to incur these costs. While there is evidence that greater mass can be associated with a greater capacity to defend against pathogens and reallocate physiological resources into an immune response (Overturf et al., 2010; Wagland et al., 1984) and that superior body condition can facilitate investment in immune resources (Møller et al., 1998), the correlation between body size and resistance to a pathogen can often be negative (for example in mammals (Moore and Wilson, 2002; Harrison, Scantlebury and Montgomery, 2010)). For animals with complex life histories such as amphibians, body size at critical life stages can indeed have a major bearing on components of fitness. Greater mass at metamorphosis has been shown to be associated with increased viability and survival (Altwegg & Reyer, 2003; Beck & Condgon, 1999; Cabrera-Guzmán et al., 2013) and, in contrast to mammals, led to reduced effects of pathogen exposure (Bielby et al., 2015; Garner et al., 2011, 2009). Growth as well as body size has further been shown to be linked to multi-locus heterozygosity (Lesbarrères et al., 2007; Rowe et al., 1999).

Controlled experiments represent a valuable tool in disentangling the suite of mechanisms that drive variability in the effects a pathogen has on its host. In an extensive review of experimental studies in the amphibian-*Bd* system, Blaustein et al. (2018) make a number of recommendations. They identify a set of transparent protocols, and emphasise the importance of raising experimental individuals from eggs in standardised conditions. They also call for more studies that examine differences in population-level susceptibility. Using

49

controlled laboratory exposures meeting the recommendations of Blaustein et al. (2018), this study examines population- and individual-level variation in host response to *Bd* in the common toad (*Bufo bufo*). *Bd* has been detected on the skin of *B. bufo* in a number of localities across Europe including Great Britain (http://www.bd-maps.net/ [Accessed 06/03/2019]). The pathogen has been found to be associated with unusual mortalities in Spanish *Bufo spinosus* populations (Bosch & Martínez-Solano, 2006), but has not been conclusively linked with any population declines in *B. bufo*.

Partly as a result of its intermediate susceptibility to the pathogen, B. bufo has been used as a model species in laboratory infection experiments examining key questions surrounding the disease and its dynamics. For example, B. bufo tadpoles and metamorphs were used to demonstrate phenotypic variation between different isolates of Bd and highlight the hypervirulence of the BdGPL (Farrer et al., 2011; Fisher et al., 2009b). In investigating the possible influence of climate change on host and pathogen responses, Garner et al. (2011) used *B. bufo* to show that, while a warmer overwintering temperature was associated with an increased infection probability, it was also associated with a decreased infection burden, and overwintering temperature regime did not have a significant effect on eventual mortality. B. bufo has also been used to demonstrate that the consequences of exposure to Bd are not merely restricted to infection and direct mortality, but can manifest in lower mass at metamorphosis even in the absence of detectable infection, a possible result of the reallocation of energetic resources necessary in mounting a successful immune response against the pathogen (Garner et al., 2009). A consistent finding, however, in research on Bd and its effects on *B. bufo* has been the importance of body size in determining the consequences to the host of exposure. Lower post-metamorphic mass is associated with decreased survival probability as a result of Bd exposure, more so than dose of Bd administered and even infection status itself (Bielby et al., 2015; Farrer et al., 2011; Garner et al., 2011, 2009).

In this study, experimental *Bd* exposure was carried out on toadlets originating from four naturally fragmented wild *B. bufo* populations to test the hypotheses that heterozygosity and body size would be positively associated with survival time, and that survival would be influenced by population of origin. The study setup therefore aims to discern between phenotypic, genetic and geographic determinants to *Bd* susceptibility for *Bd*-naïve populations sharing an environment at a small spatial scale.

50

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1 ETHICS

All experiments were carried out under licence from the British Home Office according to the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 and after ethical approval from the Zoological Society of London's and Salford University's Ethics Committees.

3.2.2 STUDY SITES AND SAMPLE COLLECTION

Spawn was collected in March 2016 from four of the breeding ponds examined in Chapter 2. Two of these were mainland sites (MAK, MAT), one site was located on Skye (SKB), and one site was located on an isolated island (CRO) in the Inner Sound between Skye and the Applecross Peninsula (see Figure 3.1). Different clutches were sampled by collecting sections of approximately 100 eggs from individual egg strings. Spawn was transported to animal facilities at the Institute of Zoology, Zoological Society of London, in March 2016. These are assumed to be *Bd*-naïve populations though no extensive survey of the *Bd* status of UK amphibian populations has taken place since 2008. During that survey, the closest and most northerly site with a positive record for *Bd* was over 280 km south of this area in Dumfriesshire, Scotland (Cunningham & Minting, 2008).

3.2.3 ANIMAL HUSBANDRY

Clutches (*n* = 19, 3-6 clutches per population) were hatched in captivity in outdoor animal facilities in the Institute of Zoology, Zoological Society of London, housed separately in 9 L polypropylene boxes (Really Useful Products LTD, UK) containing dechlorinated aged tap water and an air-driven sponge filter system. Partial (approximately 20%) water changes, as well as feeding using crushed Tetra Tabimin tablets, were carried out every two days. After metamorphosis, individuals were housed by clutch in 360 x 210 x 160 mm terrestrial tanks (Faunarium, ExoTerra [®], UK) lined with moist paper towelling and containing a cover object, and fed hatchling crickets *ad libitum*. 90 days after the start of metamorphosis, toadlets were weighed and housed individually in 1 L polypropylene boxes (Really Useful Products LTD, UK) lined with a moist paper towel and containing a cover object. Experimental procedures took place indoors in a temperature controlled room at 18°C with a 12:12 h light:dark cycle.

3.2.4 BD EXPOSURE TRIALS

202 metamorphosed individuals originating from 19 clutches were randomly allocated into one of two experimental treatments: (I) exposure to a high dose of active *Bd* culture or (II) a

control group exposed to culture media alone. Treatments consisted of 9 bath exposures (3 per week) over a 21-day period. Bath exposures were carried out by placing each metamorph in a Petri dish filled with 30 ml of aged tap water and the appropriate media for four hours per exposure. The average dosage applied per session in the exposed group was 148,500 (range 40,500 – 382,500) zoospores per exposure in 450 µl of culture media, a high dosage for this species (Blaustein et al., 2018). Zoospore concentrations were calculated by counting live spores using a haemocytometer. The *Bd* isolate used was UK CORN'12 3.1, part of the global panzootic lineage, *Bd*GPL, collected from an alpine newt in Cornwall, United Kingdom in 2012. Mortality was recorded daily, and dead animals were removed and stored in 70% ethanol. Previous *Bd* infection experiments on the same species and life stage have been run for 24 (Bielby et al., 2015) or 40 (Garner et al., 2009) days. For an improved measure of survival rates, this experiment was run until 50 days after the initial exposure, at which point all surviving animals were euthanised according to Schedule 1 of the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986.

3.2.5 DNA EXTRACTION AND PCR PROTOCOLS

Experimental metamorphs were genotyped at 11 previously-characterised B. bufo microsatellite loci (Bbufµ11, Bbufµ13, Bbufµ15, Bbufµ24, Bbufµ39, Bbufµ46, Bbufµ49, Bbufµ54, Bbufµ62, Bbufµ63, and Bbufµ65 (Brede et al., 2001)) (Table 2.1). DNA was extracted from the hind foot using a Qiagen DNEasy extraction kit following the manufacturers protocol (Qiagen, UK). Concentration of extracted DNA was quantified using a NanoDrop Lite spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), and standardised to approximately 10 ng/ μ l. Microsatellite loci were amplified by PCR using the protocols described in Brede et al. (2001), with the exception of *Bbuf*µ11 which was found to yield more product at an annealing temperature of 56°C as compared with the recommended temperature of 44°C. All PCR reactions were carried out in a Veriti[™] 96-well thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems[™], UK). The total reaction volume was 10 µl, and contained 10 ng of genomic DNA, 5 pmol of each primer, 0.5 U Tag polymerase (BIOTAQ[™], Bioline Reagents Ltd, UK), 0.15 mM of each dNTP, 2 mM MgCl2, and 1 µl of 10x NH4 reaction buffer. Primers were labelled with fluorochromes and amplified DNA fragments were separated by capillary electrophoresis using an ABI 3130 Genetic Analyser (Applied Biosystems). Fragments were sized using Peak Scanner Software v1.0 (Applied Biosystems). The hind foot of each dead experimental metamorph was also sampled for screening for the presence of Bd, using the

qPCR assay protocol described in Boyle et al. (2004). DNA was extracted using Prepman[™] Ultra (Applied Biosystems), and samples were analysed in duplicate using a TaqMan [®] qPCR assay (Applied Biosystems) with four size standards representing 100, 10, 1, and 0.1 *Bd* zoospore genomic equivalents (*Bd*GE), and a negative control.

3.2.6 GENETIC AND STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Observed (H_o) and expected (H_e) heterozygosities were calculated using the software GENEPOP 4.4 (Rousset, 2008). Allelic richness values for each population were calculated using FSTAT (Goudet, 1995). To evaluate the factors influencing survival in response to exposure to Bd, a set of survival analyses were performed. Survival analysis is a class of statistics that focuses on the distribution of survival times, or time to an event, for a set of individuals within a particular observation window. In this instance, a set of survival times of metamorphs recorded for 50 days after initial exposure to Bd is considered. A common feature of such data is censoring, which applies to missing data pertaining to individuals for whom no event (hereafter "death") is recorded, either because they were lost from the data set beyond a particular time point for reasons other than death, or because they were alive when the observation period was terminated. In the case of this study, for example, the survival times of individuals still alive at the termination point are unknown, but they are known to exceed 50 days. The Kaplan-Meier (hereafter "KM"), or product limit, estimate, is a nonparametric method for calculation of the survival function of a sample, i.e. probability of survival to a particular time, which incorporates these incomplete observations (Kaplan & Meier, 1958). A graphical plot of the KM estimate against time consists of a series of declining steps, with each vertical line indicating a time point at which one or more deaths has occurred. If the dataset contains two or more groups of interest, for example population or size class in this study, their contrasting survival functions can be compared by plotting the KM curves separately. The statistical significance of any difference between the survival times of two groups can be formally tested using the logrank test (Peto & Peto, 1972). This test is based on the chi-squared statistic, and calculates whether the observed number of deaths in each group differs significantly from that expected under the null hypothesis that the survival functions are identical between groups. A Cox Proportional Hazards (hereafter "CPH") regression model extends this test by modelling the effect of multiple predictor variables and allowing the incorporation of continuous variables (Cox, 1972). This model regresses the hazard function on the explanatory variables. The hazard function can be

regarded as the probability of an individual experiencing death during a particular time interval having survived to that time interval. In a proportional hazards model, each covariate has a multiplicative effect on the baseline hazard function, either increasing or decreasing risk of death. This proportional effect is assumed to be constant across time, e.g. a covariate that doubles the hazard function at one time point should do so at all time points. The assumption of time-independence can, and should, be tested by examining the relationship between Schoenfeld residuals and time (Schoenfeld, 1982). Schoenfeld residuals represent the difference between the observed covariate and that expected for each death given the risk set for that time point. This is calculated for each individual for each covariate. If the relationship between the set of Scheonfeld residuals and time is non-random, then the assumption of proportional hazards has been violated. The CPH coefficient expresses the proportional effect per unit of the explanatory variable on the hazard function per unit time. A positive coefficient indicates an increased risk of death, and a negative figure indicates that the covariate in question is protective against death.

KM curves were produced to compare the survival rates between populations and also between large and small animals (for this, the entire sample was median-split into two groups based on mass, following the approach used by Garner et al. (2011) in creating categories of high and low mass loss and infection burden). CPH analysis was carried out to examine the effect of population of origin, individual mean heterozygosity, Bd infection burden (log transformed zoospore genomic equivalents (log₁₀(BdGE +1)) and body mass (cg). Each variable was tested to confirm it met the proportional hazards assumption and then evaluated individually with non-significant terms removed for the final model. These tests were carried out using the "Survival" package version 2.38 (Therneau, 2015) in *R* 3.5.0 (*R* Core Team, 2018)).

3.3 RESULTS

Table 3.1 summarises genetic variability parameters for each population. 202 individuals were genotyped across four populations (range 31-73 individuals) at 11 microsatellite loci, with a PCR success rate of 90%. High levels of allelic diversity were detected overall, with all loci polymorphic in all populations. CRO, the isolated island population, exhibited the lowest levels of heterozygosity and allelic richness.

Population type	Site	n	A/L	AR	H₀	He	PA
Island	CRO	31	4.73	4.48	0.56	0.61	4
Mainland	MAK	73	6.91	5.96	0.63	0.67	12
Mainland	MAT	54	7.27	6.14	0.59	0.68	11
Mainland (Skve)	SKB	44	6.27	5.73	0.58	0.67	9

Table 3.1 Genetic variability parameters for 4 *Bufo bufo* populations included in experiment. Characterised at 11 microsatellite loci.

n, number of individuals sampled; A/L, mean number of alleles per locus; AR, allelic richness; H_o, observed heterozygosity; H_e, expected heterozygosity; ML, number of monomorphic loci; PA, number of private alleles.

Within 50 days of the initial exposure, 72 (71%) of 101 metamorphs exposed to Bd died, whereas all of the 101 control animals survived. All experimental mortalities showed detectable Bd infection; 35% (10/29) of exposed animals surviving to the end of the experiment were recorded as infected, and no Bd was detected in the unexposed control group. Increased infection burden (log₁₀ (*Bd*GE +1)) significantly decreased survival probability (CPH coefficient 0.45, p < 0.001, Table 3.3). There was a tendency for infection burdens of experimental mortalities to decrease with time, though this relationship was significant in only one population (CRO, Spearman rank correlation coefficient -0.67, p =0.02, see Figure 3.4). Population of origin was a predictor of survival probabilities (logrank test = 12.6, df = 3, p = 0.006) with eventual survival varying between 18% (4/22) for SKB and 52% (14/27) for MAT (see Table 3.2). When compared to the population in which survival was highest (MAT), population membership significantly determined mortality when controlling for the effect of mass and infection (CPH coefficients ranging from 0.926 to 1.046, see Table 3.3). On a population level, isolation status and allelic richness did not predict survival. CRO, the isolated population showing the lowest allelic diversity, had higher survival than two of the three mainland sites (Figure 3.1). Individual mean heterozygosity did not predict survival rates (likelihood-ratio test = 0.12, df = 1, p = 0.729, and see Figure 3.4). Higher mass, however, significantly increased an individual's probability of survival following exposure to Bd, with an additional 1 cg leading to an approximately 4% decrease in mortality risk per day when controlling for population and infection burden (CPH coefficient in combined model: -0.038, p = < 0.001, see Table 3.3 and Figure 3.4). The dataset was median split by mass into a large and a small group. Figure 3.3 shows Kaplan-Meier curves comparing survival between the two groups, which differed significantly in survival rates (logrank test = 26.8, df = 1, p < 0.001). Median survival was 27 days for "small" individuals

and 46.5 days for "large" individuals. Individual mass itself did not vary significantly between populations (ANOVA: p = 0.3) and was not correlated with heterozygosity (Spearman rank correlation coefficient 0.05, p = 0.6).



Figure 3.1 Map of source populations for *Bd* **exposure experiments.** Icons are sized according to proportional survival after *Bd* exposure. Icon colour intensity reflects allelic diversity. Inset shows the location of the study area in Scotland.







Figure 3.3 Kaplan-Meier curves comparing survival of different size classes of metamorphs. All control animals (dashed-dotted black line) survived. Size classes were formed by median-splitting by mass.

Table 3.2 Population survival rates, median survival duration, and infection prevalence subsequent to exposure to *Bd* in *Bufo bufo* metamorphs. *Median survival time not applicable to MAT population as survival to 50 days exceeded 50% in this group.

				Population	Median	
	Population	Total		survival	survival time	Bd
Population	type	exposed	Total surviving	rate	(days)	prevalence
MAT	Mainland	27	14	0.52	NA/>50*	0.70
MAK	Mainland	37	7	0.19	28	0.86
SKB	Mainland (Skye)	22	4	0.18	28	0.86
CRO	Isolated island	15	4	0.27	42	0.80

Table 3.3 Cox Proportional Hazard (CPH) model for survival of Common Toad metamorphs exposed to *Bd*. Model included mass (per cg), infection burden ($\log_{10} Bd$ GE), and population of origin (for which CPH coefficients are with reference to the population with the highest survival, MAT). The non-significant term of heterozygosity has been removed.

Coefficient	SE	Z	Р
-0.038	0.009	-4.080	<0.001***
0.450	0.080	5.607	<0.001***
0.926	0.418	2.216	0.03*
0.937	0.344	2.722	<0.01**
1.046	0.382	2.735	<0.01**
	Coefficient -0.038 0.450 0.926 0.937 1.046	Coefficient SE -0.038 0.009 0.450 0.080 0.926 0.418 0.937 0.344 1.046 0.382	Coefficient SE z -0.038 0.009 -4.080 0.450 0.080 5.607 0.926 0.418 2.216 0.937 0.344 2.722 1.046 0.382 2.735



Figure 3.4 Responses of four *Bufo bufo* **populations to exposure to** *Bd* (A) Variation in infection prevalence and mortality rates between populations. (B) Spearman rank correlation of Infection burdens (log₁₀ *Bd*GE) against time of death (in days since initial exposure to *Bd*) recorded for all individuals that died prior to termination of the experiment. (C) Boxplots comparing distributions of mean multilocus heterozygosity and (D) masses (cg) between individuals that survived until the end of the experiment and those that died, for each of four populations.

3.4 DISCUSSION

Emerging in the 20th century, the amphibian-killing pathogen *Bd* is the cause of the most devastating panzootic ever recorded. Its reach is global, and the species it is capable of

infecting number in the hundreds. The circumstances in which it is found are thus diverse, and its impact varies. Negative consequences, such as disease-driven mortality and extinction, are highly context dependent, and resolving the factors that mediate susceptibility remains challenging. Each affected wild population has its own history of exposure to the pathogen and exists in its own unique set of potentially shifting biotic and abiotic environmental parameters. Controlled experiments are therefore crucial in developing our understanding of this host-pathogen system and disentangling its principal drivers.

Since 1999, over 100 experimental studies have been carried out on the amphibian-Bd system (Blaustein et al., 2018). They have provided insight into the role played by factors such as temperature (Andre et al., 2008; Sonn et al., 2017), pathogen dose (Carey et al., 2006; Garner et al., 2011, 2009), pathogen strain (Doddington et al., 2013; Farrer et al., 2011; O'Hanlon et al., 2018), host species (Bielby et al., 2015; Gervasi et al., 2017; Searle et al., 2011), host developmental stage (Abu Bakar et al., 2016; Ortiz-Santaliestra et al., 2013; Rachowicz & Vredenburg, 2004), microbiome (Bates et al., 2018; Burkart et al., 2017; Jani & Briggs, 2018), host behaviour (Venesky et al., 2011), and, as is reviewed and investigated here, host size, population identity, and genetic architecture (Bataille et al., 2015; Bradley et al., 2015; Burrow et al., 2017; Palomar et al., 2016; Savage & Zamudio, 2011). This study harnessed the standardisation that a laboratory environment affords, and found that, once other biotic and abiotic factors are held constant, Bd-induced mortality in amphibians with no prior evolutionary or lifetime history of exposure to the pathogen was predicted by population of origin and individual size, but not by heterozygosity at microsatellite loci. A significant relationship between body size and survival is consistent with previous findings, both in *B. bufo* (Bielby et al., 2015; Garner et al., 2011, 2009) as well as across several other species (Burrow et al., 2017; Carey et al., 2006; Kriger et al., 2006; Searle et al., 2011). In amphibians, size is generally associated with increased viability and probability of survival (e.g. Beck and Condgon, 1999; Altwegg et al., 2003; Cabrera-Guzmán et al., 2013). In the context of *Bd*, host body condition may confer a greater capacity to reallocate physiological resources in response to the costs associated with pathogen exposure, as has been proposed in other host-pathogen systems (Møller et al., 1998; Overturf et al., 2010; Wagland et al., 1984). In addition to the general increase in vigour that greater size can confer, allometric scaling relationships may render smaller animals especially vulnerable to a skin disease. Bd infection is confined to the epidermis in post-metamorphic animals, where it compromises

the osmoregulatory function of the skin, leading to electrolyte imbalance and associated pathologies (Voyles et al., 2009). Given that skin surface area and metabolic rate scale allometrically with mass in amphibians (Klein et al., 2016; White et al., 2006), smaller animals may be especially vulnerable to the disruption caused by cutaneous Bd infection. This phenomenon has been demonstrated in experimental Bd exposures of green tree frogs (Litoria caerulea), in which smaller infected animals exhibited higher rates of energetically costly skin sloughing, and suffered greater rates of ion loss than larger counterparts (Wu et al., 2018). While variation in body size in amphibians can be mediated by genetic factors (Lesbarrères et al., 2007; Rowe et al., 1999), this important phenotypic trait can also vary in response to environmental change. Research on long-term field data on *B.bufo* population demography, breeding success and morphometrics in the UK has identified a negative relationship between female toad body size and a warming climate, which was associated with decreased survival and fecundity (Reading, 2007). These findings, coupled with a projected expansion of the range of *Bd* in temperate zones of the Northern Hemisphere associated with a warming climate (Xie et al., 2016), suggest that the role played by host body size in amphibian chytridiomycosis may warrant greater attention.

Survival rates in response to exposure to Bd were also significantly associated with population of origin. This is consistent with previous experimental and field-based research (Addis et al., 2015; Luquet et al., 2012; Savage et al., 2015). It seems reasonable to propose that some characteristics of host genetic architecture drive such idiosyncratic populationlevel responses in standardised experimental conditions. It remains unclear what these characteristics are. Animals derived from an isolated island population (CRO) showed higher survival rates than those originating from two of the mainland populations (MAK, MAT), both of which displayed higher population-level allelic richness; moreover, individual-level heterozygosity was not predictive of survival probability. While susceptibility to Bd-driven mortality and infection has been linked to decreased variability in microsatellite markers (Luquet et al., 2012; Savage et al., 2015), this association has not been consistently identified (Wagner et al., 2017), and indeed the inverse relationship has been reported (Addis et al., 2015; Horner et al., 2017; May et al., 2011). Beyond neutral markers, characteristics of genes in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), which encode a family of cell-surface receptors central to the adaptive immune response, have been found to be associated with response to Bd. While heterozygosity at MHC loci has been linked with resistance in at least one context (Savage & Zamudio, 2011), there is increasing evidence that Bd-resistant

populations and individuals share particular MHC alleles (May et al., 2011; Savage & Zamudio, 2011), or characteristics of MHC peptide-binding pockets (Bataille et al., 2015), and that there are signs of directional selection at a particular MHC allele associated with survival in a laboratory infection experiment (Savage & Zamudio, 2016). Such features, and other important aspects of genetic architecture, tend not to be detectable through microsatellite-based analysis, which can even show contrasting patterns. For example, in comparisons between *Bd*-infected and *Bd*-uninfected wild populations of natterjack toad (*Bufo calamita*), May, Zeisset and Beebee (2011) found that while the *Bd*-infected population had higher levels of microsatellite diversity, it had reduced levels of MHC diversity, compatible with directional selection for particular alleles. However, scope for interpretation remains limited in such studies, and discerning the role of host genetic architecture in shaping interactions with *Bd* is made more complicated if interactions with *Bd* have had the opportunity to shape host genetic architecture.

By conducting controlled exposure experiments on animals originating from fragmented populations naïve to *Bd*, but raised from egg stage in standardised conditions, the present study excluded the possible roles of environmental factors, epidemiological history, and evolutionary adaptation in explaining patterns of response to pathogen exposure. Population-level variation in mortality was clearly demonstrated, and warrants further examination, but the role of genome-wide heterozygosity as measured at 11 microsatellite loci was not predictive of survival. A more detailed investigation of host genome characteristics may therefore help reveal the genetic factors that predict susceptibility to this emerging infectious disease.

CHAPTER 4 PROBING THE POWER OF HIGH-THROUGHPUT SEQUENCING TO CHARACTERISE GENETIC STRUCTURE AND IDENTIFY LOCI INFLUENTIAL IN ADAPTATION AND DISEASE

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Since the advent of polymerase chain reaction technology in the 1980s, molecular markers such as microsatellites have become essential tools in addressing a wide range of ecological questions through the characterisation of polymorphisms between individuals and genetic groups (Selkoe & Toonen, 2006). Microsatellites offer the potential to affordably genotype non-model organisms at multiple homologous co-dominant loci and, given their high mutation rates, are especially attractive for studies examining recent population divergence. However, drawbacks such as unclear mutational mechanisms, and the need to develop distinct primer sets for each species, still limit their utility. More recently, Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) have emerged as a powerful alternative molecular marker, offering the potential to genotype individuals at thousands of loci.

A SNP is a specific single base pair position along a sequence at which the nucleotide present can vary between individuals in a population, with the least common variant existing in at least 1% of individuals (Brookes, 1999). SNPs generally exist in one of two alternate states and are therefore biallelic. Though tri- and tetra-allelic loci can and do exist, they are extremely rare (Brookes, 1999 and references therein). As a consequence, SNPs are less polymorphic than microsatellites when considered individually. However, they are far more abundant in the genome, accounting, for example, for 90% of sequence variation in humans (Collins et al., 1998).

The development and ever-decreasing cost of next generation sequencing (NGS) technologies, enabling the parallel sequencing of thousands of DNA molecules, has unlocked the utility of SNPs for ecological and evolutionary studies (Andrews et al., 2016). NGS involves sequencing-by-synthesis. In this approach, DNA is fragmented into small pieces, and modifications such as barcode indices for sample identification and adaptors to enable attachment to the flow cell of a sequencer are added. On the flow cell, each fragment is amplified into a clonal cluster of forward strands through bridge amplification. To initiate sequencing, primers and fluorescently labelled dNTPs, each of which has a reversible 3' blocker to ensure that only one nucleotide is incorporated per round of sequencing, are then added. After each nucleotide is incorporated into the complementary strand, it is identified and recorded through laser excitation and imaging of its unique florescent dye, before this is
enzymatically cleaved off for a new cycle to begin. The length of the read is determined by the number of cycles. Each strand is read simultaneously within a given cluster and this process is carried out across hundreds of millions of different clusters in parallel (reviewed in Metzker, 2010).

The rapidly increasing throughput and decreasing cost of these technologies has enabled whole genome sequencing of entire study populations of focal species, such as Drosophila melanogaster (Lara et al., 2012) and humans (Indap et al., 2010). However, costs are still sufficiently prohibitive that whole genome sequencing of populations of non-model organisms carried out by smaller teams of investigators remains unfeasible. Strategies to reduce the representation of the genome, and thus increase the number of individuals affordably assayed, are therefore necessary (Davey et al., 2011). Restriction site-associated DNA sequencing (RADseq) has arisen in the last decade as an attractive technique for identification and genotyping of thousands of genetic markers across large numbers of individuals in non-model organisms at reasonable costs (Andrews et al., 2016; Davey & Blaxter, 2010). RADseq combines NGS technology with the utilisation of restriction enzymes, similar to the approach used for amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLPs, Vos et al., 1995). Genomic DNA is digested using a restriction enzyme, which recognises and cuts the DNA at a specific sequence of nucleotides. These "cut sites" number in the thousands, are distributed throughout the genome and, if no mutations have occurred within each short sequence, are homologous between individuals of the same species. Sequencing adaptors and unique sample-specific molecular barcodes are ligated to the resulting DNA fragments. A consistent set of RAD loci can thus be produced by sequencing the fragments of DNA adjacent to each cut-site (Baird et al., 2008). While the earliest variants of RADseq involved a mechanical shearing step to reduce the fragment size to an appropriate length for sequencing, resulting in variable fragment lengths at each locus (Baird et al., 2008), recent developments of the method have used a second restriction enzyme to further reduce the complexity of the genome (Peterson et al., 2012; Truong et al., 2012). This double digest RADseq approach (dd-RAD) uses a combination of a rare-cutting enzyme and a frequentcutting enzyme, creating an even distribution of fragments across the genome. Size selection is achieved either by gel cut or by preferential PCR amplification of small fragments (Andrews et al., 2016).

The power of RADseq techniques to affordably characterise thousands of genetic markers is increasingly being applied to ecological and evolutionary questions in non-model systems.

65

For example, Guo et al. (2016) examined the genetic basis for adaptation to high altitude in amphibians by pooling samples for each of 11 populations of Andrew's toad (*Bufo andrewsi*) distributed across an altitudinal gradient on the edge of the Tibetan Plateau. Using RADseq, they genotyped 15,557 SNPs and identified evidence of isolation by distance, as well as outlier loci putatively associated with local adaptation to altitude and temperature, though the functions of most of these were uncharacterised. Emerson et al. (2010) illustrated the potential for RADseq to reveal fine-scale phylogenetic divergence in a study-system for which no genomic resources had previously existed. They pooled DNA from six individuals from each of 21 populations of pitcher mosquito (*Wyeomyia smithii*) in eastern North America. Using 3,741 SNPs, they resolved both ancient divergence between a northern and a southern group, and recent postglacial divergence within the northern group. They highlight that these patterns were irresolvable using allozymes or mitochondrial sequences and further argue that the dense genome-wide sample of loci that RADseq provides removes the risk of sampling variation inherent in the significantly smaller number of loci typically assayed in microsatellite analysis.

The dd-RAD technique specifically has been deployed to investigate adaptation to local environmental conditions in wild populations. In investigating population structure of greenlip abalone (Haliotis laevigata) along an approximately 800km stretch of the southern Australian coast, Sandoval-Castillo et al. (2018) used dd-RAD to define a set of neutral and putatively adaptive loci. They showed low differentiation amongst neutral loci, but discrete structure was revealed in the distribution of adaptive loci, associated with sea surface temperature and oxygen concentration. Amongst these loci were genes associated with high temperature or oxygen tolerance. Similarly, dd-RAD was used by Termignoni-García et al. (2017) to highlight a pattern of isolation by environment in the distribution of putatively adaptive loci in the Yucatan jay (Cyanocorax yucatanicus), a bird endemic to the Yucatan peninsula. They showed low spatial genetic structure amongst neutral loci, but proposed that climatic conditions drove patterns of variation amongst candidate adaptive loci. Studies using RADseq to examine host defence against pathogens in wild populations are beginning to emerge. Batley et al. (2018) used dd-RAD to identify candidate genes involved in susceptibility to Cetacean morbillivirus (CeMV), a highly infectious virus thought to be involved in unusual mortality events in cetaceans. They compared samples from 17 Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops aduncus*) who had died during an unusual mortality event in South Australia in 2013, and had tested positive for CeMV, with 21 "control"

samples taken from live, and presumably healthy, individuals within the same population. Out of 35,493 genotyped SNPs, they found 65 for which allele and genotype frequencies differed significantly between "cases" and "controls", of which they identified eight candidate genes for disease risk, with functions relating to pain, stress, and immune responses.

The potential for SNP markers to reveal the genetic underpinnings of host defence against *Bd* remains largely unexplored. Kosch et al. (2018) used Diversity Array Technology sequencing (DArTseq) to genotype 3,245 SNPs for use in a Genome-Wide Association Study (GWAS) based on a *Bd* infection experiment using individuals sampled from four populations of the southern corroboree frog (*Pseudophryne corroboree*). DArTseq uses a combination of restriction enzymes to target low-copy DNA areas, thus preferentially representing areas more likely to contain genes (Melville et al., 2017, and references therein). The GWAS failed to find significant SNPs associated with *Bd* load or *Bd*-driven mortality, however the most significant variants were homologous to genes associated with immune response and host reproduction.

This chapter examines the increased capacity over traditional microsatellite markers of a SNP dataset, generated through dd-RAD, to characterise patterns of genetic variability in a set of individuals sampled from four common toad (*Bufo bufo*) populations. The same individuals are genotyped using both types of markers, with the same genetic analyses applied to the resulting datasets. Additionally, preliminary investigations are made into identifying loci that may be involved in defence against *Bd* exposure.

4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1 STUDY SYSTEM AND SAMPLE ORIGINS

Samples originated from the individuals exposed to *Bd* in the experiment described in Chapter 3. Briefly, common toad (*B. bufo*) spawn was collected from a fragmented set of four populations on the range edge of the species distribution in north western Scotland. These were raised through metamorphosis in standardised conditions and exposed to *Bd* in a controlled experiment, with the consequent survival duration recorded. See Chapter 3 for details. In order to meet the constraints imposed by the dd-RAD procedure on number of individuals it was reasonably possible to process, the original set of 101 exposed individuals was reduced to 95 by randomly removing 6 individuals from the most well-represented population (MAK). The resulting panel of samples constituted 15 individuals from CRO, 31 from MAK, 27 from MAT, and 22 from SKB.

4.2.2 DNA EXTRACTION PROTOCOL, DD-RAD LIBRARY PREPARATION, AND SEQUENCING Chapter 3 describes the protocol for production of the microsatellite dataset. For dd-RAD SNP genotyping, the following procedure was followed: DNA was extracted from the hind foot of each toadlet using a Qiagen DNEasy Blood and Tissue extraction kit following the manufacturers protocol (Qiagen, UK). DNA concentration was assessed by fluorometry using a Qubit 3.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA), and was normalised to 20 ng/uL. To verify standardised concentration, and ensure extracted DNA was of high molecular weight and free of contaminants and degradation, every sample was visualised on a 1.5% agarose gel. Preparation of dd-RAD libraries and next generation DNA sequencing were performed by Floragenex (OR, USA) following the protocol of Truong et al. (2012). Complexity of genomic DNA was reduced by double-digesting with a combination of rare and frequent cutting endonucleases (*Pst*I and *Mse*I, respectively), followed by ligation with Floragenex adaptors with individual indexes. 1x100bp single end sequencing was performed on the resulting PCR-generated library using an Illumina HiSeq 4000 (CA, USA).

4.2.3 DE NOVO SNP DISCOVERY AND GENOTYPING USING STACKS

Raw sequences were filtered and demultiplexed using the process_radtags pipeline in STACKS 2.0 (Catchen et al., 2013). Reads with an uncalled base were discarded, as were reads containing a 15 bp window in which the average quality dropped below a phred score of 10 (i.e. a 90% probability of being correct). Barcodes and RAD-tags containing 1 mismatch to an expected sequence were retained.

In the absence of a reference genome for *B. bufo*, a *de novo* assembly was produced and analysed using STACKS. STACKS consists of a number of pipelines that together take raw reads and, based on sequence similarity, identify putative alleles and loci within an individual sample, before building a catalog of alleles and loci for the population of samples. Broadly speaking, the principal parameters in STACKS control the levels of sequence dissimilarity tolerated within alleles and loci, and thus define the loci, and ultimately the reads, that are incorporated into the analysis. Parameter selection requires balancing the risk of failing to distinguish between convergent sequencing errors and genuine polymorphisms against that of merging paralogous loci together.

Firstly, across the thousands of raw reads within each individual sample, exactly matching

reads are assembled together into "stacks". Each stack can be thought of as a putative allele. The minimum number of matching reads that must be present for a stack to be retained for further analysis is set by the *m* parameter. If, for example, *m* is set to 3, any stacks containing just two matching reads are set aside and considered secondary reads, which can be incorporated at a later stage. As *m* is increased, so too is the risk of rejecting genuine alleles and not incorporating them in future analyses. However, decreasing *m* increases the risk of erroneously considering reads with convergent sequencing errors as distinct alleles. Once a set of putative alleles is created, these are then merged into putative loci, which are identified based on sequence similarity between stacks. Within an individual sample, the level of dissimilarity permitted between alleles within a locus is controlled by the M parameter. Setting M therefore controls the balance between undermerging and overmerging loci. If set too low, a genuine polymorphic locus might be falsely considered as two monomorphic loci. If set too high, distinct repetitive or paralogous loci may be incorrectly merged together as single loci. Once a set of loci are identified, the secondary reads set aside in the initial step can be incorporated using a more relaxed nucleotide mismatch value (set by the N parameter). The next stage of the procedure takes the data thus far produced for each individual, and builds a catalog of loci containing all the loci and alleles in the population. A locus that is polymorphic across a population may be monomorphic and differentially fixed within individuals. It is therefore necessary to identify and merge such loci across samples to form the correct catalog locus. The number of nucleotide differences permitted within catalog loci is set by the *n* parameter. Similar considerations apply to setting this value as do to the *M* parameter (the number of mismatches permitted between stacks in merging them into loci within an individual): setting it too low risks falsely considering a single polymorphic locus as multiple independent loci, and setting it too high risks incorrectly merging together multiple distinct but similar loci. Failure to correctly characterise polymorphic loci differentially fixed in different groups of individuals is especially undesirable as these loci are particularly informative in population genetic analyses.

The optimal values for each parameter will vary dependent on the dataset involved, governed by multiple factors including the level of polymorphism and ploidy in the system being investigated, the type of RAD procedure used, and issues stemming from library quality such as degradation of DNA and contamination (Paris et al., 2017). Thus, given the idiosyncrasy of each dataset, there is no pre-defined set of parameter values to deploy, and these must instead be ascertained by examining the effect of a range of values on the patterns and numbers of alleles and loci identified. For this study, the procedure developed by Paris, Stevens, & Catchen (2017), and further elaborated by Rochette & Catchen (2017), was followed to identify an optimal set of parameter values for analysis.

Firstly, to enable efficient testing of parameter values, a subset of samples representing the population was selected. This consisted of between one and two representatives of each clutch in the database, numbering 35 individuals in total. The STACKS *de novo* pipeline was then run a number of times while varying parameter values and measuring the number of polymorphic loci found across at least 80% of all samples (the *r80* loci, per Paris, Stevens, & Catchen, 2017) to identify a stable set of values. The minimum stack depth, *m*, was initially kept to the default value of 3, which performs well across a variety of datasets (Paris et al., 2017; Rochette & Catchen, 2017). *M* and *n*, which control the number of mismatches permitted between two alleles of an individual heterozygote locus, and two alleles in a locus across a population, respectively, were kept equal and run for every value from 1 to 9. By visualising the results of each of these runs, a set of parameter values was chosen to apply to the entire dataset. There are no explicit criteria that unambiguously define an optimal set of parameter values, but, largely following Rochette & Catchen (2017), values above which the number of widely shared polymorphic loci, the depth of coverage, and the distributions of SNPs per locus plateau were selected (see section 4.3.1 and Figure 4.2).

The chosen parameters were then applied to the whole dataset. Including every sample in the catalog of population loci adds noise (Rochette & Catchen, 2017), so the ten samples showing the highest coverage in each population (40 samples in total) were selected to form the catalog. SNP genotype calls were improved using the rxstacks component of STACKS. Using this unit, genotype calls were recomputed within an individual based on population-wide haplotype frequencies, and single catalog loci that matched multiple loci (i.e. confounded loci) in more than 10% of samples were removed. A new catalog was then produced with the improved genotype calls included and the problematic loci removed. Prior to exporting the genotype calls from STACKS for downstream analysis, the dataset was filtered. In addition to only retaining loci present in at least 80% of samples (the *r80* loci), loci with a minor allele frequency lower than 0.05 and an observed heterozygosity greater than 0.70 were removed.

4.2.4 GENETIC ANALYSES

Exploratory genetic analyses were implemented using the ADEGENET package in R on both the microsatellite and SNP datasets (Jombart, 2008; R Core Team, 2018). Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was first performed to visualise structure in the patterns of genetic variability between individuals. After transforming the data using PCA, Discriminant Analysis of Principal Components (DAPC, Jombart et al., 2010) was used to identify clusters of genetically related individuals. While PCA characterises the overall variability between individuals, including both between-group and within-group variability, DAPC seeks to maximise between-group variation whilst minimising within-group variation. Individuals were assigned into genetic clusters using k-means, a clustering algorithm that identifies a given number (k) of groups. This was performed without providing prior information on the populations of origin, and was run sequentially using increasing values of k. These runs were compared using the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), with the preferred value of k defined by the elbow of the curve of BIC values when graphed against increasing values of k. To assess the number of SNP loci necessary to confidently assign individuals to the correct genetic cluster, the SNP dataset was sub-sampled with 10 random draws for successive numbers of loci with the proportion of individuals accurately assigned plotted against the number of SNP loci.

The *R* package PCADAPT 4.0.3 (Luu et al., 2017, 2018) was used to identify SNPs putatively marking local selection. This package calculates a Mahalobonis distance (a measure of the number of standard deviations between a given point and the mean of a distribution on a principal component axis) for each SNP and detects outliers that do not follow the distribution of the main bulk of points. A list of candidate outlier SNPs was generated with an expected false discovery rate set lower than 10%. A BLAST search (Zhang et al., 2000) was then run with the sequences associated with these SNPs against the NCBI nucleotide collection (nt) database with a 1e⁻⁰⁵ e-value cut-off. To assess the influence of outlier loci in forming genetic structure as characterised through PCA, a second PCA was performed on the SNP dataset with outlier loci removed.

A preliminary analysis was carried out to identify SNP loci associated with survival after *Bd* exposure. Each population was median-split into "susceptible" and "resistant" groups based on number of days survived during the experiment detailed in Chapter 3. A DAPC was then performed within each population using each of these groups as priors. SNP loci most contributing to variation along the resulting discriminant function were identified.

71

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 DE NOVO SNP DISCOVERY AND GENOTYPING USING STACKS

The number of reads retained after demultiplexing, verification of RAD-tags, and quality filtering ranged between 1.30 and 5.11 million per individual, with mean number of reads at 3.50 million. This was after removal of one sample from the SKB population, which was excluded from the data set from this point forward due to the abnormally low number of reads returned (< 15,000). Average reads per individual ranged between 3.31 and 3.67 million across the four populations (see Figure 4.1).





The number of SNPs and polymorphic loci identified by the STACKS pipeline on the test subset of samples steadily decreased with increasing values of the M and n parameters while the mparameter was fixed at 3. No single parameter value resulted in a major shift in the patterns of loci identified, but the depth of coverage per locus, the number of polymorphic loci returned, and the distribution of the number of SNPs per locus all stabilised at M and n = 4(Figure 4.2). This value was chosen for further analysis on the entire dataset, resulting in a final selection of 10,884 polymorphic loci shared by 80% of all individuals after filtering.



Figure 4.2 Selection of STACKS parameters for *de novo* **analysis.** The number of loci (solid line) and polymorphic loci (dashed line) shared by 80% or more of the test dataset gradually decreased with increasing value of the *M* and *n* parameters (**a**) with an accompanying minor increase in average coverage depth which plateaus between 3 and 5 (**b**). This is also the range at which the proportions of loci with 1-4 SNPs stabilises (**c**).

4.3.2 GENETIC ANALYSES

PCA on the SNP dataset revealed a probable occurrence of mislabelling, in which two samples which were originally processed consecutively were found to cluster well within each other's population. It was judged that these samples had been swapped, and they were removed from both datasets for any subsequent analysis.

The microsatellite dataset did not show discernible differentiation between the three mainland populations. However, CRO, the isolated island population, was clearly separated, especially along the second PC axis (Figure 4.3, a). Minimal structure was resolved along the third axis Figure 4.3, c). In contrast, the SNP PCA showed clear separation between, and tight clustering within, all four populations along the first three PC axes (Figure 4.3, b and d).



Figure 4.3 Comparison of PCA plots generated from microsatellite and SNP dataset analyses. Using the microsatellite dataset, the three mainland populations are not well differentiated along the first two PC axes (a) and no structure is apparent along the third axis (c). By contrast, PCA based on the SNP dataset reveals four well differentiated groups across the first three PC axes, corresponding to four populations from which the individuals were sampled (b, d).

The number of clusters inferred by the *k*-means algorithm, based on the value of *k* at which the elbow of the BIC curve occurred, was 4 for both the microsatellite and SNP datasets (Figure 4.4). This is equal to the number of populations from which the individuals were sampled. However, assignment of individuals into genetic clusters based on microsatellites did not universally correspond with the population of origin (Figure 4.5, a). The isolated island, CRO, was again well differentiated, with 13 out of 15 (87%) individuals assigned into

the same cluster. Assignment of individuals from the other three populations into clusters was more ambiguous: the inferred cluster containing the most individuals from the MAK population contained just 15 out of the 30 members of that population (50%). The equivalent figures for MAT and SKB were 14 out of 27 (52%) and 15 out of 20 (75%), respectively. Overall, interpreted this way, accuracy of assignment into inferred genetic clusters using the microsatellite dataset was 62%. Four clusters were also inferred based on the SNP dataset but, in this case, the assignment of individuals into these clusters corresponded 100% with the populations of origin (Figure 4.5, b). The filtered SNP dataset contained 10,884 loci, but random sub-sampling of these loci showed that assignment into the correct cluster was near perfect using just 30 loci or more (Figure 4.6). A DAPC plot based on the microsatellite dataset illustrated its increased power to discriminate between groups, with the three populations MAK, MAT, and SKB, formerly

indistinguishable based on PCA alone, mostly clustering together along the first two principal components (Figure 4.7, a). The corresponding plot based on the SNP dataset shows strong discrimination between the four original populations (Figure 4.7, b).

PCADAPT analysis identified 531 loci as potential outliers. The comparative lack of genomic resources for this species, and amphibians in general, limited interpretation of these. A BLAST search against the NCBI nucleotide collection (nt) database yielded results for 18 of the associated sequences (e-values ranging from 8e⁻⁰⁶ to 1e⁻³⁹). 5 of the 10 most significant matches were to amphibian species, but these were not adequately characterised to infer function. Removal of the outlier loci from analysis had a negligible effect on the PCA plot (Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.4 Inference of the number of clusters identified in the microsatellite and SNP datasets The chosen number of clusters, based on the elbow of the curve of BIC values, was 4 for both the microsatellite (a) and SNP (b) datasets.



Figure 4.5 Assignment of individuals into genetic clusters inferred by *k* **means algorithm.** Using the microsatellite dataset (**a**), 62% of individuals were assigned into the cluster that best represented their population. Assignments into genetic clusters based on the SNP dataset corresponded perfectly with population of origin (**b**).



Figure 4.6 Power of SNP loci to correctly assign individuals to populations.



Figure 4.7 Comparison of DAPC plots generated from microsatellite and SNP dataset analyses DAPC based on the microsatellite dataset (**a**) shows increasing power to discriminate between groups, with however considerable overlap remaining along the first two PC axes. In contrast, DAPC on the SNP dataset (**b**) tightly clusters individuals within their respective populations, which are themselves well separated along both axes.



Figure 4.8 PCA plot generated using entire SNP dataset (a) compared with one produced after removal of outlier loci identified through PCAdapt analysis (b) Removal of 531 potential outliers resulted in a negligible change in the PCA.

Accession					
number	Description	Bit score	E value	Identities	Gaps
GU129140.1	Salmo salar IgH locus B genomic sequence	172	1.00E-39	93/93 (100%)	0/93 (0%)
AC146680.3	Gasterosteus aculeatus clone CH213-10I3, complete sequence	139	1.00E-29	81/84 (96%)	0/84 (0%)
AJ512448.1	Rana lessonae transposon lesBam, clone 2	128	2.00E-26	75/78 (96%)	0/78 (0%)
AC175575.2	Xenopus tropicalis clone ISB1-101C8, complete sequence	121	4.00E-24	65/65 (100%)	0/65 (0%)
XM_015958244.1	PREDICTED Nothobranchius furzeri alpha kinase 1 (alpk1), transcript variant X3, mRNA	119	1.00E-23	89/100 (89%)	5/100 (5%)
AC146873.3	<i>Xenopus tropicalis</i> clone CH216-71K21, complete sequence	115	2.00E-22	62/62 (100%)	0/62 (0%)
AJ512447.1	Rana saharica transposon sahBam	115	2.00E-22	77/84 (92%)	1/84 (1%)
LN590709.1	<i>Cyprinus carpio</i> genome assembly common carp genome, scaffold: LG5, chromosome: 5	110	8.00E-21	84/96 (88%)	2/96 (2%)
CP020796.1	Oryzias latipes strain HNI chromosome 18	99	2.00E-17	81/95 (85%)	0/95 (0%)
AY037817.1	Bufo bufo microsatellite Bb46 sequence	73.1	1.00E-09	45/48 (94%)	0/48 (0%)

Table 4.1 The 10 most significant matches arising from a BLAST search of outlier loci identified through PCAdapt analysis

DAPC analysis did not show clear discrimination between "susceptible" and "resistant" groups of individuals within each population (Figure 4.9). None of the 20 alleles most contributing towards variation along the discriminant function within each population were shared across populations.







Variables





4.4 DISCUSSION

An asset of microsatellite markers over older technology is the potential to genotype individuals at multiple loci simultaneously (Selkoe & Toonen, 2006). This chapter illustrates the ability of SNP markers to inflate that asset almost a thousandfold. The microsatellite dataset comprised 11 loci, a number itself exceeding previous microsatellite studies on this species (Brede & Beebee, 2004; Luquet et al., 2015b; Martinez-Solano & Gonzalez, 2008; Roth & Jehle, 2016; Wilkinson et al., 2007), but this was compared with a SNP dataset numbering 10,884 loci after filtering (though it should be remembered that, while microsatellites are highly polymorphic, SNPs are biallelic). While the increase in power offered by such a dataset is impressive, great care must be taken in the type of bioinformatic processing undertaken, as choices taken here can have major impacts on the outputs of any downstream population genetic analysis (Shafer et al., 2017). In this study, the sTACKS *de novo* pipeline was used, which has been shown to yield consistent results if a reference genome is absent (Shafer et al., 2017). Current best practice was followed in selecting the parameter values in this analysis, resulting in values consistent with those that perform well in other datasets (Paris et al., 2017; Rochette & Catchen, 2017).

The capacity of the increase in density of the resulting dataset to discern patterns in genetic variability was obvious. While PCA and DAPC analyses on the microsatellite dataset showed separation of the isolated island population, reinforcing the observations made in Chapter 2 on the importance of seawater in influencing population divergence in this system, there was overlap between the remaining three more connected populations, which were well resolved under the equivalent analyses using the SNP dataset. While this is likely due to the lower power offered by microsatellites, it is also worth bearing in mind that differences in patterns of variation between SNPs and microsatellites do not arise solely through the different numbers of loci assayed. The mutation rates of microsatellites are significantly higher than those of SNPs (Morin, Luikart, & Wayne, 2004, and references therein) and the markers therefore inherently reflect dynamics on different timescales. However, microsatellites are thus expected to be more sensitive to more recent population divergence, which would imply historical allopatry followed by more recent sympatry in these populations if the varying patterns reported here are taken as reflecting biological reality.

A striking aspect of this analysis was the ability of SNP genotypes generated through dd-RAD, combined with modern analytical techniques, to accurately detect patterns of genetic

variability in set of samples not optimised for population genetic inferences, taken as it was from a limited number of families. Unlike Bayesian clustering algorithms such as STRUCTURE, DAPC does not rely on pre-defined population genetics models which depend on assumptions which may be violated in this dataset. No prior information on population identities was incorporated into this analysis, yet the number of clusters, and assignment of individuals into those clusters, perfectly corresponded the origins of the samples. Figure 4.5 and Figure 4.7 offer compelling illustrations of the power of these techniques. A feature of a set of SNP loci produced through RADseq is that it will contain a sample of coding, noncoding, and regulatory regions of the genome. It is therefore possible to identify loci involved in local adaptation or in traits such as disease response. Though in this analysis 531 loci were identified as outliers from neutral expectations with respect to population divergence, the absence of a reference genome for the study species precludes characterisation of the function of these loci. Also, in contrast to the study of Guo et al. (2016), who reported directional selection along an altitudinal gradient, this chapter did not set out to measure local adaptation, and the study sites were chosen based on ecological similarity.

DAPC failed to identify alleles consistently associated with disease response, i.e. varying survival, across populations. Similarly, Kosch et al. (2018) found no SNPs showing significant associations with *Bd*-driven mortality or infection load in their experiments. These findings are perhaps not surprising. Disease response can be a complex trait, dependent on a modest contribution of many genes together with complex gene regulatory networks (Boyle et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the dataset considered here may yet yield more insights, and be amenable to a GWAS approach similar to that employed by the Kosch et al. (2018) study. There are important considerations to bear in mind before such future research is conducted, however. It must be emphasised that RADseq only samples a subset of the genome, a matter of particular relevance for studies of amphibians, whose genomes are comparatively large. For example, the genome of *B.bufo*, the species studied here, is approximately 11 Gb in size (Vinogradov, 1998). This does not render invalid any findings of strong associations between particular loci and phenotypic traits, it is simply a reminder that a large fraction of the genome is left out of consideration in GWAS analyses based on RADseq (Lowry et al., 2017, but see McKinney et al. 2017 and Catchen et al., 2017).

For over a decade, GWASs have yielded important discoveries in human population genetics, disease biology, and therapeutics (reviewed in Visscher et al., 2017). However, association studies in wildlife populations present particular challenges (reviewed in Santure and Garant, 2018). A principal constraint is the number of wild individuals that can practicably be genotyped and phenotyped, as well as the density of markers and proportion of the genome missing from reduced representation approaches. Studies on wild populations may also involve samples that contain related individuals which, if left unaccounted for, can lead to spurious associations between genomic traits and phenotype.

While the application of GWAS to investigate the genetic traits underpinning response to disease in wild populations remains limited, there is some promise in this approach. Wright et al. (2017) sequenced the genomes of Tasmanian devils (*Sarcophilus harrisii*) that had recovered from the otherwise fatal devil facial tumour disease (DFTD), a transmissible cancer that threatens the species with extinction. They compared these to the genomic regions. The confirmation of a genetic basis for survival was linked with two key genomic regions. The confirmation of a genetic basis for survival in the face of this disease may suggest the potential for the phenotypic traits associated with recovery to naturally increase in frequency in the wild, and, as the authors speculate, may even lead to novel treatments in the future.

The pursuit of an understanding of the genetic underpinnings of response to *Bd* would be greatly aided by an increased availability of amphibian genomic resources. There is information latent in the present dataset that awaits a reference genome to unlock it. Calboli et al. (2011) have argued that, given the recency and scale of the *Bd* epizootic, amphibian genomics could provide an unprecedented real-time multi-species insight into the evolution of host pathogen interaction. This, coupled with the potential utility that such insight could bring to the conservation of the world's most threatened vertebrate group, highlights the missed opportunity that the current underrepresentation (Calboli et al., 2011; Koepfli et al., 2015) of amphibians in the list of completed vertebrate genomes constitutes.

CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUDING REMARKS

5.1 KEY FINDINGS

This aim of this thesis was to examine how natural amphibian populations vary in their genetic characteristics and responses to disease and to identify predictors, both genetic and phenotypic, of *Bd*-driven mortality. In investigating these questions, the following key findings were made:

- The populations of common toads around Skye, north west Scotland, were characterised by strong genetic fragmentation and varying levels of allelic diversity. Seawater shaped the spatial genetic structure of this system by isolating island populations, which showed lower levels of genetic variability (Chapter 2).
- 2. Survival in response to exposure to *Bd* varied significantly depending on the population of origin of the individuals concerned, but this was not associated with population-level allelic diversity (Chapter 3).
- 3. Individual heterozygosity was not associated with *Bd*-driven mortality. Body size, however, was significantly positively correlated with survival time (Chapter 3).
- 4. Analysis of a SNP dataset revealed genetic structuring not discernible based on microsatellite genotyping of the same individuals (Chapter 4).
- 5. Outlier SNPs putatively related to local adaptation were identified, but it was not possible to characterise their function. No loci with a clear association to disease response were identified (Chapter 4).

5.2 GENERAL DISCUSSION

Bd has, over the course of decades, attained a global distribution to affect over 500 species of amphibians. The global trade in amphibians has facilitated its spread but, once established in an environment, it can disperse naturally as quickly as tens of kilometres per year (Lips et al., 2008). In light of the role of chytridiomycosis as an emerging infectious disease, and its capacity to spread into otherwise pristine regions, it is of critical importance that we develop ways to identify at-risk populations in areas that have yet to be exposed to the pathogen. Through field and experimental studies, multiple putative drivers of susceptibility to disease and declines have been identified. Species identity (Gervasi et al., 2017), host immune factors (Bataille et al., 2015), host microbiome (Woodhams et al., 2014), density-dependent host-pathogen dynamics (Briggs et al., 2010) and environmental variables such as temperature (Cohen et al., 2017), have been shown to have an influence over disease outcomes and population persistence. The role of host genetic factors, particularly genetic diversity, is a fundamental area that remains poorly understood, however. Natural animal populations with lower levels of genetic variability are expected to be less able to respond to environmental changes and novel threats, have lower levels of fitness, and show reduced disease resistance (reviewed in Reed, 2010). Allentoft and O'Brien (2010) have proposed that amphibians are particularly vulnerable to the loss of genetic variability and its consequent deleterious effects. They argue that amphibian life-history traits, such as low dispersal rates and a tendency towards small effective population sizes, have acted synergistically with anthropogenic impacts, such as habitat fragmentation and the spread of novel pathogens, to amplify the impact of genetic effects. They further demonstrate that correlations between genetic variability and fitness traits are consistently found in amphibian studies, presenting a review of 19 publications, of which 15 found a positive correlation. The extent to which this relationship applies in the amphibian-*Bd* system remains underexplored.

Findings arising from study systems in which *Bd* is already established are poorly suited to identify predictors of disease response in hitherto unexposed populations, as they are drawn from contexts in which the pathogen and host have undergone an unrecorded period of sympatry. There is therefore a remarkable lack of research characterising the response to *Bd* exposure of amphibian populations naïve to the novel pathogen. Bataille et al. (2015) included a naïve population in their infection experiments, finding it to be intermediate in its response when compared with two historically-exposed populations, but this does not examine variation between *Bd*-naïve populations. Luquet et al. (2012) examined the responses of amphibians originating from five different populations to *Bd* exposure, suggesting that genetically eroded populations suffered greater negative impacts. However, the animals involved in the experiments were not genotyped, and the authors don't indicate whether or not there may have been any history of *Bd* exposure in the populations they investigated.

This thesis approached the question using a study system of putatively *Bd*-naïve naturally fragmented common toad populations. Chapter 2 characterised the patterns of genetic variability across 11 breeding sites, showing strong divergence between populations, especially between those separated by sea. More isolated island populations formed unique genetic clusters and were marked by lower levels of genetic diversity. This corresponds with

86

features that may make amphibians uniquely predisposed to a loss of genetic diversity: high philopatry to small discrete breeding sites coupled with low vagility, and in this case an inhibited capacity to disperse across seawater.

Chapter 3, however, showed that, while naïve populations showed inherently idiosyncratic responses to novel pathogen exposure, these responses were not readily predictable by population-level measures of allelic diversity or individual heterozygosity. These findings caution against a simplistic expectation that genetically eroded populations or individuals will be especially vulnerable to novel pathogens. Some animals can persist and, indeed, flourish despite low levels of genetic diversity. The Mauritius kestrel and the northern elephant seal, for example, have experienced remarkable population recoveries from severe bottlenecks, with minimal apparent impacts on fitness arising from their extremely low levels of genetic variability (Bonnell & Selander, 1974; Groombridge et al., 2000). It is also possible for populations and species to have naturally low levels of genetic variability even in the absence of recent bottlenecks. The wandering albatross, for example, may have persisted in this state for millennia while enjoying high breeding success (Milot et al., 2007). While small, genetically depauperate populations are expected to suffer inbreeding depression as a result of the expression of deleterious recessive alleles in a homozygous state, this can also lead to selection purging such alleles from the population (Pekkala et al., 2012). Populations with a history of inbreeding may therefore be less susceptible to contemporary inbreeding depression than comparatively outbred populations, a phenomenon that has been empirically demonstrated in Drosophila melanogaster (Swindell & Bouzat, 2006a, 2006b). The identity of the populations studied here may need to be considered in this light. I sampled from a set of sites on the range edge of a species, with populations in isolation potentially for generations. This is quite a different situation from, for example, the study performed by Hitchings & Beebee (1998). They identified deleterious consequences of genetic erosion driven by habitat fragmentation in Bufo bufo, but the fragmentation in this case was caused by recent barriers to migration created by urban development.

Bearing in mind the absence of any obvious increase in susceptibility in this study, it could be argued that, in some contexts, genetically eroded populations may in fact be at a lower risk of *Bd*-driven declines. The very factor that can lead to a population-wide loss of genetic variability, demographic isolation, may also serve to inhibit pathogen dispersal in a natural context. For example, Millins et al. (2018), found that, in a landscape of island and mainland

87

sites, the prevalence of the mammal specialist zoonotic tick-borne pathogen *Borrelia afzelii* was significantly lower on isolated islands, which they attributed to the lower densities, stronger population fluctuations, and lower immigration experienced by host populations. Both Addis et al. (2015) and Horner et al. (2017) have reported a perhaps unexpected positive relationship between *Bd* prevalence and genetic diversity in field-sampled amphibian populations. While they were unable to explore the mechanisms for this pattern in their studies, further research into the interplay between the genetic and epidemiological consequences of demographic isolation may yet prove to be an interesting line of investigation.

Ultimately, what can be learned from the genome of an organism depends on the molecular marker used. In 1994, Taylor et al. published a ground-breaking study using microsatellite markers to study a remnant population of northern-hairy nosed wombat (Lasiorhinus *krefftii*), discerning patterns of genetic variation not previously possible using mitochondrial DNA or other methods of DNA fingerprinting. Since then, microsatellites have revolutionised population genetics, providing insights into the structure and demographic history of populations and species, the relationships and origins of individuals, dispersal patterns of offspring, and the impact of landscape features on migration and population structure (Sarre & Georges, 2009; Selkoe & Toonen, 2006). Today, as novel technologies such as RADseq offer the potential to genotype individuals at thousands of loci in both coding and noncoding regions, a revolution of similar magnitude is underway (Andrews et al., 2016). Chapter 4 demonstrates the power of these technologies to discern genetic structuring in wild populations, and offers a preliminary glimpse of the potential to identify SNPs associated with local adaptation and disease response. Over the coming years, studies using these techniques to better understand the amphibian-Bd system are sure to multiply, and the potential to use the current dataset for deeper insight will grow in line with increased availability of amphibian genomic resources. The clarity of any findings that arise will ultimately depend on the underlying biological reality, however. The advent of nextgeneration SNP datasets combined with GWAS analytical techniques has revealed the complexity of the genetic underpinnings of many traits, for which even the most significant loci explain just a small proportion of the predicted genetic variance (Manolio et al., 2009), with the "missing heritability" accounted for by many SNPs across the genome with effect sizes too small to pass significance tests (Yang et al., 2010). Furthermore, the main drivers behind complex traits can often be noncoding, highlighting the role of gene regulation in

determining phenotype (Boyle et al., 2017; Li et al., 2016). It may not be realistic, therefore, to expect that GWAS studies in the amphibian-*Bd* system will reveal a handful of genes with clear mechanistic links to disease response accounting for a significant amount of the variation observed. This does not rule out a future role for genetic modification of susceptible amphibian species, as discussed, for example, by Garner et al. (2016), but it underscores the complexity of the task.

The work presented here emphasises that, in order to continue to develop our understanding of the drivers of the most devastating vertebrate disease ever recorded, there is a need for a greater investment on research on Bd-naïve amphibian populations, more investigations into the interaction between epidemiology and genetic factors, a more explicit focus on the influence of body size on disease susceptibility, and further investment in amphibian genomic resources. Abstract knowledge is of limited use if it is not applied, however. The research-implementation gap between science and real-world action is a significant issue in conservation biology, in which much of what is published is not of any meaningful use to conservation managers on the ground (Cook et al., 2013; Knight et al., 2008; Sunderland et al., 2009). In a recent review, Garner et al. (2016) point out that, despite decades of research into the amphibian-Bd system, remarkably little progress has been made in actually developing measures to mitigate the effects of the disease in wild populations, even while many researchers invoke amphibian conservation as a potential output of their work. The authors call for a more collaborative effort involving interdisciplinary teams integrating with conservation managers and deploying tools such as decision analysis to deliver informed management actions. Decision analysis refers to a group of formalised approaches to integrating available knowledge in making rational choices in the presence of uncertainty (Keeney, 1982). This technique was recently applied by Canessa et al. (2018) to examine management options in the event of an outbreak of Batrachochytrium salamandrivorans in the fire salamander (Salamandra salamandra) in Europe. While their analysis mostly served to highlight the challenges and low probability of success of the management options considered, the methodology applied serves as a template for harnessing the considerable scientific knowledge available to inform applied conservation actions in mitigating the devastating impacts of both of these widely destructive fungal pathogens.

89

REFERENCES

- Abu Bakar, A., Bower, D. S., Stockwell, M. P., Clulow, S., Clulow, J., & Mahony, M. J. (2016). Susceptibility to disease varies with ontogeny and immunocompetence in a threatened amphibian. *Oecologia*, 181(4), 997–1009.
- Acevedo-Whitehouse, K., Gulland, F., Greig, D., & Amos, W. (2003). Inbreeding: disease susceptibility in California sea lions. *Nature*, *422*(6927), 35.
- Addis, B. R., Lowe, W. H., Hossack, B. R., & Allendorf, F. W. (2015). Population genetic structure and disease in montane boreal toads: more heterozygous individuals are more likely to be infected with amphibian chytrid. *Conservation Genetics*, 16(4), 833–844.
- Agasyan, A., Avisi, A., Tuniyev, B., Isailovic, J. C., Lymberakis, P., Andrén, C., ... Kaya, U. (2009). Bufo bufo. Retrieved March 6, 2019, from http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2009.RLTS.T54596A11159939.en
- Allentoft, M. E., & O'Brien, J. (2010). Global amphibian declines, loss of genetic diversity and fitness: A review. *Diversity*, 2(1), 47–71.
- Altwegg, R., & Reyer, H.-U. (2003). Patterns of natural selection on size at metamorphosis in water frogs. *Evolution*, *57*(4), 872–882.
- Andre, S. E., Parker, J., & Briggs, C. J. (2008). Effect of temperature on host response to Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis infection in the mountain yellow-legged frog (Rana muscosa). Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 44(3), 716–720.
- Andrews, K. R., Good, J. M., Miller, M. R., Luikart, G., & Hohenlohe, P. A. (2016). Harnessing the power of RADseq for ecological and evolutionary genomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 17(2), 81.
- Arnold, N. (2002). *A field guide to the reptiles and amphibians of Britain and Europe.* (2nd ed.). London: Collins.
- Arntzen, J. W., de Vries, W., Canestrelli, D., & Martínez-Solano, I. (2017). Hybrid zone formation and contrasting outcomes of secondary contact over transects in common toads. *Molecular Ecology*, 26(20), 5663–5675.

- Arntzen, J. W., McAtear, J., Recuero, E., Ziermann, J. M., Ohler, A., van Alphen, J., &
 Martínez-Solano, I. (2013a). Morphological and genetic differentiation of *Bufo* toads:
 Two cryptic species in Western Europe (Anura, Bufonidae). *Contributions to Zoology*, 82(4), 147–169.
- Arntzen, J. W., Recuero, E., Canestrelli, D., & Martínez-Solano, I. (2013b). How complex is the *Bufo bufo* species group? *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, *69*(3), 1203–1208.
- Arntzen, J. W., Trujillo, T., Butôt, R., Vrieling, K., Schaap, O., Gutiérrez-Rodríguez, J., & Martínez-Solano, I. (2016). Concordant morphological and molecular clines in a contact zone of the Common and Spined toad (*Bufo bufo* and *B. spinosus*) in the northwest of France. *Frontiers in Zoology*, 13(1), 1–12.
- Baird, N. A., Etter, P. D., Atwood, T. S., Currey, M. C., Shiver, A. L., Lewis, Z. A., ... Johnson, E.
 A. (2008). Rapid SNP discovery and genetic mapping using sequenced RAD markers. *PLoS ONE*, 3(10), 1–7.
- Baitchman, E. J., & Pessier, A. P. (2013). Pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of amphibian chytridiomycosis. *Veterinary Clinics Exotic Animal Practice*, *16*(3), 669–685.
- Bancroft, B. A., Han, B. A., Searle, C. L., Biga, L. M., Olson, D. H., Kats, L. B., ... Blaustein, A. R. (2011). Species-level correlates of susceptibility to the pathogenic amphibian fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in the United States. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 20(9), 1911–1920.

Barinaga, M. (1990). Where have all the froggies gone? Science, 247(4946), 1033–1034.

- Barnosky, A. D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G. O. U., Swartz, B., Quental, T. B., ... Ferrer,
 E. A. (2011). Has the Earth's sixth mass extinction already arrived? *Nature*, 471(7336), 51–57.
- Bataille, A., Cashins, S. D., Grogan, L., Skerratt, L. F., Hunter, D., McFadden, M., ... Waldman,
 B. (2015). Susceptibility of amphibians to chytridiomycosis is associated with MHC class
 II conformation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1805),
 20143127.
- Bataille, A., Fong, J. J., Cha, M., Wogan, G. O. U., Baek, H. J., Lee, H., ... Waldman, B. (2013). Genetic evidence for a high diversity and wide distribution of endemic strains of the

pathogenic chytrid fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in wild Asian amphibians. *Molecular Ecology*, 22(16), 4196–4209.

- Bates, K. A., Clare, F. C., O'Hanlon, S., Bosch, J., Brookes, L., Hopkins, K., ... Harrison, X. A.
 (2018). Amphibian chytridiomycosis outbreak dynamics are linked with host skin bacterial community structure. *Nature Communications*, *9*(1), 693.
- Batley, K. C., Sandoval-Castillo, J., Kemper, C. M., Attard, C. R. M., Zanardo, N., Tomo, I., ... Möller, L. M. (2018). Genome-wide association study of an unusual dolphin mortality event reveals candidate genes for susceptibility and resistance to cetacean morbillivirus. *Evolutionary Applications*.
- Beck, C. W., & Condgon, J. D. (1999). Effects of individual variation in age and size at metamorphosis on growth and survivorship of southern toad (*Bufo terrestris*) metamorphs. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 77(6), 944–951.
- Becker, C. G., & Zamudio, K. R. (2011). Tropical amphibian populations experience higher disease risk in natural habitats. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(24), 9893–9898.
- Becker, M. H., Brucker, R. M., Schwantes, C. R., Harris, R. N., & Minbiole, K. P. C. (2009). The bacterially produced metabolite violacein is associated with survival of amphibians infected with a lethal fungus. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *75*(21), 6635–6638.
- Becker, M. H., Walke, J. B., Cikanek, S., Savage, A. E., Mattheus, N., Santiago, C. N., ... Gratwicke, B. (2015). Composition of symbiotic bacteria predicts survival in Panamanian golden frogs infected with a lethal fungus. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1805), 20142881.
- Beebee, T. J. C., & Griffiths, R. A. (2005). The amphibian decline crisis: A watershed for conservation biology? *Biological Conservation*, 125(3), 271–285.
- Belden, L. K., & Harris, R. N. (2007). Infectious diseases in wildlife: the community ecology context. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *5*(10), 533–539.
- Bell, S. C., Garland, S., Alford, R. A., Becker, M. H., Bell, S. C., & Bell, S. C. (2018). Increased numbers of culturable inhibitory bacterial taxa may mitigate the effects of

Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis in Australian wet tropics frogs. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*, 1604.

- Bennett, J. H., & Binet, F. E. (1956). Association between Mendelian factors with mixed selfing and random mating. *Heredity*, *10*(1), 51.
- Berger, L., Hyatt, A. D., Speare, R., & Longcore, J. E. (2005a). Life cycle stages of the amphibian chytrid *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 68(1), 51–63.
- Berger, L., Marantelli, G., Skerratt, L. F., & Speare, R. (2005b). Virulence of the amphibian chytrid fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* varies with the strain. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *68*(1), 47–50.
- Berger, L., Speare, R., Daszak, P., Green, D. E., Cunningham, a a, Goggin, C. L., ... Parkes, H. (1998). Chytridiomycosis causes amphibian mortality associated with population declines in the rain forests of Australia and Central America. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(15), 9031–9036.
- Berger, L., Speare, R., Hines, H. B., Marantelli, G., Hyatt, A. D., McDonald, K. R., ... others. (2004). Effect of season and temperature on mortality in amphibians due to chytridiomycosis. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 82(7), 434–439.
- Bernabò, I., Bonacci, A., Coscarelli, F., Tripepi, M., & Brunelli, E. (2013). Effects of salinity stress on *Bufo balearicus* and *Bufo bufo* tadpoles: Tolerance, morphological gill alterations and Na+/K+-ATPase localization. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 132, 119–133.
- Bernatchez, L., & Landry, C. (2003). MHC studies in nonmodel vertebrates: What have we learned about natural selection in 15 years? *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 16(3), 363– 377.
- Berner, R. A. (2002). Examination of hypotheses for the Permo-Triassic boundary extinction by carbon cycle modeling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(7), 4172–4177.
- Berry, R. J. (1983). Evolution of animals and plants. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, Section B: Biological Sciences*, *83*, 433–447.

- Betancourt-Román, C. M., O'Neil, C. C., & James, T. Y. (2016). Rethinking the role of invertebrate hosts in the life cycle of the amphibian chytridiomycosis pathogen. *Parasitology*, 143(13), 1723–1729.
- Bielby, J., Fisher, M. C., Clare, F. C., Rosa, G. M., & Garner, T. W. J. (2015). Host species vary in infection probability, sub-lethal effects, and costs of immune response when exposed to an amphibian parasite. *Scientific Reports*, *5*, 10828.
- Blaustein, A., Urbina, J., Snyder, P., Reynolds, E., Dang, T., Hoverman, J., ... Hambalek, N. (2018). Effects of emerging infectious diseases on amphibians: a review of experimental studies. *Diversity*, *10*(3), 81.
- Bodmer, W. F., & Felsenstein, J. (1967). Linkage and selection: theoretical analysis of the deterministic two locus random mating model. *Genetics*, *57*(2), 237–265.
- Bonardi, A., Manenti, R., Corbetta, A., Ferri, V., Fiacchini, D., Giovine, G., ... Ficetola, G. F.
 (2011). Usefulness of volunteer data to measure the large scale decline of "common" toad populations. *Biological Conservation*, 144(9), 2328–2334.
- Bonnell, M. L., & Selander, R. K. (1974). Elephant seals: genetic variation and near extinction. *Science*, 184(4139), 908–909.
- Bosch, J., & Martínez-Solano, I. (2006). Chytrid fungus infection related to unusual mortalities of *Salamandra salamandra* and *Bufo bufo* in the Peñalara Natural Park, Spain. *Oryx*, *40*(1), 84–89.
- Bosch, J., Martínez-Solano, I., & García-París, M. (2001). Evidence of a chytrid fungus infection involved in the decline of the common midwife toad (*Alytes obstetricans*) in protected areas of central Spain. *Biological Conservation*, *97*(3), 331–337.
- Boyd, J. M. (1983). Natural environment of the Inner Hebrides—an introduction. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, Section B: Biological Sciences, 83, 3–22.
- Boyle, D. G., Boyle, D. B., Olsen, V., Morgan, J. a T., & Hyatt, a D. (2004). Rapid quantitative detection of chytridiomycosis (*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*) in amphibian samples using real-time Taqman PCR assay. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *60*(2), 141–148.

Boyle, E. A., Li, Y. I., & Pritchard, J. K. (2017). An expanded view of complex traits: from

polygenic to omnigenic. Cell, 169(7), 1177–1186.

- Bradley, P. W., Gervasi, S. S., Hua, J., Cothran, R. D., Relyea, R. a., Olson, D. H., & Blaustein, A.
 R. (2015). Differences in sensitivity to the fungal pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* among amphibian populations. *Conservation Biology*, *29*(5), 1347–1356.
- Brede, E. G., & Beebee, T. J. C. (2004). Contrasting population structures in two sympatric anurans: implications for species conservation. *Heredity*, *92*(2), 110–117.
- Brede, E. G., Rowe, G., Trojanowski, J., & Beebee, T. J. C. (2001). Polymerase chain reaction primers for microsatellite loci in the common toad *Bufo bufo*. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 1(4), 308–310.
- Briggs, C. J., Knapp, R. a, & Vredenburg, V. T. (2010). Enzootic and epizootic dynamics of the chytrid fungal pathogen of amphibians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *107*(21), 9695–9700.
- Briggs, C. J., Vredenburg, V. T., Knapp, R. A., & Rachowicz, L. J. (2005). Investigating the population-level effects of chytridiomycosis: An emerging infectious disease of amphibians. *Ecology*, 86(12), 3149–3159.
- Briscoe, D., Stephens, J. C., & O'Brien, S. J. (1994). Linkage disequilibrium in admixed populations: applications in gene mapping. *Journal of Heredity*, *85*(1), 59–63.

Brookes, A. J. (1999). The essence of SNPs. Gene, 234(2), 177–186.

- Brucker, R. M., Harris, R. N., Schwantes, C. R., Gallaher, T. N., Flaherty, D. C., Lam, B. A., & Minbiole, K. P. C. (2008). Amphibian chemical defense: Antifungal metabolites of the microsymbiont *Janthinobacterium lividum* on the salamander *Plethodon cinereus*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 34(11), 1422–1429.
- Bull, J. C., Ryabov, E. V., Prince, G., Mead, A., Zhang, C., Baxter, L. A., ... Chandler, D. (2012). A strong immune response in young adult honeybees masks their increased susceptibility to infection compared to older bees. *PLoS Pathogens*, *8*(12), 11–14.
- Burkart, D., Flechas, S. V., Vredenburg, V. T., & Catenazzi, A. (2017). Cutaneous bacteria, but not peptides, are associated with chytridiomycosis resistance in Peruvian marsupial frogs. *Animal Conservation*, 20(6), 483–491.

- Burns-Guydish, S. M., Olomu, I. N., Zhao, H., Wong, R. J., Stevenson, D. K., & Contag, C. H. (2005). Monitoring age-related susceptibility of young mice to oral *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium infection using an *in vivo* murine model. *Pediatric Research*, *58*(1), 153–158.
- Burrow, A. K., Rumschlag, S. L., & Boone, M. D. (2017). Host size influences the effects of four isolates of an amphibian chytrid fungus. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(22), 9196–9202.
- Burrowes, P. A., & De la Riva, I. (2017). Detection of the amphibian chytrid fungus
 Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis in museum specimens of Andean aquatic birds:
 Implications for pathogen dispersal. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 53(2), 349–355.
- Bustamante, H. M., Livo, L. J., & Carey, C. (2010). Effects of temperature and hydric environment on survival of the Panamanian golden frog infected with a pathogenic chytrid fungus. *Integrative Zoology*, *5*(2), 143–153.
- Cabrera-Guzmán, E., Crossland, M. R., Brown, G. P., & Shine, R. (2013). Larger body size at metamorphosis enhances survival, growth and performance of young cane toads (*Rhinella marina*). *PLoS ONE*, *8*(7), e70121.
- Calboli, F. C. F., Fisher, M. C., Garner, T. W. J., & Jehle, R. (2011). The need for jumpstarting amphibian genome projects. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *26*(8), 378–379.
- Campbell, C. R., Voyles, J., Cook, D. I., & Dinudom, A. (2012). Frog skin epithelium: Electrolyte transport and chytridiomycosis. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, *44*(3), 431–434.
- Canessa, S., Bozzuto, C., Campbell Grant, E. H., Cruickshank, S. S., Fisher, M. C., Koella, J. C.,
 ... others. (2018). Decision-making for mitigating wildlife diseases: From theory to
 practice for an emerging fungal pathogen of amphibians. *Journal of Applied Ecology*,
 55(4), 1987–1996.
- Carey, C., Bruzgul, J. E., Livo, L. J., Walling, M. L., Kuehl, K. A., Dixon, B. F., ... Rogers, K. B.
 (2006). Experimental exposures of boreal toads (*Bufo boreas*) to a pathogenic chytrid fungus (*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*). *EcoHealth*, 3(1), 5–21.
- Carvalho, T., Becker, C. G., & Toledo, L. F. (2017). Historical amphibian declines and extinctions in Brazil linked to chytridiomycosis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of*

London B: Biological Sciences, 284(1848), 20162254.

- Catchen, J., Hohenlohe, P. A., Bassham, S., Amores, A., & Cresko, W. A. (2013). Stacks: An analysis tool set for population genomics. *Molecular Ecology*, *22*(11), 3124–3140.
- Catchen, J. M., Funk, W. C., Andrews, K. R., Allendorf, F. W., Bernatchez, L., & Hohenlohe, P.
 A. (2017). Unbroken: RADseq remains a powerful tool for understanding the genetics of adaptation in natural populations. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *17*(3), 362–365.
- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P. R., Barnosky, A. D., García, A., Pringle, R. M., & Palmer, T. M. (2015). Accelerated modern human – induced species losses: entering the sixth mass extinction. *Science Advances*, 1(5), e1400253.
- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P. R., & Dirzo, R. (2017). Biological annihilation via the ongoing sixth mass extinction signaled by vertebrate population losses and declines. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *114*(30), E6089--E6096.
- Chapman, J. R., Nakagawa, S., Coltman, D. W., Slate, J., & Sheldon, B. C. (2009). A quantitative review of heterozygosity-fitness correlations in animal populations. *Molecular Ecology*, 18(13), 2746–2765.
- Cheng, T. L., Rovito, S. M., Wake, D. B., & Vredenburg, V. T. (2011). Coincident mass extirpation of neotropical amphibians with the emergence of the infectious fungal pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(23), 9502–9507.
- Cohen, J. M., Civitello, D. J., Venesky, M. D., McMahon, T. A., & Rohr, J. R. (2019). An interaction between climate change and infectious disease drove widespread amphibian declines. *Global Change Biology*, *25*(3), 927–937.
- Cohen, J. M., Venesky, M. D., Sauer, E. L., Civitello, D. J., McMahon, T. A., Roznik, E. A., & Rohr, J. R. (2017). The thermal mismatch hypothesis explains host susceptibility to an emerging infectious disease. *Ecology Letters*, *20*(2), 184–193.
- Collins, F. S., Brooks, L. D., & Chakravarti, A. (1998). A DNA polymorphism discovery resource for research on human genetic variation. *Genome Research*, *8*(12), 1229–1231.

Coltman, D. W., Pilkington, J. G., Smith, J. A., & Pemberton, J. M. (1999). Parasite-mediated

selection against inbred Soay sheep in a free-living island population. *Evolution*, 53(4), 1259–1267.

- Coltman, D. W., & Slate, J. (2003). Microsatellite measures of inbreeding: A meta-analysis. *Evolution*, *57*(5), 971–983.
- Conlon, J. M. (2011). The contribution of skin antimicrobial peptides to the system of innate immunity in anurans. *Cell and Tissue Research*, *343*(1), 201–212.
- Cook, C. N., Mascia, M. B., Schwartz, M. W., Possingham, H. P., & Fuller, R. A. (2013).
 Achieving conservation science that bridges the knowledge-action boundary.
 Conservation Biology, 27(4), 669–678.
- Cooke, A. S., & Sparks, T. H. (2004). Population declines of Common Toads (*Bufo bufo*): the contribution of road traffic and monitoring value of casualty counts. *Herpetological Bulletin*, (88), 13–26.
- Costello, M. J., May, R. M., & Stork, N. E. (2013). Can we name Earth's species before they go extinct? *Science*, *339*(6118), 413–416.
- Couvet, D. (2002). Deleterious effect of restricted gene flow in fragmented populations. *Conservation Biology*, *16*(2), 369–376.
- Cox, D. R. (1972). Regression models and life-tables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*. *Series B (Methodological)*, 34(2), 22–87.
- Crawford, A. J., Lips, K. R., & Bermingham, E. (2010). Epidemic disease decimates amphibian abundance, species diversity, and evolutionary history in the highlands of central Panama. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(31), 13777–13782.
- Cunningham, A. A. ., & Minting, P. (2008). National survey of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* infection in UK amphibians, 2008. Unpublished report to Natural England.
- Cushman, S. A. (2006). Effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on amphibians: A review and prospectus. *Biological Conservation*, *128*(2), 231–240.
- Cvetković, D., Tomašević, N., Ficetola, G. F., Crnobrnja-Isailović, J., & Miaud, C. (2009). Bergmann's rule in amphibians: Combining demographic and ecological parameters to

explain body size variation among populations in the common toad *Bufo bufo*. *Journal* of *Zoological Systematics and Evolutionary Research*, 47(2), 171–180.

- Darvill, B., Ellis, J. S., Lye, G. C., & Goulson, D. (2006). Population structure and inbreeding in a rare and declining bumblebee, *Bombus muscorum* (Hymenoptera: Apidae). *Molecular Ecology*, 15(3), 601–611.
- Daskin, J. H., & Alford, R. A. (2012). Context-dependent symbioses and their potential roles in wildlife diseases. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 279*(1733), 1457–1465.
- Daskin, J. H., Alford, R. A., & Puschendorf, R. (2011). Short-term exposure to warm microhabitats could explain amphibian persistence with *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(10), e26215.
- Davey, J. L., & Blaxter, M. W. (2010). RADseq: Next-generation population genetics. *Briefings in Functional Genomics*, *9*(5–6), 416–423.
- Davey, J. W., Hohenlohe, P. a., Etter, P. D., Boone, J. Q., Catchen, J. M., & Blaxter, M. L. (2011). Genome-wide genetic marker discovery and genotyping using next-generation sequencing. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 12(7), 499–510.
- Davies, N. B., & Halliday, T. R. (1977). Optimal mate selection in the toad. *Nature*, 269(5623), 56–58.
- Davies, N. B., & Halliday, T. R. (1979). Competitive mate searching in male common toads, Bufo bufo. Animal Behaviour, 27, 1253–1267.
- Dirzo, R., & Raven, P. H. (2003). Global state of biodiversity and loss. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 28(1), 137–167.
- Dirzo, R., Young, H. S., Galetti, M., Ceballos, G., Isaac, N. J. B., & Collen, B. (2014). Defaunation in the Anthropocene. *Science*, *401*(6195), 401–406.
- Doddington, B. J., Bosch, J., Oliver, J. a., Grassly, N. C., Garcia, G., Schmidt, B. R., ... Fisher, M.
 C. (2013). Context-dependent amphibian host population response to an invading pathogen. *Ecology*, *94*(8), 1795–1804.

Doherty-Bone, T. M., Gonwouo, N. L., Hirschfeld, M., Ohst, T., Weldon, C., Perkins, M., ...

Cunningham, A. A. (2013). *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in amphibians of Cameroon, including first records for caecilians. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *102*(3), 187–194.

- Doherty, P. C., & Zinkernagel, R. M. (1975). Enhanced immunological surveillance in mice heterozygous at the H-2 gene complex. *Nature*, *256*(5512), 50–52.
- Don, R. H., Cox, P. T., Wainwright, B. J., Baker, K., & Mattick, J. S. (1991). "Touchdown" PCR to circumvent spurious priming during gene amplification. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *19*(14), 4008.
- Dubois, A. (2004). Developmental pathway, speciation and supraspecific taxonomy in amphibians 1. Why are there so many frog species in Sri Lanka? *Alytes*, *22*(1/2), 19–37.
- Earl, D. A., & vonHoldt, B. M. (2012). STRUCTURE HARVESTER: A website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. *Conservation Genetics Resources*, *4*(2), 359–361.
- Eldridge, M. D. B., King, J. M., Loupis, A. K., Spencer, P. B. S., Taylor, A. C., Pope, L. C., & Hall, G. P. (1999). Unprecedented low levels of genetic variation and inbreeding depression in an island population of the black-footed rock-wallaby. *Conservation Biology*, *13*(3), 531–541.
- Ellison, A. R., Savage, A. E., DiRenzo, G. V, Langhammer, P., Lips, K. R., & Zamudio, K. R.
 (2014). Fighting a losing battle: vigorous immune response countered by pathogen suppression of host defenses in the chytridiomycosis-susceptible frog *Atelopus zeteki*. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics*, 4(7), 1275–1289.
- Emerson, K. J., Merz, C. R., Catchen, J. M., Hohenlohe, P. A., Cresko, W. A., Bradshaw, W. E.,
 & Holzapfel, C. M. (2010). Resolving postglacial phylogeography using high-throughput sequencing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *107*(37), 16196–16200.
- Evanno, G., Regnaut, S., & Goudet, J. (2005). Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: A simulation study. *Molecular Ecology*, 14(8), 2611–2620.
- Farrer, R. a., Henk, D. a., Garner, T. W. J., Balloux, F., Woodhams, D. C., & Fisher, M. C.
 (2013). Chromosomal copy number variation, selection and uneven rates of
 recombination reveal cryptic genome diversity linked to pathogenicity. *PLoS Genetics*,
- Farrer, R. A., Martel, A., Verbrugghe, E., Abouelleil, A., Ducatelle, R., Longcore, J. E., ... Cuomo, C. A. (2017). Genomic innovations linked to infection strategies across emerging pathogenic chytrid fungi. *Nature Communications*, *8*, 14742.
- Farrer, R. A., Weinert, L. A., Bielby, J., Garner, T. W. J., Balloux, F., Clare, F., ... Fisher, M. C. (2011). Multiple emergences of genetically diverse amphibian-infecting chytrids include a globalized hypervirulent recombinant lineage. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 108(46), 18732–18736.
- Fellers, G. M., Green, D. E., & Longcore, J. E. (2001). Oral chytridiomycosis in the mountain yellow-legged frog (*Rana muscosa*). *Copeia*, 2001(4), 945–953.
- Ferreira, H. G., & Jesus, C. H. (1973). Salt adaptation in *Bufo bufo. The Journal of Physiology*, *228*(3), 583–600.
- Ficetola, G. F., & De Bernardi, F. (2004). Amphibians in a human-dominated landscape: The community structure is related to habitat features and isolation. *Biological Conservation*, 119(2), 219–230.
- Ficetola, G. F., Garner, T. W. J., & De Bernardi, F. (2007). Genetic diversity, but not hatching success, is jointly affected by postglacial colonization and isolation in the threatened frog, *Rana latastei*. *Molecular Ecology*, *16*(9), 1787–1797.
- Ficke, A., Gadoury, D. M., & Seem, R. C. (2002). Ontogenic resistance and plant disease management: A case study of grape powdery mildew. *Phytopathology*, *92*(6), 671–675.
- Fisher, M. C., Bosch, J., Yin, Z., Stead, D. a., Walker, J., Selway, L., ... Garner, T. W. J. (2009a).
 Proteomic and phenotypic profiling of the amphibian pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* shows that genotype is linked to virulence. *Molecular Ecology*, *18*(3), 415–429.
- Fisher, M. C., Garner, T. W. J., & Walker, S. F. (2009b). Global emergence of Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis and amphibian chytridiomycosis in space, time, and host. Annual Review of Microbiology, 63(1), 291–310.

Flajnik, M. F., & Du Pasquier, L. (2004). Evolution of innate and adaptive immunity: Can we

draw a line? Trends in Immunology, 25(12), 640–644.

- Flavenot, T., Fellous, S., Abdelkrim, J., Baguette, M., & Coulon, A. (2014). Impact of quarrying on genetic diversity: an approach across landscapes and over time. *Conservation Genetics*, 16(1), 181–194.
- Fong, J. J., Cheng, T. L., Bataille, A., Pessier, A. P., Waldman, B., & Vredenburg, V. T. (2015).
 Early 1900s detection of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in Korean amphibians. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(3), 1–8.
- Gahl, M. K., Longcore, J. E., & Houlahan, J. E. (2012). Varying responses of northeastern
 North American amphibians to the chytrid pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*.
 Conservation Biology, 26(1), 135–141.
- Garcia-Porta, J., Litvinchuk, S. N., Crochet, P. A., Romano, A., Geniez, P. H., Lo-Valvo, M., ... Carranza, S. (2012). Molecular phylogenetics and historical biogeography of the westpalearctic common toads (*Bufo bufo* species complex). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 63(1), 113–130.
- Garmyn, A., van Rooij, P., Pasmans, F., Hellebuyck, T., van den Broeck, W., Haesebrouck, F.,
 & Martel, A. (2012). Waterfowl: potential environmental reservoirs of the chytrid fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4), 1–5.
- Garner, T. W. J., Rowcliffe, J. M., & Fisher, M. C. (2011). Climate change, chytridiomycosis or condition: an experimental test of amphibian survival. *Global Change Biology*, 17(2), 667–675.
- Garner, T. W. J., Schmidt, B. R., Martel, A., Pasmans, F., Muths, E., Cunningham, A. A., ...
 Garner, T. W. J. (2016). Mitigating amphibian chytridiomycoses in nature. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, Biological Sciences*, 371(1709), 20160207.
- Garner, T. W. J., Walker, S., Bosch, J., Leech, S., Rowcliffe, J. M., Cunningham, A. a., & Fisher,
 M. C. (2009). Life history tradeoffs influence mortality associated with the amphibian pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Oikos*, *118*(5), 783–791.
- Garrigan, D., & Hedrick, P. W. (2003). Perspective: detecting adaptive molecular polymorphism: Lessons from the MHC. *Evolution*, *57*(8), 1707.

- Gervasi, S., Gondhalekar, C., Olson, D. H., & Blaustein, A. R. (2013). Host identity matters in the amphibian-*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* system: Fine-scale patterns of variation in responses to a multi-host pathogen. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(1), e54490.
- Gervasi, S. S., Hunt, E. G., Lowry, M., & Blaustein, A. R. (2014). Temporal patterns in immunity, infection load and disease susceptibility: Understanding the drivers of host responses in the amphibian-chytrid fungus system. *Functional Ecology*, *28*(3), 569–578.
- Gervasi, S. S., Stephens, P. R., Hua, J., Searle, C. L., Xie, G. Y., Urbina, J., ... Blaustein, A. R.
 (2017). Linking ecology and epidemiology to understand predictors of multi-host responses to an emerging pathogen, the amphibian chytrid fungus. *Plos One*, *12*(1), e0167882.
- Glandt, D. (1986). Die saisonalen wanderungen der mitteleuropäischen amphibien. Bonner Zoologische Beiträge, 37(3), 211–228.
- Goater, C. P. (1994). Growth and survival of postmetamorphic toads: interactions among larval history, density, and parasitism. *Ecology*, *75*(8), 2264–2274.
- Goka, K., Yokoyama, J., Une, Y., Kuroki, T., Suzuki, K., Nakahara, M., ... Hyatt, A. D. (2009). Amphibian chytridiomycosis in Japan: distribution, haplotypes and possible route of entry into Japan. *Molecular Ecology*, *18*(23), 4757–4774.
- Goudet, J. (1995). FSTAT (Version 1.2): A computer program to calculate F-statistics. *Journal* of Heredity, 86(6), 485–486.
- Greenspan, S. E., Bower, D. S., Webb, R. J., Roznik, E. A., Stevenson, L. A., Berger, L., ... Alford,
 R. A. (2017). Realistic heat pulses protect frogs from disease under simulated rainforest
 frog thermal regimes. *Functional Ecology*, *31*(12), 2274–2286.
- Greenspan, S. E., Lambertini, C., Carvalho, T., James, T. Y., & Toledo, L. F. (2018). Hybrids of amphibian chytrid show high virulence in native hosts. *Scientific Reports*, *8*(1), 9600.
- Groombridge, J. J., Jones, C. G., Bruford, M. W., & Nichols, R. A. (2000). "Ghost" alleles of the Mauritius kestrel. *Nature*, 403(6770), 616.
- Gründler, M. C., Toledo, L. F., Parra-Olea, G., Haddad, C. F. B., Giasson, L. O. M., Sawaya, R. J., ... Zamudio, K. R. (2012). Interaction between breeding habitat and elevation affects

prevalence but not infection intensity of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in Brazilian anuran assemblages. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *97*(3), 173–184.

- Guo, B., Lu, D., Liao, W. B., & Merilä, J. (2016). Genomewide scan for adaptive differentiation along altitudinal gradient in the Andrew's toad *Bufo andrewsi*. *Molecular Ecology*, 25(16), 3884–3900.
- Hale, K. A., & Briskie, J. V. (2007). Decreased immunocompetence in a severely bottlenecked population of an endemic New Zealand bird. *Animal Conservation*, *10*(1), 2–10.
- Hanselmann, R., Rodríguez, A., Lampo, M., Fajardo-Ramos, L., Alonso Aguirre, A., Marm
 Kilpatrick, A., ... Daszak, P. (2004). Presence of an emerging pathogen of amphibians in
 introduced bullfrogs *Rana catesbeiana* in Venezuela. *Biological Conservation*, *120*(1), 115–119.
- Harrison, A., Scantlebury, M., & Montgomery, W. I. (2010). Body mass and sex-biased parasitism in wood mice *Apodemus sylvaticus*. *Oikos*, *119*(7), 1099–1104.
- Hartl, G. B., Zachos, F. E., Nadlinger, K., Ratkiewicz, M., Klein, F., & Lang, G. (2005). Allozyme and mitochondrial DNA analysis of French red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) populations: genetic structure and its implications for management and conservation. *Mammalian Biology-Zeitschrift Fur Saugetierkunde*, 70(1), 24–34.
- Hecker, K. H., & Roux, K. H. (1996). High and low annealing temperatures increase both specificity and yield in touchdown and stepdown PCR. *BioTechniques*, *20*(3), 478–485.
- Hemelaar, A. (1988). Age, growth and other population characteristics of *Bufo bufo* from different latitudes and altitudes. *Journal of Herpetology*, *22*(4), 369–388.
- Hero, J.-M., McDonald, K., Alford, R., Cunningham, M., & Retallick, R. (2004). Rheobatrachus vitellinus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2004. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2004.RLTS.T19476A8897826.en
- Hesselbo, S. P., McRoberts, C. A., & Pálfy, J. (2007). Triassic-Jurassic boundary events:
 Problems, progress, possibilities. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 244(1–4), 1–10.

Heusser, H. (1969). Die Lebensweise der Erdkröte, Bufo bufo (L.); Das Orientierungsproblem.

Revue Suisse de Zoologie, 76, 443–518.

- Hitchings, S. P., & Beebee, T. J. C. (1998). Loss of genetic diversity and fitness in Common
 Toad (*Bufo bufo*) populations isolated by inimical habitat. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 11(3), 269–283.
- Hoffmann, M., Hilton-Taylor, C., Angulo, A., Böhm, M., Brooks, T. M., Butchart, S. H. M., ... others. (2010). The impact of conservation on the status of the world's vertebrates. *Science*, *330*(6010), 1194442.
- Hooper, D. U., Adair, E. C., Cardinale, B. J., Byrnes, J. E. K., Hungate, B. A., Matulich, K. L., ... Connor, M. I. (2012a). A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. *Nature*, 486(7401), 105–108.
- Hooper, L. V, Littman, D. R., & Macpherson, A. J. (2012b). Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. *Science*, *336*(6086), 1268–1273.
- Horner, A. A., Hoffman, E. A., Tye, M. R., Hether, T. D., & Savage, A. E. (2017). Cryptic chytridiomycosis linked to climate and genetic variation in amphibian populations of the southeastern United States. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(4), 1–14.
- Houlahan, J. E., Findlay, C. S., Schmidt, B. R., Meyer, A. H., & Kuzmin, S. L. (2000). Quantitative evidence for global amphibian population declines. *Nature*, *404*(6779), 752–755.
- Hudson, M. A., Young, R. P., Jackson, J. D. U., & Martin, L. (2016). Dynamics and genetics of a disease-driven species decline to near extinction: lessons for conservation. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 30772.
- Hughes, A. L., & Yeager, M. (1998). Natural selection at Major Histocompatibility Complex loci of vertebrates. *Annual Review of Genetics*, *32*(1), 415–435.
- Hughes, W. O. H., & Boomsma, J. J. (2004). Genetic diversity and disease resistance in leafcutting ant societies. *Evolution*, *58*(6), 1251–1260.
- Indap, A., Shefler, E., Li, R., Cookson, W. O., Metzker, M., Price, A., ... Gu, L. (2010). A map of human genome variation from population-scale sequencing. *Nature*, 467(7319), 1061– 1073.

- IUCN. (2018). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2018.1. Retrieved from http://www.iucnredlist.org
- Jakobsson, M., & Rosenberg, N. A. (2007). CLUMPP: A cluster matching and permutation program for dealing with label switching and multimodality in analysis of population structure. *Bioinformatics*, *23*(14), 1801–1806.
- James, T. Y., Litvintseva, A. P., Vilgalys, R., Morgan, J. A. T., Taylor, J. W., Fisher, M. C., ... Longcore, J. E. (2009). Rapid global expansion of the fungal disease chytridiomycosis into declining and healthy amphibian populations. *PLoS Pathogens*, *5*(5), e1000458.
- Jani, A. J., & Briggs, C. J. (2014). The pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* disturbs the frog skin microbiome during a natural epidemic and experimental infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *111*(47), E5049–E5058.
- Jani, A. J., & Briggs, C. J. (2018). Host and aquatic environment shape the amphibian skin microbiome but effects on downstream resistance to the pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* are variable. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*, 487.
- Johnson, M. L., & Speare, R. (2003). Survival of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in water: Quarantine and disease control implications. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *9*(8), 922–925.
- Johnson, M. L., & Speare, R. (2005). Possible modes of dissemination of the amphibian chytrid *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in the environment. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 65(3), 181–186.
- Jombart, T. (2008). Adegenet: A R package for the multivariate analysis of genetic markers. Bioinformatics, 24(11), 1403–1405.
- Jombart, T., Devillard, S., Balloux, F., Falush, D., Stephens, M., Pritchard, J., ... Nei, M. (2010). Discriminant analysis of principal components: a new method for the analysis of genetically structured populations. *BMC Genetics*, *11*(1), 94.
- Kaplan, E. L., & Meier, P. (1958). Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *53*(282), 457–481.

Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2007). TLR signaling. Seminars in Immunology, 19(1), 24–32.

Keeney, R. L. (1982). Decision analysis: an overview. Operations Research, 30(5), 803–838.

- Kelly, D. W., Thomas, H., Thieltges, D. W., Poulin, R., & Tompkins, D. M. (2010). Trematode infection causes malformations and population effects in a declining New Zealand fish. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 79(2), 445–452.
- Keyghobadi, N. (2007). The genetic implications of habitat fragmentation for animals. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *85*(10), 1049–1064.
- Killpack, T. L., & Karasov, W. H. (2012). Ontogeny of adaptive antibody response to a model antigen in captive altricial zebra finches. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(10), e47294.
- Kilpatrick, A. M., Briggs, C. J., & Daszak, P. (2010). The ecology and impact of chytridiomycosis: an emerging disease of amphibians. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 25(2), 109–118.
- Klein, W., Dabés, L., Bonfim, V. M. G., Magrini, L., & Napoli, M. F. (2016). Allometric relationships between cutaneous surface area and body mass in anuran amphibians. *Zoologischer Anzeiger*, 263, 45–54.
- Knapp, R. A., Briggs, C. J., Smith, T. C., & Maurer, J. R. (2011). Nowhere to hide: impact of a temperature-sensitive amphibian pathogen along an elevation gradient in the temperate zone. *Ecosphere*, 2(8), 1–26.
- Knight, A. T., Cowling, R. M., Rouget, M., Balmford, A., Lombard, A. T., & Campbell, B. M.
 (2008). Knowing but not doing: Selecting priority conservation areas and the researchimplementation gap. *Conservation Biology*, 22(3), 610–617.
- Koepfli, K.-P., Paten, B., & O'Brien, S. J. (2015). The Genome 10K Project: A way forward. Annual Review of Animal Biosciences, 3(1), 57–111.
- Kolby, J. E., Ramirez, S. D., Berger, L., Griffin, D. W., Jocque, M., & Skerratt, L. F. (2015a).
 Presence of amphibian chytrid fungus (*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*) in rainwater suggests aerial dispersal is possible. *Aerobiologia*, *31*(3), 411–419.
- Kolby, J. E., Ramirez, S. D., Berger, L., Richards-Hrdlicka, K. L., Jocque, M., & Skerratt, L. F.
 (2015b). Terrestrial dispersal and potential environmental transmission of the amphibian chytrid fungus (*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*). *PLoS ONE*, *10*(4),

- Kosch, T. A., Silva, C. N. S., Brannelly, L. A., Roberts, A. A., Lau, Q., Marantelli, G., ... Skerratt,
 L. F. (2018). Genetic potential for disease resistance in critically endangered amphibians
 decimated by chytridiomycosis. *Animal Conservation*.
- Kraaijeveld-Smit, F. J. L., Beebee, T. J. C., Griffiths, R. A., Moore, R. D., & Schley, L. (2005).
 Low gene flow but high genetic diversity in the threatened Mallorcan midwife toad
 Alytes muletensis. Molecular Ecology, 14(11), 3307–3315.
- Kriger, K. M., & Hero, J. M. (2007). The chytrid fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* is non-randomly distributed across amphibian breeding habitats. *Diversity and Distributions*, 13(6), 781–788.
- Kriger, K. M., Hines, H. B., Hyatt, A. D., Boyle, D. G., & Hero, J. M. (2006). Techniques for detecting chytridiomycosis in wild frogs: Comparing histology with real-time Taqman PCR. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 71(2), 141–148.
- Kueneman, J. G., Woodhams, D. C., Van Treuren, W., Archer, H. M., Knight, R., & McKenzie,
 V. J. (2016). Inhibitory bacteria reduce fungi on early life stages of endangered Colorado boreal toads (*Anaxyrus boreas*). *ISME Journal*, *10*(4), 934–944.
- Lam, B. a., Walke, J. B., Vredenburg, V. T., & Harris, R. N. (2010). Proportion of individuals with anti-*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* skin bacteria is associated with population persistence in the frog *Rana muscosa*. *Biological Conservation*, *143*(2), 529–531.
- Lambeck, K. (1993). Glacial rebound of the British Isles-I. Preliminary model results. *Geophysical Journal International*, *115*(3), 941–959.
- Langhammer, P. F., Burrowes, P. A., Lips, K. R., Bryant, A. B., & Collins, J. P. (2014). Susceptibility to the amphibian chytrid fungus varies with ontogeny in the directdeveloping frog *Eleutherodactylus coqui*. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, *50*(3), 438–446.
- Lara, F., Jayaseelan, J. C., Lyman, R. F., Cridland, J. M., Newsham, I., Saada, N., ... Yamamoto, A. (2012). The *Drosophila melanogaster* Genetic Reference Panel. *Nature*, *482*(7384), 173–178.

Laurance, W. F., McDonald, K. R., & Speare, R. (1996). Epidemic disease and the catastrophic

decline of Australian rain forest frogs. *Conservation Biology*, 10(2), 406–413.

- Lesbarrères, D., Schmeller, D. S., Primmer, C. R., & Merilä, J. (2007). Genetic variability predicts common frog (*Rana temporaria*) size at metamorphosis in the wild. *Heredity*, *99*(1), 41–46.
- Li, Y. I., van de Geijn, B., Raj, A., Knowles, D. A., Petti, A. A., Golan, D., ... Pritchard, J. K. (2016). RNA splicing is a primary link between genetic variation and disease. *Science*, *352*(6285), 600–604.
- Liew, N., Mazon Moya, M. J., Wierzbicki, C. J., Hollinshead, M., Dillon, M. J., Thornton, C. R., ... Mostowy, S. (2017). Chytrid fungus infection in zebrafish demonstrates that the pathogen can parasitize non-amphibian vertebrate hosts. *Nature Communications*, *8*, 15048.
- Lips, K. R. (2016). Overview of chytrid emergence and impacts on amphibians. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *371*, 20150465.
- Lips, K. R., Brem, F., Brenes, R., Reeve, J. D., Alford, R. A., Voyles, J., ... Collins, J. P. (2006). Emerging infectious disease and the loss of biodiversity in a Neotropical amphibian community. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *103*(9), 3165–3170.
- Lips, K. R., Diffendorfer, J., Mendelson, J. R., & Sears, M. W. (2008). Riding the wave:
 Reconciling the roles of disease and climate change in amphibian declines. *PLoS Biology*, 6(3), 0441–0454.
- Lips, K. R., Reeve, J. D., & Witters, L. R. (2003). Ecological traits predicting amphibian population declines in Central America. *Conservation Biology*, *17*(4), 1078–1088.
- Litvinchuk, S. N., Borkin, L. J., Skorinov, L. J., & Rosanov, J. M. (2008). A new species of common toads from the Talysh Mountains of south-eastern Caucasus: genome size, allozyme, and morphological evidences. *Russian Journal of Herpetology*, *15*(1), 19–43.
- Litvinchuk, S. N., Mazepa, G. O., Kami, H. G., & Auer, M. (2012). Taxonomic status and distribution of common toads in Iran. *The Herpetological Journal*, *22*(4), 271–274.
- Longcore, J. E., Pessier, A. P., & Nichols, D. K. (1999). *Batrachochytrium Dendrobatidis* gen. et sp. nov., a chytrid pathogenic to amphibians. *Mycologia*, *91*(2), 219–227.

- Lowry, D. B., Hoban, S., Kelley, J. L., Lotterhos, K. E., Reed, L. K., Antolin, M. F., & Storfer, A. (2017). Breaking RAD: An evaluation of the utility of restriction site-associated DNA sequencing for genome scans of adaptation. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 17(2), 142– 152.
- Luquet, E., Garner, T. W. J., Léna, J. P., Bruel, C., Joly, P., Lengagne, T., ... Plénet, S. (2012).
 Genetic erosion in wild populations makes resistance to a pathogen more costly.
 Evolution, 66(6), 1942–1952.
- Luquet, E., Léna, J.-P., Miaud, C., & Plénet, S. (2015a). Phenotypic divergence of the common toad (*Bufo bufo*) along an altitudinal gradient: evidence for local adaptation. *Heredity*, *114*(1), 69–79.
- Luquet, E., Léna, J.-P., Miaud, C., & Plénet, S. (2015b). Phenotypic divergence of the common toad (*Bufo bufo*) along an altitudinal gradient: evidence for local adaptation. *Heredity*, 114(1), 69–79.
- Luther, K., & Ebel, F. (2006). Toll-like receptors: Recent advances, open questions and implications for aspergillosis control. *Medical Mycology*, 44, S219–S227.
- Luu, K., Bazin, E., & Blum, M. G. B. (2017). pcadapt: an R package to perform genome scans for selection based on principal component analysis. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 17(1), 67–77.
- Luu, K., Blum, M., & Privé, F. (2018). pcadapt: Fast Principal Component Analysis for outlier detection. Retrieved from https://cran.r-project.org/package=pcadapt
- Lyell, C. (1853). Principles of geology: or the modern changes of the earth and its inhabitants considered as illustrative of geology. J. Murray.
- Manders, A. M. M., Schaap, M., Querol, X., Albert, M. F. M. A., Vercauteren, J., Kuhlbusch, T.
 A. J., & Hoogerbrugge, R. (2010). Sea salt concentrations across the European continent.
 Atmospheric Environment, 44(20), 2434–2442.
- Manel, S., & Holderegger, R. (2013). Ten years of landscape genetics. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *28*(10), 614–621.

Maniero, G. D., & Carey, C. (1997). Changes in selected aspects of immune function in the

leopard frog, *Rana pipiens*, associated with exposure to cold. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B*, *167*(4), 256–263.

- Manolio, T. A., Collins, F. S., Cox, N. J., Goldstein, D. B., Hindorff, L. A., Hunter, D. J., ... others.
 (2009). Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases. *Nature*, 461(7265), 747–753.
- Martel, A., Spitzen-van der Sluijs, A., Blooi, M., Bert, W., Ducatelle, R., Fisher, M. C., ... Pasmans, F. (2013). *Batrachochytrium salamandrivorans* sp. nov. causes lethal chytridiomycosis in amphibians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(38), 15325–15329.
- Martinez-Solano, I., & Gonzalez, E. G. (2008). Patterns of gene flow and source-sink dynamics in high altitude populations of the common toad *Bufo bufo* (Anura: Bufonidae).
 Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 95(4), 824–839.
- May, S., Zeisset, I., & Beebee, T. J. C. (2011). Larval fitness and immunogenetic diversity in chytrid-infected and uninfected natterjack toad (*Bufo calamita*) populations. *Conservation Genetics*, 12(3), 805–811.
- McCallum, M. L. (2015). Vertebrate biodiversity losses point to a sixth mass extinction. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 24(10), 2497–2519.
- McCracken, S., Gaertner, J. P., Forstner, M. R. J., & Hahn, D. (2009). Detection of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in amphibians from the forest floor to the upper canopy of an Ecuadorian Amazon lowland rainforest. *Herpetological Review*, 40(2), 190–195.
- McFall-Ngai, M., Hadfield, M. G., Bosch, T. C. G., Carey, H. V., Domazet-Lošo, T., Douglas, A.
 E., ... Wernegreen, J. J. (2013). Animals in a bacterial world, a new imperative for the life sciences. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(9), 3229–3236.
- McKinney, G. J., Larson, W. A., Seeb, L. W., & Seeb, J. E. (2017). RADseq provides unprecedented insights into molecular ecology and evolutionary genetics: comment on Breaking RAD by Lowry et al. (2016). *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *17*(3), 356–361.
- McMahon, T. a, Brannelly, L. a, Chatfield, M. W. H., Johnson, P. T. J., Joseph, M. B., McKenzie, V. J., ... Rohr, J. R. (2013). Chytrid fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* has

nonamphibian hosts and releases chemicals that cause pathology in the absence of infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(1), 210–215.

- Melville, J., Haines, M. L., Boysen, K., Hodkinson, L., Kilian, A., Smith Date, K. L., ... Parris, K.
 M. (2017). Identifying hybridization and admixture using SNPs: application of the
 DArTseq platform in phylogeographic research on vertebrates. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4(7), 161061.
- Metzker, M. L. (2010). Sequencing technologies the next generation. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *11*(1), 31–46.
- Millins, C., Dickinson, E. R., Isakovic, P., Gilbert, L., Wojciechowska, A., Paterson, V., ... Biek,
 R. (2018). Landscape structure affects the prevalence and distribution of a tick-borne zoonotic pathogen. *Parasites and Vectors*, *11*(1), 621.
- Milot, E., Weimerskirch, H., Duchesne, P., & Bernatchez, L. (2007). Surviving with low genetic diversity: The case of albatrosses. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274(1611), 779–787.
- Mitchell, K. M., Churcher, T. S., Garner, T. W. ., & Fisher, M. C. (2008). Persistence of the emerging pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* outside the amphibian host greatly increases the probability of host extinction. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1632), 329–334.
- Møller, A. P., Christe, P., Erritzoe, J., & Mavarez, J. (1998). Condition, disease and immune defence. *Oikos*, *83*(2), 301–306.
- Moore, S. L., & Wilson, K. (2002). Parasites as a viability cost of sexual selection in natural populations of mammal. *Science*, *297*(5589), 2015–2018.
- Mora, C., Rollo, A., & Tittensor, D. P. (2013). Comment on "Can we name Earth's species before they go extinct?" *Science*, *341*(6143), 237.
- Morehouse, E. A., James, T. Y., Ganley, A. R. D., Vilgalys, R., Berger, L., Murphy, P. J., & Longcore, J. E. (2003). Multilocus sequence typing suggests the chytrid pathogen of amphibians is a recently emerged clone. *Molecular Ecology*, *12*(2), 395–403.

- Morgan, J. A. T., Vredenburg, V. T., Rachowicz, L. J., Knapp, R. A., Stice, M. J., Tunstall, T., ... Taylor, J. W. (2007). Population genetics of the frog-killing fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(34), 13845– 13850.
- Morin, P. A., Luikart, G., & Wayne, R. K. (2004). SNPs in ecology, evolution and conservation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *19*(4), 208–216.
- Mosher, B. A., Huyvaert, K. P., & Bailey, L. L. (2018). Beyond the swab : ecosystem sampling to understand the persistence of an amphibian pathogen. *Oecologia*, *188*(1), 319–330.
- Murphy, P. J., St.-Hilaire, S., & Corn, P. S. (2011). Temperature, hydric environment, and prior pathogen exposure alter the experimental severity of chytridiomycosis in boreal toads. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *95*(1), 31–42.
- Murray, K. A., & Skerratt, L. F. (2012). Predicting wild hosts for amphibian chytridiomycosis: Integrating host life-history traits with pathogen environmental requirements. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment*, *18*(1), 200–224.
- Muths, E., Pilliod, D. S., & Livo, L. J. (2008). Distribution and environmental limitations of an amphibian pathogen in the Rocky Mountains, USA. *Biological Conservation*, 141(6), 1484–1492.
- Newaj-Fyzul, A., Al-Harbi, A. H., & Austin, B. (2014). Review: Developments in the use of probiotics for disease control in aquaculture. *Aquaculture*, *431*, 1–11.
- Newman, R. A. (1999). Body size and diet of recently metamorphosed spadefoot toads (*Scaphiopus couchii*). *Herpetologica*, *55*(4), 507–515.
- Nicolas, P., & Mor, A. (1995). Peptides as weapons against microorganisms in the chemical defense system of vertebrates. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *49*(1), 277–304.
- O'Hanlon, S. J., Rieux, A., Farrer, R. A., Rosa, G. M., Waldman, B., Bataille, A., ... others. (2018). Recent Asian origin of chytrid fungi causing global amphibian declines. *Science*, *360*(6389), 621–627.
- Ohta, T. (1982). Linkage disequilibrium due to random genetic drift in finite subdivided populations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *79*(6), 1940–1944.

- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., ... Wagner, H. (2018). vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-2. Retrieved from https://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan
- Olson, D. H., & Ronnenberg, K. L. (2014). Global Bd mapping project: 2014 update. *FrogLog*, 22, 17–21.
- Ortiz-Santaliestra, M. E., Rittenhouse, T. A. G., Cary, T. L., & Karasov, W. H. (2013). Interspecific and postmetamorphic variation in susceptibility of three North American anurans to *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Journal of Herpetology*, *47*(2), 286–292.
- Ottman, N., Smidt, H., de Vos, W. M., & Belzer, C. (2012). The function of our microbiota: who is out there and what do they do? *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *2*, 104.
- Overturf, K., LaPatra, S., Towner, R., Campbell, N., & Narum, S. (2010). Relationships between growth and disease resistance in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *33*(4), 321–329.
- Palomar, G., Bosch, J., & Cano, J. M. (2016). Heritability of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* burden and its genetic correlation with development time in a population of Common toad (*Bufo spinosus*). *Evolution*, *70*(10), 2346–2356.
- Paris, J. R., Stevens, J. R., & Catchen, J. M. (2017). Lost in parameter space: a road map for stacks. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *8*(10), 1360–1373.
- Parker, J. M., Mikaelian, I., Hahn, N., & Diggs, H. E. (2002). Clinical diagnosis and treatment of epidermal chytridiomycosis in African clawed frogs (*Xenopus tropicalis*). *Comparative Medicine*, 52(3), 265–268.
- Parris, M. J., & Cornelius, T. O. (2004). Fungal pathogen causes competitive and developmental stress in larval amphibian communities. *Ecology*, *85*(12), 3385–3395.
- Pekkala, N., Knott, K. E., Kotiaho, J. S., & Puurtinen, M. (2012). Inbreeding rate modifies the dynamics of genetic load in small populations. *Ecology and Evolution*, 2(8), 1791–1804.
- Pemberton, J. M., Smith, J. A., Coulson, T. N., Marshall, T. C., Slate, J., Paterson, S., ... CluttonBrock, T. H. (1996). The maintenance of genetic polymorphism in small island

populations: Large mammals in the Hebrides. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal* Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences, 351(1341), 745–752.

- Peterson, B. K., Weber, J. N., Kay, E. H., Fisher, H. S., & Hoekstra, H. E. (2012). Double digest RADseq: An inexpensive method for de novo SNP discovery and genotyping in model and non-model species. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(5), e37135.
- Peterson, J. D., Steffen, J. E., Reinert, L. K., Cobine, P. A., Appel, A., Rollins-Smith, L., & Mendonça, M. T. (2013). Host stress response is important for the pathogenesis of the deadly amphibian disease, chytridiomycosis, in *Litoria caerulea*. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(4), 1–7.
- Peto, R., & Peto, J. (1972). Asymptotically efficient rank invariant test procedures. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series A (General)*, 135(2), 185–207.
- Petrovan, S. O., & Schmidt, B. R. (2016). Volunteer conservation action data reveals largescale and long-term negative population trends of a widespread amphibian, the common toad (*Bufo bufo*). *PLoS ONE*, *11*(10), 1–12.
- Piotrowski, J. S., Annis, S. L., & Longcore, J. E. (2004). Physiology of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*, a chytrid pathogen of amphibians. *Mycologia*, *96*(1), 9–15.
- Piovia-Scott, J., Pope, K., Joy Worth, S., Rosenblum, E. B., Poorten, T., Refsnider, J., ... Foley, J. (2015). Correlates of virulence in a frog-killing fungal pathogen: evidence from a California amphibian decline. *The ISME Journal*, 9(7), 1570–1578.
- Porras-Hurtado, L., Ruiz, Y., Santos, C., Phillips, C., Carracedo, Á., & Lareu, M. (2013). An overview of STRUCTURE: applications, parameter settings, and supporting software. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *4*, 98.
- Pounds, J. A., Fogden, M. P. L., Savage, J. M., & Gorman, G. C. (1997). Test of null models for amphibian declines on a tropical mountain. *Conservation Biology*, *11*(6), 1307–1322.
- Previtali, M. A., Ostfeld, R. S., Keesing, F., Jolles, A. E., Hanselmann, R., & Martin, L. B. (2012).
 Relationship between pace of life and immune responses in wild rodents. *Oikos*, *121*(9), 1483–1492.
- Price, S. J., Garner, T. W. J., Balloux, F., Ruis, C., Paszkiewicz, K. H., Moore, K., & Griffiths, A.G. F. (2015). A *de novo* assembly of the common frog (*Rana temporaria*) transcriptome

and comparison of transcription following exposure to *Ranavirus* and *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Plos One*, *10*(6), e0130500.

- Pritchard, J. K., Stephens, M., & Donnelly, P. (2000). Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. *Genetics*, *155*(2), 945–959.
- R Core Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Retrieved from https://www.r-project.org/
- Rachowicz, L. J., Hero, J. M., Alford, R. A., Taylor, J. W., Morgan, J. A. T., Vredenburg, V. T., ...
 Briggs, C. J. (2005). The novel and endemic pathogen hypotheses: Competing
 explanations for the origin of emerging infectious diseases of wildlife. *Conservation Biology*, 19(5), 1441–1448.
- Rachowicz, L. J., Knapp, R. A., Morgan, J. A. T., Stice, M. J., Vredenburg, V. T., Parker, J. M., & Briggs, C. J. (2006). Emerging infectious disease as a proximate cause of amphibian mass mortality. *Ecology*, *87*(7), 1671–1683.
- Rachowicz, L. J., & Vredenburg, V. T. (2004). Transmission of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* within and between amphibian life stages. *Diseases Of Aquatic Organisms*, *61*(1–2), 75–83.
- Raup, D. M., & Sepkoski, J. J. (1982). Mass extinctions in the marine fossil record. *Science*, 215(4539), 1501–1503.
- Reading, C. J. (1991). The relationship between body length, age and sexual maturity in the common toad, *Bufo bufo*. *Ecography*, 14(4), 245–249.
- Reading, C. J. (2007). Linking global warming to amphibian declines through its effects on female body condition and survivorship. *Oecologia*, *151*(1), 125–131.
- Reading, C. J., Loman, J., & Madsen, T. (1991). Breeding pond fidelity in the common toad, Bufo bufo. Journal of Zoology, 225(2), 201–211.
- Recuero, E., Canestrelli, D., Vörös, J., Szabó, K., Poyarkov, N. A., Arntzen, J. W., ... Martínez-Solano, I. (2012). Multilocus species tree analyses resolve the radiation of the widespread *Bufo bufo* species group (Anura, Bufonidae). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 62(1), 71–86.

- Reed, D. H. (2010). Albatrosses, eagles and newts, Oh My!: Exceptions to the prevailing paradigm concerning genetic diversity and population viability? *Animal Conservation*, 13(5), 448–457.
- Reed, D. H., & Frankham, R. (2003). Correlation between fitness and genetic diversity. *Conservation Biology*, *17*(1), 230–237.
- Reeder, N. M. M., Pessier, A. P., & Vredenburg, V. T. (2012). A reservoir species for the emerging amphibian pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* thrives in a landscape decimated by disease. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(3), 1–7.
- Retallick, R. W. R., McCallum, H., & Speare, R. (2004). Endemic infection of the amphibian chytrid fungus in a frog community post-decline. *PLoS Biology*, *2*(11), e351.
- Retallick, R. W. R., & Miera, V. (2007). Strain differences in the amphibian chytrid
 Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis and non-permanent, sub-lethal effects of infection.
 Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 75(3), 201–207.
- Richmond, J. Q., Savage, A. E., Zamudio, K. R., & Rosenblum, E. B. (2009). Toward immunogenetic studies of amphibian chytridiomycosis: Linking innate and acquired immunity. *BioScience*, *59*(4), 311–320.
- Richter-Boix, A., Llorente, G. A., & Montori, A. (2006). Effects of phenotypic plasticity on post-metamorphic traits during pre-metamorphic stages in the anuran *Pelodytes punctatus*. *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, *8*(2), 309–320.
- Rijks, J. M., Hoffman, J. I., Kuiken, T., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., & Amos, W. (2008).
 Heterozygosity and lungworm burden in harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*). *Heredity*, *100*(6), 587–593.
- Rochette, N. C., & Catchen, J. M. (2017). Deriving genotypes from RAD-seq short-read data using Stacks. *Nature Protocols*, *12*(12), 2640–2659.
- Rodriguez, D., Becker, C. G., Pupin, N. C., Haddad, C. F. B., & Zamudio, K. R. (2014). Longterm endemism of two highly divergent lineages of the amphibian-killing fungus in the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(4), 774–787.

Roeder, A., Kirschning, C. J., Rupec, R. A., Schaller, M., Weindl, G., & Korting, H. C. (2004).

Toll-like receptors as key mediators in innate antifungal immunity. *Medical Mycology*, *42*(6), 485–498.

- Rogell, B., Thörngren, H., Palm, S., Laurila, A., & Höglund, J. (2010). Genetic structure in peripheral populations of the natterjack toad, *Bufo calamita*, as revealed by AFLP. *Conservation Genetics*, 11(1), 173–181.
- Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2009). The role of amphibian antimicrobial peptides in protection of amphibians from pathogens linked to global amphibian declines. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes*, *1788*(8), 1593–1599.
- Rollins-Smith, L. A., Carey, C., Longcore, J., Doersam, J. K., Boutte, A., Bruzgal, J. E., & Conlon, J. M. (2002). Activity of antimicrobial skin peptides from ranid frogs against
 Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis, the chytrid fungus associated with global amphibian declines. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *26*(5), 471–479.
- Rollins-Smith, L. A., Woodhams, D. C., Reinert, L. K., Vredenburg, V. T., Briggs, C. J., Nielsen,
 P. F., & Michael Conlon, J. (2006). Antimicrobial peptide defenses of the mountain yellow-legged frog (*Rana muscosa*). *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 30(9), 831–842.
- Rosenberg, N. A. (2004). DISTRUCT: A program for the graphical display of population structure. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, *4*(1), 137–138.
- Rosenblum, E. B., Poorten, T. J., Settles, M., & Murdoch, G. K. (2012). Only skin deep: Shared genetic response to the deadly chytrid fungus in susceptible frog species. *Molecular Ecology*, *21*(13), 3110–3120.
- Rosenblum, E. B., Poorten, T. J., Settles, M., Murdoch, G. K., Robert, J., Maddox, N., & Eisen,
 M. B. (2009). Genome-wide transcriptional response of *Silurana (Xenopus) tropicalis* to infection with the deadly chytrid fungus. *PLoS ONE*, *4*(8), e6494.
- Rosenblum, E. B., Stajich, J. E., Maddox, N., & Eisen, M. B. (2008). Global gene expression profiles for life stages of the deadly amphibian pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, 105(44), 17034–17039.

Roth, S., & Jehle, R. (2016). High genetic diversity of common toad (*Bufo bufo*) populations

under strong natural fragmentation on a Northern archipelago. *Ecology and Evolution*, *6*(6), 1626–1636.

- Rousset, F. (1997). Genetic differentiation and estimation of gene flow from F-statistics under isolation by distance. *Genetics*, *145*(4), 1219–1228.
- Rousset, F. (2008). GENEPOP'007: A complete re-implementation of the GENEPOP software for Windows and Linux. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *8*(1), 103–106.
- Rowe, G., & Beebee, T. J. C. (2004). Reconciling genetic and demographic estimators of effective population size in the anuran amphibian *Bufo calamita*. *Conservation Genetics*, 5(3), 287–298.
- Rowe, G., Beebee, T. J. C., & Burke, T. (1999). Microsatellite heterozygosity, fitness and demography in natterjack toads Bufo calamita. *Animal Conservation*, *2*(2), 85–92.
- Rowley, J. J. L., & Alford, R. A. (2007). Behaviour of Australian rainforest stream frogs may affect the transmission of chytridiomycosis. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 77(1), 1–9.
- Ruggeri, J., de Carvalho-e-Silva, S. P., James, T. Y., & Toledo, L. F. (2018). Amphibian chytrid infection is influenced by rainfall seasonality and water availability. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *127*(2), 107–115.
- Ryan, M. J., Lips, K. R., & Eichholz, M. W. (2008). Decline and extirpation of an endangered Panamanian stream frog population (*Craugastor punctariolus*) due to an outbreak of chytridiomycosis. *Biological Conservation*, 141(6), 1636–1647.
- Sala, O. E., Chapin, F. S., Armesto, J. J., Berlow, E., Bloomfield, J., Dirzo, R., ... others. (2000). Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. *Science*, *287*(5459), 1770–1774.
- Sandoval-Castillo, J., Robinson, N. A., Hart, A. M., Strain, L. W. S., & Beheregaray, L. B. (2018). Seascape genomics reveals adaptive divergence in a connected and commercially important mollusc, the greenlip abalone (*Haliotis laevigata*), along a longitudinal environmental gradient. *Molecular Ecology*, 27(7), 1603–1620.
- Santure, A. W., & Garant, D. (2018). Wild GWAS—association mapping in natural populations. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *18*(4), 729–738.

Sapsford, S. J., Alford, R. A., & Schwarzkopf, L. (2013). Elevation, temperature, and aquatic

connectivity all influence the infection dynamics of the amphibian chytrid fungus in adult frogs. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(12), e82425.

- Sarre, S. D., & Georges, A. (2009). Genetics in conservation and wildlife management: a revolution since Caughley. *Wildlife Research*, *36*(1), 70–80.
- Savage, A. E., Becker, C. G., & Zamudio, K. R. (2015). Linking genetic and environmental factors in amphibian disease risk. *Evolutionary Applications*, *8*(6), 560–572.
- Savage, A. E., & Zamudio, K. R. (2011). MHC genotypes associate with resistance to a frogkilling fungus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108(40), 16705–16710.
- Savage, A. E., & Zamudio, K. R. (2016). Adaptive tolerance to a pathogenic fungus drives major histocompatibility complex evolution in natural amphibian populations. *Proc. R. Soc. B*, 283(1827), 20153115.
- Schloegel, L. M., Toledo, L. F., Longcore, J. E., Greenspan, S. E., Vieira, C. A., Lee, M., ... James,
 T. Y. (2012). Novel, panzootic and hybrid genotypes of amphibian chytridiomycosis associated with the bullfrog trade. *Molecular Ecology*, *21*(21), 5162–5177.
- Schoenfeld, D. (1982). Partial residuals for the proportionnal hazards regression model. *Biometrika*, 69(1), 239–241.
- Schulte, P., Alegret, L., Arenillas, I., Arz, J. A., Barton, P. J., Bown, P. R., ... Willumsen, P. S. (2010). The chicxulub asteroid impact and mass extinction at the cretaceous-paleogene boundary. *Science*, *327*(5970), 1214–1218.
- Scribner, K. T., Arntzen, J. W., & Burke, T. (1997). Effective number of breeding adults in *Bufo* bufo estimated from age-specific variation at minisatellite loci. *Molecular Ecology*, 6(8), 701–712.
- Searle, C. L., Gervasi, S. S., Hua, J., Hammond, J. I., Relyea, R. A., Olson, D. H., & Blaustein, A.
 R. (2011). Differential host susceptibility to *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*, an emerging amphibian pathogen. *Conservation Biology*, 25(5), 965–974.
- Selkoe, K. A., & Toonen, R. J. (2006). Microsatellites for ecologists: A practical guide to using and evaluating microsatellite markers. *Ecology Letters*, *9*(5), 615–629.

- Seppä, P., & Laurila, A. (1999). Genetic structure of island populations of the anurans *Rana temporaria* and *Bufo bufo*. *Heredity*, *82*(3), 309–317.
- Shafer, A. B. A., Peart, C. R., Tusso, S., Maayan, I., Brelsford, A., Wheat, C. W., & Wolf, J. B. W.
 (2017). Bioinformatic processing of RAD-seq data dramatically impacts downstream
 population genetic inference. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8(8), 907–917.
- Shapard, E. J., Moss, A. S., & San Francisco, M. J. (2012). Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis can infect and cause mortality in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Mycopathologia, 173(2–3), 121–126.
- Sinsch, U. (1990). Migration and orientation in anuran amphibians. *Ethology Ecology and Evolution*, 2(1), 65–79.
- Skerratt, L. F., Berger, L., Speare, R., Cashins, S., McDonald, K. R., Phillott, A. D., ... Kenyon, N. (2007). Spread of chytridiomycosis has caused the rapid global decline and extinction of frogs. *EcoHealth*, 4(2), 125–134.
- Smith, J. M. (2014). A review of avian probiotics. *Journal of Avian Medicine and Surgery*, *28*(2), 87–94.
- Sonn, J. M., Berman, S., & Richards-Zawacki, C. L. (2017). The influence of temperature on chytridiomycosis *in vivo*. *EcoHealth*, *14*(4), 1–9.
- Soto-Azat, C., Clarke, B. T., Poynton, J. C., & Cunningham, A. A. (2010). Widespread historical presence of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in African pipid frogs. *Diversity and Distributions*, *16*(1), 126–131.
- Spielman, D., Brook, B. W., Briscoe, D. A., & Frankham, R. (2004). Does inbreeding and loss of genetic diversity decrease disease resistance? *Conservation Genetics*, *5*(4), 439–448.
- Spitzen-van der Sluijs, A., Canessa, S., Martel, A., & Pasmans, F. (2017). Fragile coexistence of a global chytrid pathogen with amphibian populations is mediated by environment and demography. *Proc. R. Soc. B*, *284*(1864), 20171444.
- Stuart, S. N., Chanson, J. S., Cox, N. a, Young, B. E., Rodrigues, A. S. L., Fischman, D. L., & Waller, R. W. (2004). Status and trends of amphibian declines and extinctions worldwide. *Science*, *306*(5702), 1783–1786.

- Sunderland, T., Sunderland-Groves, J., Shanley, P., & Campbell, B. (2009). Bridging the gap: How can information access and exchange between conservation biologists and field practitioners be improved for better conservation outcomes? *Biotropica*, *41*(5), 549– 554.
- Sutcliffe, O. E., Dowdeswell, J. A., Whittington, R. J., Theron, J. N., & Craig, J. (2000).
 Calibrating the Late Ordovician glaciation and mass extinction by the eccentricity cycles of Earth's orbit. *Geology*, 28(11), 967–970.
- Swindell, W. R., & Bouzat, J. L. (2006a). Ancestral inbreeding reduces the magnitude of inbreeding depression in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evolution*, *60*(4), 762–767.
- Swindell, W. R., & Bouzat, J. L. (2006b). Reduced inbreeding depression due to historical inbreeding in *Drosophila melanogaster*: Evidence for purging. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 19(4), 1257–1264.
- Szulkin, M., Bierne, N., & David, P. (2010). Heterozygosity-fitness correlations: A time for reappraisal. *Evolution*, *64*(5), 1202–1217.
- Takahata, N., & Nei, M. (1990). Allelic genealogy under overdominant and frequencydependent selection and polymorphism of major histocompatibility complex loci. *Genetics*, 124(4), 967–978.
- Talley, B. L., Muletz, C. R., Vredenburg, V. T., Fleischer, R. C., & Lips, K. R. (2015). A century of Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis in Illinois amphibians (1888-1989). Biological Conservation, 182, 254–261.
- Taylor, A. C., Sherwin, W. B., & Wayne, R. K. (1994). Genetic variation of microsatellite loci in a bottlenecked species: the northern hairy-nosed wombat *Lasiorhinus krefftii*. *Molecular Ecology*, 3(4), 277–290.
- Teacher, A. G. F., Garner, T. W. J., & Nichols, R. a. (2009). Evidence for directional selection at a novel major histocompatibility class I marker in wild common frogs (*Rana temporaria*) exposed to a viral pathogen (*Ranavirus*). *PLoS ONE*, 4(2), 1–6.
- Termignoni-García, F., Jaramillo-Correa, J. P., Chablé-Santos, J., Liu, M., Shultz, A. J., Edwards,
 S. V., & Escalante-Pliego, P. (2017). Genomic footprints of adaptation in a cooperatively
 breeding tropical bird across a vegetation gradient. *Molecular Ecology*, 26(17), 4483–

- Therneau, T. (2015). A Package for Survival Analysis in S. v.2.38. Retrieved from https://cran.r-project.org/package=survival
- Trujillo, T., & Arntzen, J. W. (2017). Morphological and molecular data to describe a hybrid population of the common toad (*Bufo bufo*) and the spined toad (*Bufo spinosus*) in western France. *Contributions to Zoology*, *86*(1), 1–10.
- Truong, H. T., Ramos, A. M., Yalcin, F., de Ruiter, M., van der Poel, H. J. A., Huvenaars, K. H.
 J., ... van Eijk, M. J. T. (2012). Sequence-based genotyping for marker discovery and codominant scoring in germplasm and populations. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), e37565.
- Venesky, M. D., Kerby, J. L., Storfer, A., & Parris, M. J. (2011). Can differences in host behavior drive patterns of disease prevalence in tadpoles? *PLoS ONE*, *6*(9), e24991.
- Venesky, M. D., Parris, M. J., & Storfer, A. (2009). Impacts of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* infection on tadpole foraging performance. *EcoHealth*, *6*(4), 565–575.
- Viney, M. E., Riley, E. M., & Buchanan, K. L. (2005). Optimal immune responses: Immunocompetence revisited. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *20*(12), 665–669.
- Vinogradov, A. E. (1998). Genome size and GC-percent in vertebrates as determined by flow cytometry: The triangular relationship. *Cytometry*, *31*(2), 100–109.
- Visscher, P. M., Wray, N. R., Zhang, Q., Sklar, P., McCarthy, M. I., Brown, M. A., & Yang, J. (2017). 10 Years of GWAS Discovery: Biology, Function, and Translation. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 101(1), 5–22.
- Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., Lee, T. van de, Hornes, M., ... others. (1995).
 AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 23(21), 4407–4414.
- Voyles, J., Berger, L., Young, S., Speare, R., Webb, R., Warner, J., ... Skerratt, L. F. (2007). Electrolyte depletion and osmotic imbalance in amphibians with chytridiomycosis. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 77(2), 113–118.
- Voyles, J., Young, S., Berger, L., Campbell, C., Voyles, W. F., Dinudom, A., ... Speare, R. (2009). Pathogenesis of chytridiomycosis, a cause of catastrophic amphibian declines. *Science*,

326(5952), 582–585.

- Vredenburg, V. T., Bingham, R., Knapp, R., Morgan, J. A. T., Moritz, C., & Wake, D. (2007).
 Concordant molecular and phenotypic data delineate new taxonomy and conservation priorities for the endangered mountain yellow-legged frog. *Journal of Zoology*, 271(4), 361–374.
- Vredenburg, V. T., Briggs, C. J., & Harris, R. N. (2011). Host-pathogen dynamics of amphibian chytridiomycosis: the role of the skin microbiome in health and disease. In L. Olson, E. Choffnes, D. Relman, & L. Pray (Eds.), *Fungal Diseases: An Emerging Threat to Human, Animal, and Plant Health* (pp. 342–355). National Academy Press, Washington D.C., USA.
- Vredenburg, V. T., Knapp, R. A., Tunstall, T. S., & Briggs, C. J. (2010). Dynamics of an emerging disease drive large-scale amphibian population extinctions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(21), 9689–9694.
- Wagland, B. M., Steel, J. W., Windon, R. G., & Dineen, J. K. (1984). The response of lambs to vaccination and challenge with *Trichostrongylus colubriformis*: Effect of plane of nutrition on, and the inter-relationship between, immunological responsiveness and resistance. *International Journal for Parasitology*, 14(1), 39–44.
- Wagner, N., Neubeck, C., Guicking, D., Finke, L., Wittich, M., Weising, K., ... Veith, M. (2017).
 No evidence for effects of infection with the amphibian chytrid fungus on populations of yellow-bellied toads. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *123*(1), 55–65.
- Wake, D. B., & Vredenburg, V. T. (2008). Are we in the midst of the sixth mass extinction? A view from the world of amphibians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(Supplement 1), 11466–11473.
- Walke, J. B., Becker, M. H., Loftus, S. C., House, L. L., Teotonio, T. L., Minbiole, K. P. C., &
 Belden, L. K. (2015). Community structure and function of amphibian skin microbes: An experiment with bullfrogs exposed to a chytrid fungus. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(10), e0139848.
- Walker, S. F., Bosch, J., Gomez, V., Garner, T. W. J., Cunningham, A. a., Schmeller, D. S., ...
 Fisher, M. C. (2010). Factors driving pathogenicity vs. prevalence of amphibian panzootic chytridiomycosis in Iberia. *Ecology Letters*, *13*(3), 372–382.

- Walker, S. F., Bosch, J., James, T. Y., Litvintseva, A. P., Oliver Valls, J. A., Piña, S., ... Fisher, M.
 C. (2008). Invasive pathogens threaten species recovery programs. *Current Biology*, *18*(18), 853–854.
- Wang, I. J., Glor, R. E., & Losos, J. B. (2013). Quantifying the roles of ecology and geography in spatial genetic divergence. *Ecology Letters*, *16*(2), 175–182.
- Wang, S., Zhu, W., Gao, X., Li, X., Yan, S., Liu, X., ... Li, Y. (2014). Population size and time since island isolation determine genetic diversity loss in insular frog populations. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(3), 637–648.
- Ward-Fear, G., Brown, G. P., & Shine, R. (2010). Factors affecting the vulnerability of cane toads (*Bufo marinus*) to predation by ants. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 99(4), 738–751.
- Weldon, C., Du Preez, L. H., Hyatt, A. D., Muller, R., & Speare, R. (2004a). Origin of the amphibian chytrid fungus. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *10*(12), 2100–2105.
- Weldon, C., Preez, L. H., Hyatt, A. D., Muller, R., & Speare, R. (2004b). Origin of the amphibian chytrid fungus. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *10*(12), 2100–2105.
- Westemeier, R. L., Brawn, J. D., Simpson, S. A., Esker, T. L., Jansen, R. W., Walk, J. W., ... Paige, K. N. (1998). Tracking the long-term decline and recovery of an isolated population. *Science*, 282(5394), 1695–1698.
- White, C. R., Phillips, N. F., & Seymour, R. S. (2006). The scaling and temperature dependence of vertebrate metabolism. *Biology Letters*, *2*(1), 125–127.
- White, T. A., & Searle, J. B. (2007). Genetic diversity and population size: Island populations of the common shrew, *Sorex araneus*. *Molecular Ecology*, *16*(10), 2005–2016.
- White, T. A., & Searle, J. B. (2008). The colonization of Scottish islands by the common shrew, Sorex araneus (Eulipotyphia: Soricidae). Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 94(4), 797–808.
- Whiteman, N. K., Matson, K. D., Bollmer, J. L., & Parker, P. G. (2006). Disease ecology in the Galapagos Hawk (*Buteo galapagoensis*): host genetic diversity, parasite load and natural antibodies. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 273(1588), 797–804.

- Whitfield, S. M., Lips, K. R., & Donnelly. (2016). Amphibian decline and conservation in Central America. *Copeia*, *104*(2), 351–379.
- Wilkinson, J. W., Beebee, T. J. C., & Griffiths, R. A. (2007). Conservation genetics of an island toad: (*Bufo bufo*) in Jersey. *Herpetological Journal*, 17(3), 192–198.
- Willi, Y., Van Buskirk, J., & Hoffmann, A. A. (2006). Limits to the Adaptive Potential of Small Populations. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, *37*(1), 433–458.
- Wombwell, E. L., Garner, T. W. J., Cunningham, A. A., Quest, R., Pritchard, S., Rowcliffe, J. M.,
 & Griffiths, R. A. (2016). Detection of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in amphibians
 imported into the UK for the pet trade. *EcoHealth*, *13*(3), 456–466.
- Woodhams, D. C., Alford, R. A., Briggs, C. J., Johnson, M., & Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2008). Lifehistory trade-offs influence disease in changing climates: strategies of an amphibian pathogen. *Ecology*, 89(6), 1627–1639.
- Woodhams, D. C., Ardipradja, K., Alford, R. a., Marantelli, G., Reinert, L. K., & Rollins-Smith, L.
 a. (2007). Resistance to chytridiomycosis varies among amphibian species and is correlated with skin peptide defenses. *Animal Conservation*, *10*(4), 409–417.
- Woodhams, D. C., Bigler, L., & Marschang, R. (2012). Tolerance of fungal infection in European water frogs exposed to *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* after experimental reduction of innate immune defenses. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 8(1), 197.
- Woodhams, D. C., Brandt, H., Baumgartner, S., Kielgast, J., Kupfer, E., Tobler, U., ... McKenzie,
 V. (2014). Interacting symbionts and immunity in the amphibian skin mucosome predict disease risk and probiotic effectiveness. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(4), e96375.
- Woodhams, D. C., LaBumbard, B. C., Barnhart, K. L., Becker, M. H., Bletz, M. C., Escobar, L. A.,
 ... others. (2018). Prodigiosin, violacein, and volatile organic compounds produced by
 widespread cutaneous bacteria of amphibians can inhibit two *Batrachochytrium* fungal
 pathogens. *Microbial Ecology*, 75(4), 1049–1062.
- Woodhams, D. C., Rollins-Smith, L. A., Carey, C., Reinert, L., Tyler, M. J., & Alford, R. A.
 (2006). Population trends associated with skin peptide defenses against chytridiomycosis in Australian frogs. *Oecologia*, *146*(4), 531–540.

- Wright, B., Willet, C. E., Hamede, R., Jones, M., Belov, K., & Wade, C. M. (2017). Variants in the host genome may inhibit tumour growth in devil facial tumours: Evidence from genome-wide association. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 423.
- Wu, N. C., Cramp, R. L., & Franklin, C. E. (2018). Body size influences energetic and osmoregulatory costs in frogs infected with *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 3739.
- WWF. (2018). *Living Planet Report 2018: Aiming Higher*. (M. Grooten & R. E. A. Almond, Eds.). WWF, Gland, Switzerland.
- Xie, G. Y., Olson, D. H., & Blaustein, A. R. (2016). Projecting the global distribution of the emerging amphibian fungal pathogen, *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*, based on IPCC climate futures. *PLoS ONE*, 11(8), 1–21.
- Yang, J., Benyamin, B., McEvoy, B. P., Gordon, S., Henders, A. K., Nyholt, D. R., ... others.
 (2010). Common SNPs explain a large proportion of the heritability for human height. *Nature Genetics*, 42(7), 565–569.
- Yang, R. C. (2000). Zygotic associations and multilocus statistics a nonequilibrium diploid population. *Genetics*, *155*(3), 1449–1458.
- Yap, T. A., Koo, M. S., Ambrose, R. F., & Vredenburg, V. T. (2018). Introduced bullfrog facilitates pathogen invasion in the western United States. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(4), e0188384.
- Zhang, Z., Schwartz, S., Wagner, L., & Miller, W. (2000). A greedy algorithm for aligning DNA Sequences. *Journal of Computational Biology*, 7(1–2), 203–214.